







GENDER AND CLIMATE-RELATED MIGRATION IN JORDAN AND SUDAN:

Building Women's Economic and Social Resilience to Climate Risk and Migration for Survival within Sustainable Development

FULL REPORT

GENDER AND CLIMATE-RELATED MIGRATION IN JORDAN AND SUDAN:

BUILDING WOMEN'S ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESILIENCE TO CLIMATE RISK AND MIGRATION FOR SURVIVAL WITHIN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

THE ARAB WATER COUNCIL (AWC) AND THE UNITED NATIONS ENTITY FOR GENDER EQUALITY AND THE EMPOWERMENT OF WOMEN (UN WOMEN)



SEPTEMBER 2023

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Arab Water Council and UN Women acknowledge the contributions of all national experts, stakeholders and institutions in Jordan and Sudan in preparing this publication, without whom this work would not have been possible. Special thanks to the Swedish International Development Co-operation (SIDA) for funding this research and the SDG Climate Change Facility and the United Nations Development Program (UNDP) for their support to this initiative.

Grateful Acknowledgement to:

Dr. Jean D'Cunha, Senior Global Advisor on International Migration and Decent Work, UN Women, for authoring the publication

Dr. Amel M. Azab, Water Resources Management & Capacity Development Expert, SDG Climate Facility Project Coordinator, AWC Technical Department, Arab Water Council (AWC), for continuous support and contribution

Dr. Martina Jaskolski, UNDP Climate Consultant, Arab Water Council (AWC), for continuous support and contribution

Ms. Menatallah Salama, Programme Analyst, Empowering Migrant Women Workers and Work for Women Joint Programme, United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women), for research assistance and formatting

Ms. Yara El Nagdi, Program Officer Climate Change and Water Economics, Children & Youth Network Coordinator, Arab Water Council (AWC), for research assistance and formatting

Eng. Hossam Gebril, ICT Developer, Arab Water Council (AWC), for layout and design, and production coordination

Ms. Menna Ghonaim, Communication Officer, Arab Water Council (AWC), for layout and design, and production co-ordination

Citation: D'Cunha, J. (2023). Gender and climate-related migration in Jordan and Sudan: Building women's economic and social resilience to climate risk and migration for survival within sustainable development. Arab Water Council & UN Women.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	I
TABLE OF CONTENTS	II
LIST OF TABLES	111
ACRONYMS	IV
GLOSSARY	VI
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	IX
Context	IX
Recommendations for Action	XII
INTRODUCTION	1
Locating climate risk-resilience and the relationship with migration within sustainable development	1
Different and unequal vulnerabilities of populations to climate hazards and impacts: A case for gender	2
Literature review for selected site	2
Focus, approach and significance of the publications	3
Choice of sites, hazard-types and sector	4
Methodology	4
I. CLIMATE CHANGE AND HAZARD TRENDS IN THE TWO SITES: TOPOGRAPHY AND CLIMATE AS DRIVERS	6
II. THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL DRIVERS OF CLIMATE HAZARDS IN THE SELECTED SITES	8
Rural poverty and unsustainable rural production, consumption and distribution	9
III. THE CLIMATE-MIGRATION-DEVELOPMENT LINK: EVIDENCE AND ANALYSIS FROM THE TWO SITES	12
Urban population growth in Jordan and Sudan: structurally-induced rural-urban migration, and refugee/ migrant influx	12
Scarce resources and resulting impacts in urban host-sites	14
The discourse on climate risk, related hazards and migration	15
IV. GENDERED STRUCTURAL DRIVERS OF VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE RISKS AND IMPACTS, INCLUDING MIGRATION	18
Gendered structural drivers of mortality and casualties for women and children in disasters	18
Gendered structural vulnerabilities (and capacities) related to climate risks and impacts in the agricultural sector: Women's role and position in normal and crisis times	19
The gendered dimensions of women's unpaid care work in normal times and crisis	26
The gender-based drivers and impacts of water, energy and food insecurity on women and girls	28

Gender-based gaps in education in normal times and climate crises	36
Violence Against Women and Girls in Normal Times and Climate Crises, Including Community Clashes	36
Gendered Drivers and Impacts of Women's Migration in 'Normal' Times and in Climate Crises	37
Gendered Dimensions of Governance and Leadership in Normal Times and Climate Crisis	44
V. STRUCTURALLY-DETERMINED GENDER-BASED CAPACITIES	49
Women's coping and longer-term adaptation strategies	49
VI. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ACTION	51
REFERENCES	55
ANNEX: LIST OF KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEWS	73

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	The Gini Index	8
Table 2:	The Human Development Index (HDI) by country, 2021	8
Table 3:	Proportion of Females and Males in Total Population in 2021	18
Table 4:	Labor Force Participation, Employment and Unemployment Rates for Females and Males in Jordan and Sudan (% of female and male populations respectively, ages 15+, modeled ILO estimate, International Labor Organization) ILOSTAT Database	20
Table 5:	Employment in agriculture for females (% of female employment) and males (% of male employment) in Jordan and Sudan (modeled ILO estimate)	21
Table 6:	Number and percentage of female and male emigrants out of total emigrants, mid-year 2020	38

ACRONYMS

AWCArab Water CouncilCAQACentre of Accreditation and Quality AssuranceCBJCentral Bank of JordanCBOCommunity-based OrganizationCPPCyclone Preparedness ProgramCVAWCombating Violence Against Women Unit, Government of SudanDOSDepartment of StatisticsDRRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsCGFCender Ernollment RateGCGAGodend Capi IndexGISGeoler Inrollment RateGGGCovernment of SudanGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHDNHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDRHuman Development IndexHDRInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational OrganizationHDRInternational Committee of Human DevelopmentIRCRInternational CongnizationIDMCInternational OrganizationIDMCInternational OrganizationIDMCInternational OrganizationIDAInternational OrganizationIDAInternational Organization for MigrationIFADInternational Organization for MigrationIFADInternational Co-operation AgencyIFADInternational Co-operation AgencyIFAD	ARDD	Arab Renaissance for Democracy and Development
CBJCentral Bank of JordanCBOCommunity-based OrganizationCFPCyclone Preparedness ProgramCVAWCombating Violence Against Women Unit, Government of SudanDOSDepartment of StatisticsDRRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGolad Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Cender Gap IndexGISGovernment of SudanGIZGevernment of SudanHDNHugna Development IndexHDNHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDRHuman Development IndexHDRHuman Development IndexHDRInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational CorganizationIDMCInternational CorganizationIDMCInternational CorganizationIDMCInternational Organization for MigrationIPCLInternational Organization for MigrationIPCLInternational Organization for MigrationIPCLInternational Co-operation of NatureJDMJordanian DinarJJCAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	AWC	Arab Water Council
CR0Community-based OrganizationCPPCyclone Preparedness ProgramCVAWCombating Violence Against Women Unit, Government of SudanDOSDepartment of StatisticsDRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGGAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGobal Gender Gap IndexGISGovernment of SudanHDNJeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDIHuman Development IndexHDIHuman Development Monitoring CentreIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational CorganizationIDMCInternational CorganizationIPAInternational Pund for Agricultural DevelopmentILCInternational Organization for MigrationIPCInternational Organization of NatureIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJJCAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	CAQA	Centre of Accreditation and Quality Assurance
CPPCyclone Preparedness ProgramCVAWCombating Violence Against Women Unit, Government of SudanDOSDepartment of StatisticsDRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGCGAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGolobal Gender Gap IndexGIGender Inequality IndexGIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHHDHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDLHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexHDInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternational Labor OrganizationIDMCThe International OrganizationIPVInternational Organization of NatureIPVInternational Organization of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	СВЈ	Central Bank of Jordan
CVAWCombating Violence Against Women Unit, Government of SudanDOSDepartment of StatisticsDRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGCGAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGIGender Inequality IndexGIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHHDHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development Monitoring CentreIDPInternational CorganizationIDMCThe Internal Displace PersonIFADInternational OrganizationIDMThe International Organization of NatureIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPCInternational Organization of NatureIDMJordanian DinarIJCAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	СВО	Community-based Organization
DOSDepartment of StatisticsDRRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPCross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGGAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGIGender Inequality IndexGIGovernment of SudanHDNHuman Development IndexHDNHuman Development IndexHDInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational CongnizationIDMCInternational CongnizationIDMCInternational CongnizationIDMInternational CongnizationIDMThe International OrganizationIDMThe International Index Aspected PersonIFADInternational CongnizationIDMThe International Inder Africultural DevelopmentIDMThe International Inder Africultural DevelopmentIDMThe International Inder Africultural DevelopmentIDMInternational Inder Conservation of NatureIDMInternational Inder Conservation of NatureIDMInternational Union for Conservation of Nature <t< th=""><th>СРР</th><th>Cyclone Preparedness Program</th></t<>	СРР	Cyclone Preparedness Program
PRRDisaster Risk ReductionEM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGGIGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGobal Gender Gap IndexGIGender Inequality IndexGIGovernment of SudanHDNHuman Development IndexHDNHuman Development IndexHDNInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational CongnizationIDMCInternational CongnizationIDMInternational CongnizationIDMThe International CongnizationIDMThe International OrganizationIDMInternational Inder Africultural DevelopmentIDMInternational Inder Agricultural DevelopmentIDMThe International Inder Africultural DevelopmentIDMInternational Inder Agricultural DevelopmentIDMThe International Inder Agricultural DevelopmentIDMInternational Inder Agricultural DevelopmentIDMInternational Inder Agricultural DevelopmentIDMInternational Inder OrganizationIDMInternational Infor Conservation of NatureIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureIDAJordanian DinarIDAJordanian Dinar <tr <td="">IDMIn</tr>	CVAW	Combating Violence Against Women Unit, Government of Sudan
EM-DATThe Emergency Events DatabaseESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGISGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexHDInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational CorganizationIDMInternational CorganizationIDMInternational CorganizationIDMThe International OrganizationIDMInternational Organization for MigrationIPCInternational Organization of NatureIDMInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJDJordanian DinarJDJordan Meteorological Department	DOS	Department of Statistics
ESCWAUnited Nations Economic and Social Commission for West AsiaFAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGobal Gender Gap IndexGISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHDNHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development Nonitoring CentreIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational Labor OrganizationIDMCInternational ConganizationIDMInternational Organization for MigrationIPC1International Organization for MigrationIPC2International Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJJCAJordanian DinarJJCAJordanian DinarJJCAJordan Meteorological Department	DRR	Disaster Risk Reduction
FAOFood and Agriculture Organization of the United NationsFGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGIGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHDIHugh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDIInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational Splaced PersonIFADInternational Labor OrganizationIOMInternational Congenization for MigrationIPVInternational Punel for Conservation of NatureIJCAJordanian DinarJJCAJordanian DinarJJCAJordan Meteorological Department	EM-DAT	The Emergency Events Database
FGDsFocus Group DiscussionsGCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGIsGeo-information Science TechnologiesGISender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHDNHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexHDInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDMCInternational Labor OrganizationIDMInternational CorganizationIPVInternational Organization of NatureIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJJCAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Dinar	ESCWA	United Nations Economic and Social Commission for West Asia
GCFGreen Climate FundGDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational CorganizationIDMCInternational CorganizationIPAInternational CorganizationIPAInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDAJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GDPGross Domestic ProductGERGender Enrollment RateGGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGCIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDPInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDPInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDPInternational OrganizationIPAThe International Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordanian Dinar	FGDs	Focus Group Discussions
GERGender Enrollment RateGCCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDPInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDPInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDPInternational CorganizationIPCInternational Congenization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GCF	Green Climate Fund
GGCAGlobal Climate Change AllianceGGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternal Displaced PersonILOInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDMInternational OrganizationIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GGGIGlobal Gender Gap IndexGISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIGAInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDOInternational CorganizationIPCInternational Organization for MigrationIPCInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GER	Gender Enrollment Rate
GISGeo-information Science TechnologiesGIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexHDInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCInternal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GGCA	Global Climate Change Alliance
GIIGender Inequality IndexGIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman Development IndexIDMCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternal Displaced PersonIFADInternational Labor OrganizationIOMThe International Organization for MigrationIPCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GGGI	Global Gender Gap Index
GIZDeutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbHGOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman DevelopmentICRCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIRADInternational Labor OrganizationIOMThe International Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Commental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GIS	Geo-information Science Technologies
GOSGovernment of SudanHCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman DevelopmentICRCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentIDOInternational Labor OrganizationIDMThe International Organization for MigrationIPCCInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GII	Gender Inequality Index
HCNERHigh Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of SudanHDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman DevelopmentICRCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational CorganizationIPCCInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization of NatureIDNJordanian DinarJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH
HDIHuman Development IndexHDHuman DevelopmentICRCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	GOS	Government of Sudan
HDHuman DevelopmentICRCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIDMCInternational Corganization for MigrationIPCCInternational Organization for MigrationIPVInternational Organization for Agricultural DevelopmentJDInternational Organization for MigrationIUCNInternational Organization for Agricultural DevelopmentJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	HCNER	High Council for Environment and Natural Resources, Republic of Sudan
ICRCInternational Committee of the Red CrossIDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIDMCInternational Corganization for MigrationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	HDI	Human Development Index
IDMCThe Internal Displacement Monitoring CentreIDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIDMCThe International Organization for MigrationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	HD	Human Development
IDPInternally Displaced PersonIFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIOMThe International Organization for MigrationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	ICRC	International Committee of the Red Cross
IFADInternational Fund for Agricultural DevelopmentILOInternational Labor OrganizationIOMThe International Organization for MigrationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IDMC	The Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre
ILOInternational Labor OrganizationIOMThe International Organization for MigrationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IDP	Internally Displaced Person
IOMThe International Organization for MigrationIPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IFAD	International Fund for Agricultural Development
IPCCIntergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	ILO	International Labor Organization
IPVIntimate Partner ViolenceIUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IOM	The International Organization for Migration
IUCNInternational Union for Conservation of NatureJDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
JDJordanian DinarJICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IPV	Intimate Partner Violence
JICAJapan International Co-operation AgencyJMDJordan Meteorological Department	IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
JMD Jordan Meteorological Department	D	Jordanian Dinar
	JICA	Japan International Co-operation Agency
JNCCP Jordan's National Climate Change Policy	JWD	Jordan Meteorological Department
	JNCCP	Jordan's National Climate Change Policy

JOHUD	Jordan Hashemite Fund for Human Development
кіі	Key Informant Interview
LPG	Liquefied Petroleum Gas
MEMR	Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources
ммр	Mixed Migration Platform
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
MoEnv, Jordan	Ministry of Environment, Jordan
MWRE	Ministry of Water Resources and Electricity
MWI	Ministry of Water and Irrigation, Jordan
NARC	National Agricultural Research Center
ND-GAIN	Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative
NERC	National Energy Research Centre
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
PDNRA	Post Disaster Needs Rapid Assessment
RCCC	Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway
SGBV	Sexual and Gender-based Violence
SNNP	Southern Nations, Nationalities, and Peoples' Region
ТNН	The New Humanitarian
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNDRR	United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNESCWA	United Nations Economic and Social Commission for West Asia
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund for Women
UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
UN-Habitat	United Nations Human Settlements Programme
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
UNIDO	United Nations Industrial Development Organization
UNISDR	UN Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR)
UN-REDD	United Nations Collaborative Programme on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries
UNWRA	The United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near East
UN Women	The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women
USAID	The United States Agency for International Development
WASH	Water and Sanitation
WFP	World Food Programme
WRM	Water Resource Management
WWPC	Wise Women Plumber Co-operative



GLOSSARY

Gender Gap Index: examines the gap between men and women in four fundamental categories (subindexes): economic participation and opportunity, educational attainment, health and survival and political empowerment and 14 different related indicators. The Index considers recent data available for a minimum of 12 indicators out of the 14 that comprise the index.¹

Gini Index: measures the extent to which income or consumption distribution among individuals/ households in an economy deviate from a perfectly equal distribution. The coefficient ranges from 0 (0%) to 1 (100%), with 0 and 1 representing perfect equality and inequality, respectively. A higher Gini index shows greater inequality, with high-income individuals receiving much larger percentages of total income of the population.²

Gender Inequality Index: is a composite metric of gender inequality using three dimensions: reproductive health, empowerment and the labor market. A low GII value indicates low inequality between women and men, and vice-versa. A maximum of 1 denotes complete inequality.³

- 1 World Economic Forum. (2021). *Global gender gap report*. <u>https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GGGR_2021.pdf</u> rum.org/docs/WEF_GGGR_2021.pdf
- 2 Hayes, A. (2022, August 5). *Gini Index*. The Investopedia Express Podcast. <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/gini-index.asp</u>
- 3 UNDP. (n.d). Gender inequality index (GII). <u>https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/thematic-composite-indices/gender-inequality-index#/in-</u> dicies/GII

Human Development Index: The HDI value is determined by combining a country's scores in a vast and wide-ranging assortment of indicators including life expectancy, literacy rate, rural populations> access to electricity, GDP per capita, exports and imports, homicide rate, multidimensional poverty index, income inequality, internet availability etc. These indicators are compiled into a single number between 0 and 1.0. 1.0 is the highest possible human development. HDI is divided into four tiers: very high HD (0.8-1.0), high HD (0.7-0.79), medium HD (0.55-.70), and low HD (below 0.55).⁴

Migrant Worker: The International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, 1990 defines «migrant worker» as a person who is to be engaged, is engaged or has been engaged in a remunerated activity in a State of which he or she is not a national.⁵

Migration: There is no universally accepted definition of migration. This paper defines "migration" as "movement away from one's place of usual residence, whether within a country or across national borders, temporarily or permanently, and for a variety of reasons. The term includes a number of well-defined legal categories of people, such as migrant workers; persons whose particular types of movements are legally defined, such as smuggled migrants; as well as those whose status or means of movement are not specifically defined under international law, such as international students."⁶

Multidimensional poverty captures deprivations on multiple aspects - resources, opportunities and choice, power and voice, and human security. It complements monetary measures of poverty based on income and consumption by considering these multiple deprivations and their overlap and provides us with a more comprehensive understanding of poverty.⁷

World Population Review. (2022a). Human development index by country 2022, <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/</u> hdi-by-country

⁵ The International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, 1990. <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/international-convention-protection-rights-all-migrant-workers</u>

⁶ IOM. (2022). Who is a migrant? <u>https://www.iom.int/who-is-a-migrant.</u>

This definition is adapted from and draws on the following sources: OECD. (2021). Understanding the multidimensional nature of poverty https://www.oecd.org/development-cooperation-learning/practices/understanding-the-multidimensional-nature-of-poverty-o59d28ba/; World Bank. (2018c). Multidimensional Poverty Measure (4th edition, circa 2018), World Bank, Washington, DC. 2022. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/brief/multidimensional-poverty-measure; Sida. (2017). Dimensions of Poverty: Sida's Conceptual Framework, https://publikationer.sida.se/contentassets/f3e3ob6727e8450887950edb891c05af/mdp_conceptual_framework.pdf; Development Strategy and Policy Analysis Unit. (2015). Development Policy and Analysis Division Department of Economic and Social Affairs Multidimensional Poverty Development Issues No. 3. 21 October 2015. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/wess/wess_dev_issues/dsp_policy_03.pdf

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CONTEXT

Jordan and Sudan are climate hotspots. Climate change and topography combine with socio-economicpolitical processes to increase vulnerability to droughts and floods in both sites, with increasing frequency, magnitude, severity and adverse societal impacts. Key socio-economic vulnerabilities to climate risks and hazards include multi-dimensional inequality and rural/urban poverty; unsustainable rural development including increasing environmental degradation and reliance on climate sensitive agriculture; unsustainable urban planning and development; high population growth and density; ruralurban migration and the influx of migrants and refugees from neighboring countries. This strains already scarce resources, their distribution and use, and feeds the vicious cycle of vulnerability to climate crisis and its impacts.

Gender considerations: systemic vulnerabilities, impacts and capacities in climate crisis

Women contribute less to GHG emissions than men, in their socially prescribed traditional roles as small-scale subsistence farmers, landless workers, small livestock raisers, natural resource managers, unpaid care givers, and consumers of less emissions-intensive goods and services. But pervasive gender inequalities, location at the lower ends of agricultural and other value chains, and deprivation from material/non-material assets and benefits⁸, wreak disproportionate climate impacts on women relative to men. Gender interacts with other inequalities to differentiate impacts among women as well.

- 1. Data on deaths and casualties was not sex-disaggregated in Jordan and Sudan, raising the need for it. Data from elsewhere showed worse impacts on women, due also to the nature of hazard and context. Key inhibitors to survival included poor knowledge and access to early warnings to women closeted at home; warning dissemination in formats unsuited to women, especially those with audio/visual disabilities; gendered cultural factors that limit mobility and physical activity that could enhance survival; and that restrict interaction and hence evacuation with non-familial men. The worst impacted were women with young children and dependents, especially female headed households (FHHs), women who were pregnant, older, ill or had disabilities. They lacked evacuation assistance. Shelters did not address their access needs and other priorities.
- 2. The economic impacts were disproportionate on women with the smallest asset bases. Out of 180,000 badly hit people in Jordan's 1999-2000 drought, the worst impacted were small women farmers in climate-sensitive rainfed farming who lost nutritious cereals and food crops, women landless laborers who lost daily wage jobs and small women herders, highly reliant on drought-affected rangelands who lost animals. They could not afford even state subsidized feed, access water or veterinary services for animals. FHHs especially those with big families and fragile members were worst impacted. Sudan's 2020 floods badly hit more women (51 percent vs 49 percent men) out of about 900,000 people in all 18 states, but mainly the very poor. Per early assessments about 252,000 (42 percent) FH farming/pastoral households were badly hit. Women lost cereal and horticultural crops, livestock, seeds, farm inputs, equipment, water and livestock infrastructure, fishing tools and aquaculture farms. Their small and micro enterprises were badly affected. Poor daily wage earners lost work.
- **3.** Women's heavier unpaid care work relative to men increases in the worsened context of climate crises to cope and recover.

⁸ This includes land, livestock, production technologies, agricultural inputs, infrastructure, finance, markets, training and extension services, time, leadership and representation

- 4. Women's greater water insecurity in both sites typically manifests in their poorer access than men to irrigated agriculture, or in damage to irrigation systems or other forms of water infrastructure during Sudan's floods reduced yields and incomes. In rural Jordan poor FHHs lack access to water that is provided by tankers once in two weeks and is collected and distributed by men in a context of to sex-segregation. Poor FHHs are often unable to afford water or storage tanks thus diminishing their access to it. Women's responsibility to manage in-house water scarcity increases their stress as they and the household are on high alert, with all plans on hold on water distribution days in Jordan. In both sites, scarcity and unclean water compromised personal hygiene especially for menstruating females. It led girls to drop out of school especially in Jordan, and triggered health and safety concerns that were also female-specific, age or maternity related. Pregnant women risked complications delivering in water-scarce insanitary conditions. Ill-health increased women's unpaid care work as they nursed ailing family members in the context of disrupted and limited medical services.
- 5. Energy insecurity has specific impacts on women especially in crisis. Although Jordan has near countrywide electrification, energy insecurity affects many households and public infrastructure in remote areas that are unconnected to or under-served by the grid. Rising temperatures and heatwaves, lack of access to water and electricity for cooling and drinking cause women (men), children, the elderly and others heat stress. This increases women's unpaid care work and stress and depletes their health. Sudan's floods destroyed stored fuel and reduced access to it. Foraging for fuel afar compromised women's time, health and security. No power in homes, worksites, and service institutions elevated safety and security concerns, caused women income losses, disrupted schooling, increased health risks especially for pregnant women, infants, children, the ill, and survivors of violence.
- 6. Food insecurity disproportionately affects poor women, poor FHHs and other groups of excluded women. FHHs are 62 percent more likely to experience food insecurity than MHHs in Jordan. In Sudan's floods this was 44 percent for FHHs versus 33 percent for MHHs. Poor women farmers, herders, landless women laborers, pregnant and nursing women whose special nutritional needs were unmet; women from migrant/refugee households, older women, women with disabilities and chronic ailments who often could access food relief were also at risk. Women skipped meals, had lower dietary diversity, poor nutrition and experienced food insecurity in drought and floods more palpably. Anaemia worsens for women during droughts, especially for poor women and FHHs who make financial decisions about food groups, work longer hours and must find alternative food (often not nutritious) or alternative ways to access nutritious food.
- **7.** Education levels in Jordan are high for boys and girls at over 95 percent. Per Sudan's 2016-2017 data, the gross enrollment rate for boys and girls in compulsory basic education was 73 percent (boys 75 percent vs girls 71 percent). 265.1 thousand and 183.9 thousand households with male and female children respectively, dropped out of school due to damage and shutdowns in Sudan's floods, increased debts due to borrowing for fees, loss of children's education equipment, and withdrawal of girls for unpaid care work and boys for paid work.
- **8.** Violence against women and girls increases in climate crises. Jordan's acute water scarcity often increases family tensions and intimate partner violence against women. Over 1 million women risked violence in Sudan's 2020 floods, an increase of over 70 percent from before. About 206,000 women of reproductive age in temporary flood shelters were at increased risk. Women and girls reported rape while collecting fuel, water and food. Child marriage reportedly increased. Despite high protection needs, support services for violence were absent in over 90 per cent of the country.
- **9. Migration** in Jordan and Sudan driven by climate and related development deficits suggest that women's migratory patterns (time frames, geographical boundaries, mode of movement independent/facilitated, route/transport, accompaniment/single or whether they stayed behind in home sites while males migrate) depend on the nature of hazards, ability to survive and recover;

social and legal restrictions on mobility, concerns in moving with children, risks en route or in host sites; care responsibilities; need to protect surviving assets; cultural ties with kin and village, land and livestock; age, ill-health, and disability, among others. Low-skilled rural-urban, seasonal/permanent migrant women whose migration is planned tend to be informally employed in unprotected as wage work or as self-employed workers in women-specific service, petty trade or manufacturing work. Such migration has contributed to growth of the informal urban economy in Sudan that has large numbers of poor, low-skilled women who work in or run subsistence/unofficial enterprises (food, garments, handicrafts). Sudanese women and girls also migrate to Egypt, other North African countries, or Europe with families or singly. Third parties often facilitate irregular movement that is risky. Women suffer sexual and other abuse enroute and in host sites. Per initial surveys on Sudan's 2020 floods, about 1.1 million households with women members, FHHs, IDPs, refugees and asylum seekers in acute poverty were temporarily relocated, had moved, or were planning to move permanently. FHHs were more likely to move (8 percent) than MHHs (2 percent) for work, although an equal proportion of MHHs and FHHs had already moved. Women had more limited settlement options, more financial concerns due to loss of small asset bases, jobs, and inability to find jobs and sustain families in new sites; low levels of privacy, safety and security due to woman-insensitive infrastructure in relocation sites and poor access to services due to damaged facilities and networks. Stay-behind women from richer Jordanian households with migrant spouses had workload increases, but the socio-economic benefits of steady remittances were clear. In rural Sudan they held up rural/household economies with workload and stress increases and were in precarious situations if remittances were not regular or they were re-hit by climate crises in male absence. Things worsened if male relatives went missing, died in dangerous irregular movement or if ransom money was demanded by traffickers with threats to security.

- **10. Decision-making:** Men hold cabinet portfolios on environment/climate, agriculture and migration in Jordan and Sudan. Women are 12 percent and 30.5 percent of Jordan's and Sudan's national parliaments, respectively. Both have climate policies/strategies that address women's vulnerability/ agency via climate action. But this must be integrated into all priority sectors; address priorities of different groups of women via their active representation; and needs better funding. Women are marginal to environmental decision-making in communities. They make routine household decisions, but control over cash, decisions on production, purchase of production inputs, consumer goods or major family needs are with men.
- **11.** Women's agency in normal times and crises is demonstrated as they bring their local knowledge, skills, leadership styles and networks to bear on coping, recovery and development. While immediate coping included positive and negative strategies such as sharing extended family and community resources, using remittances and/or accessing relief, selling assets/personal items, borrowing etc, women's adaptive action included roof planting, prevention of overgrazing, greywater re-use for agriculture, green poultry-rearing.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ACTION (See details under this section in the publication)

Climate, migration and development priorities of affected women must be integrated synergistically into policies, strategies and programs on climate mitigation and adaptation, labor migration, development and humanitarian response. This demands a whole of government and society approach that widens the stakeholder base across these thematic fields to ensure coherence and amplified impact. Women from these stakeholder groups and affected groups of women must be effectively represented at all stages of policy, strategy, program design and implementation, so that their practical and strategic climate and migration priorities are well addressed with engendered targets, indicators, budgets, monitoring/ evaluation, and accountability mechanisms. It is critical to invest in:

- 1. **Gender-responsive impact reviews** of climate crises, post-disaster needs assessments, response and recovery packages, migration and development policies and programs to guide investment priorities at scale for affected women, taking account of their intersecting inequalities.
- 2. Gender-responsive budgeting for target groups of women affected by climate risk
- **3.** Building women's resilience to climate-sensitive agriculture & to migration for survival by integrating their priorities into NDPs and climate and agricultural policies, strategies and programs. These should ensure research on the drivers and impacts of climate risks and hazards on agriculture, including migration for survival on affected women; enhanced productivity, wages, climate-resilience for women in agriculture via better access to assets, climate-sensitive information, infrastructure, finance, markets; support for green businesses for women and investments of savings and remittances in climate-resilient agriculture/businesses; ensure reduced care work including via renewable energy-driven technologies; undertake inclusive risk assessment, evacuation planning and assistance; ensure that shelters are suited to women's diverse needs; ensure women's participation in decision-making in 'normal' times and climate-crisis response and recovery; better access to holistic services, including SGBV and social norm change.
- 4. Empowering women in planned international migration via migration policies, strategies and programs that ensure comprehensive labor market data disaggregated by sex and other variables; pre-departure, onsite-return information on protection measures, including on climate crises in host and source sites; decent green jobs with robust enforcement and accountability mechanisms; job skills matching/mobility partnerships for low-skilled migrant women workers; more legal migration channels; social protection for poor migrant and local women in the informal economy or out of the labor market and child-care and other support services for children left behind; anti-violence law coverage/access to services for all migrant women; discriminatory social norm and behavior change; long term alternatives to detention; comprehensive reintegration of returnees in normal times and from climate-affected host countries. There is also need to ensure data generation and dissemination sharing on the impacts of climate crises on migrant women in host sites; inclusion of their priorities in preparedness and response plans in host sites based on non-discriminatory protection and humanitarian assistance.

- 5. Empowering women in planned/unplanned movement to urban sites via urban policies that ensure consultation with women (and men) who have moved in unplanned/planned ways to urban slums/ settlements on urban outskirts; inclusion of women from migrant/host communities in planning and implementing durable solutions; local integration with strong enforcement such as including formal/ informal settlements in urban development plans; provision of secure land/housing to women (men) residents in slums, shanties and urban outskirts, aligned with UN Guidelines on Internal Displacement and Forced Evictions; decent work; support to women's businesses; access to education, essential public good/services, care services for low-income groups of women; anti-violence law coverage with strong enforcement and comprehensive services for all women and girls, including access to justice in new sites and in affected home sites.
- 6. Engendering humanitarian response to women's unplanned movement & to 'stayers' in affected home sites per Sphere and Core Humanitarian Standards. This includes ensuring awareness on rules on spontaneous settlements/camps, aid distribution modalities; help in safe aid access and equitable intra-household resource-sharing; more women in humanitarian decision-making response and more women service providers; appropriate aid items, cash and decent work; better site security and infrastructure; comprehensive services, including for survivors of violence; engagement with men and boys on preventing SGBV, including through informal justice mechanisms; women's representation in management and decision-making in relocation sites and affected homesites; support to women leaders to identify the most vulnerable women's and girls' priorities to link them to relevant services and to catalyze community mitigation measures;

INTRODUCTION

LOCATING CLIMATE RISK-RESILIENCE AND THE RELATIONSHIP WITH MIGRATION WITHIN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

INTRODUCTION

LOCATING CLIMATE RISK-RESILIENCE AND THE RELATIONSHIP WITH MIGRATION WITHIN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT⁹

The Arab and African regions like others are caught in a quagmire of multiple, related crises - eroded ecosystems, climate change and extreme events, non-climate hazards, and conflict. These are huge threat multipliers to development. They destroy physical infrastructure, food, land, water, energy security, livelihoods, human and other life and are among the key drivers of mobility, especially among underserved communities.

The discourses on climate change and disasters originated in the 'scientifically neutral' climatological, meteorological, hydrological and geophysical sciences. Numerical models, geo-information science (GIS) technologies, computer visualizations of climate processes and extreme events dominated climate discussions. Disasters were deemed 'natural hazards.' Both discourses now also recognize the vital link between human action, climate risks and their different impacts on varied segments of communities, they also recognize the role of the social sciences, socio-economic-political processes and human action in reducing exposure, vulnerability and risk to climate hazards, and in augmenting climate resilience (Cohen et al.,1998; Kelman et al., 2016; UNISDR, 2002).

Anthropogenic discourses on climate change and vulnerability-resilience paradigms on disasters assert that planetary crises stem from unsustainable models of development (Commission on Climate Change and Development, 2009), as they prioritize production, consumption and distribution of goods and services for immediate economic gain over equitable distribution of resources, social and environmental sustainability and health and well-being (Adams & Luchsinger, 2009). This causes inequality, multi-dimensional poverty (OECD, 2015) and ecosystem depletion, thus creating the vicious cycle of vulnerability to climate risk and hazards. A key impact of climate risks and skewed development is migration. The Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 1990) noted that, 'the gravest effects of climate change may be those on human migration as millions are displaced by shoreline erosion, coastal flooding and severe drought (IOM, 2008). Since 2008, an average of 21.2 million people have been forced to move yearly by extreme weather events, the equivalent of 58,000 people daily, or 41 people per minute. These numbers exclude forced movement by slow on-set threats. (Trent, 2022). According to the World Bank, climate conditions are estimated to account for 10-20 percent of current migration flows in the Arab region, including rural to urban migration, and climate change is expected to further accelerate this (Wodon et al., 2014).

These discourses concur that sustainable development and climate-resilience is best secured through governance and accountability that combines growth with equality, and holistic development that builds socio-economic-environmental system resilience synergistically. This is achievable through action on mitigation and adaptation, sustainable financing, technology transfer, capacity-building, economic diversification, sustainable production, consumption and natural resource management (UNGA, 2015; United Nations, 2015). It is also achieved by centering the specific priorities of vulnerable people; using local resources and practices that preserve ecosystems; and enhancing community engagement and resilience (United Nations, 2015).

⁹

UNDRR. (2021). Vulnerabilities to and capacities in disaster risk reduction: addressing structural drivers, impacts on and empowerment of affected populations. In Regional Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction in the Arab Region. https://www.undrr.org/2021-region-al-assessment-report-arab-states

DIFFERENT AND UNEQUAL VULNERABILITIES OF POPULATIONS TO CLIMATE HAZARDS AND IMPACTS: A CASE FOR GENDER EQUALITY AND WOMEN'S RIGHTS

Different segments of the population are differently and unequally exposed to climate hazards and are likewise differently impacted. The structural drivers of vulnerability to climate risk, hazards, and impacts, including migration are not gender neutral. Unequal gender relations privilege men in most countries, rendering 'the climate risk and migration experience' different for women and men, with disproportionate negative impacts on women. But gender also interacts with women's other intersecting identities and forms of marginalization based on age, economic, ethnic, racial, and migration status, health and well-being and geographical location to create hierarchies not just between men and women, but also among women. These intersecting inequalities must be addressed. Moreover, women constitute about half the human population (United Nations, n.d.) and make a significant contribution to development. Addressing their priorities on climate risk and its impacts, including migration is not only aligned with key international and national human rights frameworks on these issues, but also helps achieve sustainable development.

LITERATURE REVIEW FOR SELECTED SITES

Situated conceptually and ideologically within the fore-going frame of reference, this publication focuses on Jordan, a low middle income country in West Asia, and Sudan a least developed country in Northeast Africa - both highly vulnerable to climate risks and impacts. Jordan is the fifth most water stressed country globally (Whitman, 2019) and Sudan ranks 174 out of 181 countries on the Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative (ND-GAIN) Index (RCCC-ICRC, 2021b).

A rapid literature review on climate change in Jordan and Sudan suggests the availability of government data and policies, and information and analysis generated by international organizations, academia, research institutions, think tanks, NGOs and CBOs on the following:

- Profiles, trajectories and broad impacts of climate change and extreme weather events (Government of the Netherlands, 2019; RCCC & ICRC, 2021a; RCCC & ICRC, 2021b; USAID, 2017; USAID, 2016a; World Bank, 2021a; World Bank, 2021b);
- Agricultural trends and policies (Omer, 2011; Soliman & Mashour, 2012; Tarawneh, 2021); the role of women in agriculture (Ahmed et al., 2012; Ibnouf, 2011; REACH & UN Women, 2018; UN Women, 2021, WANA Institute, 2021); impacts of climate variations on the agricultural sector and the agricultural population in general (Mohamed, 2022; Siddig et al., 2020; UN Women, 2018; Verner et al., 2013; World Bank, 2022b);
- Policies on climate change (Combaz, 2019; GIZ, 2015; HCNER, 2021; Ministry of Environment, Natural Resources, and Physical Development of Sudan, 2016; Ministry of Environment of Jordan, 2013, 2021a, 2021b; Ministry of Environment of Jordan and UNDP, 2022).
- Policies on climate change (Arabtech Jardaneh, 2020; Combaz, 2019; GIZ, 2015; HCNER, 2021; IUCN, 2010; Ministry of Environment, Natural Resources, and Physical Development of Sudan, 2016; Ministry of Environment of Jordan, 2013, 2021a, 2021b; Ministry of Environment of Jordan and UNDP, 2022).
- Migration (Babiker, 2010; ILO, 2020; Olwan, 2007; Saeed & Badri, 2010); movements of women and men migrants and refugees within, and into and out of Jordan and Sudan (IOM, 2011; Mixed Migration Platform, 2017; Sweidan, 2018). It is noted that there is much information on Jordan on conditions of entry, residence, work and stay in camps, urban settlements, and farms or in their vicinity especially of Syrian women (ILO, 2017; Tiltnes et al., 2019; UN Habitat, 2022)

However, less obvious are data and analyses in both countries on the gender-based structural drivers of vulnerability (and capacity) to climate risks and impacts including migration on different categories of women, including in the climate-sensitive agricultural sector. Climate policies and programs and related reviews seldom comprehensively address the vulnerabilities, impacts and resilience building of women, and more importantly of different groups of women, including migrant women to climate risks and hazards, Likewise, labor migration policies and programs seldom comprehensively address the migration and climate priorities of migrant women (including stay-behind women from migrant households), especially low wage migrant women workers to climate risks and hazards at different stages of migration. Moreover, these thematic agendas tend to be treated in silos in the first place whether in sectoral/ stakeholder engagement, or research and analysis, or in policy and program design and consequently in implementation – although this is gradually changing.

FOCUS, APPROACH AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PUBLICATION

Against this background, this publication entitled, "Gender and Climate-related Migration in Jordan and Sudan: Building Women's Economic and Social Resilience to Climate Risk and Migration for Survival within Sustainable Development," is framed within the sustainable development paradigm. It adopts a nexus approach that addresses the connectivity between climate variations and hazards and related population movements, thus also connecting development and humanitarian agendas. Central to the analysis is a transformational gender equality, and women's rights approach to resilience building that addresses women's other intersecting identities and forms of marginalization. This collectively constitutes the value-addition of the publication.

To this end, this paper concretely explores the gendered structural drivers of vulnerability to climate risk and its economic and social impacts on women, including migration for survival induced by climate variations and related development deficits. It focuses on underserved migrant women in Jordan and Sudan, and non-migrant Jordanian and Sudanese women nationals, including stay-behind Jordanian and Sudanese women nationals from migrant households in informal, vulnerable employment, taking account of their intersecting vulnerabilities.¹⁰ Drawing on existing good practice and the target groups of women's priorities in these sites, the publication suggests immediate and long-term structural measures to build their economic and social resilience to climate risks and impacts, including to migration for survival. It thus also argues for robust protections especially for low-income women, (men and children) who migrate due to climate risks and hazards and related development deficits, or may be impacted by climate hazards at other stages of labor migration. The recommendations address the links between these thematic agendas across disciplines and policy fields. They suggest the integration of climate, migration and development priorities of these women synergistically into climate mitigation/adaptation, labor migration, humanitarian and broader development policies and programs. This demands a whole of government and whole of society approach that widens the stakeholder base across these themes to ensure coherence and amplified impact.

10 Hereafter referred to the target groups of women

CHOICE OF SITES, HAZARD-TYPES AND SECTOR

As noted earlier, Jordan and Sudan are both highly vulnerable to climate risks and impacts . However, both governments are making determined efforts to combat the climate threat. For example, both have National Action Plans to address climate change (ESCWA, 2023), and both have received funding from the Green Climate Fund (GCF) to implement projects on climate resilience including community-based projects on adaptation and mitigation (Al Khayyat, 2021; Yassin, 2022). In its updated submission of its first Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC), Jordan's macroeconomic GHG emission reduction target has been increased from 14 per cent to 31 per cent, based on a \$7.5 billion action cost that includes only mitigation (Dahiyat, 2022). In 2020, the Sudanese government also launched its first-ever State of the Environment and Outlook report (Yassin, 2022) Moreover, there are a network of relatively active civil society and international organizations working on these issues in these countries. It is consequently possible to feature good practices from government, civil society and international organizations that can inform dialogue and action on workable solutions at scale. Further, the Arab Water Council (AWC) has government representation from Jordan and Sudan on its Board of Governors, and UN Women has country presence in both sites. Both organizations have strong engagement in these countries.

Although both sites have multiple hazards, the focus is on gendered vulnerabilities and impacts of water-related hazards in agriculture. This is underlined by the particular significance of agriculture to both Jordan and Sudan in different ways and the significance and impact of water-related hazards on the sector. Agriculture in both sites is highly dependent on natural elements such as precipitation and is hence highly exposed, sensitive and vulnerable to climate variations. While the proportion of Jordanian women engaged in agriculture is small, rural Jordanian women are among the poorest sections of the population and depend on agriculture and natural resources for a livelihood. Sudanese women have a sizeable presence in agriculture. Women in both sites make critical contributions to the agricultural sector, albeit at lower ends of value chains. They are hence more vulnerable than men to climate risks and impacts including related migration, and its impacts. They nevertheless deploy their local knowledge, practices, attributes, networks and leadership effectively to respond to crises, recovery, and longer term development. Addressing their priorities is a moral imperative but also achieves sustainable development.

METHODOLOGY

The paper is qualitative. It seeks to provide insights and highlight gender equality and women's rights considerations on the structural drivers of vulnerability (and capacity) related to climate risks and impacts, including migration for survival from a 'nexus' perspective. It does not seek to measure the scale of this impact on women. It thus draws primarily on secondary data and key informant interviews. This includes data and analysis on Jordan and Sudan from government, academia, research institutions, think tanks, media, national NGOs, CBOs and international organizations. This includes studies, reports, information on policies and programs, articles in journals, media reports, case studies. It is important to note that detailed reviews of climate and migration polices are not the focus of this publication, as the intent is to highlight the climate and related migration and development priorities of different categories of women for consideration in policies and programs, adopting a nexus approach.

This secondary data is backed by 30 key informant interviews with senior government officials across ministries and departments dealing with environment, water resources, agriculture, migration and women's empowerment (7), civil society organizations working on these issues (12), and with women and men farmers and community mobilizers (11). A major challenge to the pursuit of these was COVID-19 and the difficulty in pursuing face to face interviews. Online interviews were sometimes challenged by infrastructural capacities – power outages, and poor connectivity.

SECTION I. CLIMATE CHANGE AND HAZARD TRENDS IN THE TWO SITES: TOPOGRAPHY AND CLIMATE AS DRIVERS

I. CLIMATE CHANGE AND HAZARD TRENDS IN THE TWO SITES: TOPOGRAPHY AND CLIMATE AS DRIVERS

Jordan and Sudan are vulnerable to climate variations and hazards, especially extreme temperatures, droughts, storms and flash floods. This is especially pronounced in their agricultural sectors that depend hugely on natural elements. Climate variations and topography together with socio-economic-political processes have been augmenting vulnerability to hazards with rising frequency, magnitude, severity and adverse societal impacts.

Jordan (West Asia) which is located 80 kms to the East of the Mediterranean is dominated by arid deserts, the rift valley, highlands and plains. It has the world's lowest valley that lies North-South between two mountain ranges and between 170-400 meters below mean sea level. Its climate ranges from Mediterranean to desert climes (World Bank, 2021a). It is natural-resource scarce, with three quarters of its land covered by deserts (Ramirez et al, 2022). Jordan lies downstream of Israel and Syria who share water resources from the Yarmouk and Jordan Rivers. This complicates its scarce waterscape (Krampe, 2020).

Jordan receives only 50 millimeters of rain each year. Only nine other countries worldwide receive less rainfall than Jordan. Jordan has one of the lowest renewable water resources available per person in the world at less than 100 m3 per year (Ramirez et al, 2022) and ranks fifth among nations facing extreme water stress (Whitman, 2019). It is prone to droughts, heat waves and floods. The Jordan Meteorological Department's (JMD) data (MWI, 2018) shows droughts of record," including those that occurred in 1933, 1958-62, 1983-1984, 1998-2000, 2007-2009 and 2013-2014.

Jordan is however not a major emitter of GHGs and ranks 80¹² on the World Population Review's Global Ranking of Green House Gas Emissions for 140 countries for which 2019-2020 data was available (World Population Review, 2023). However, it will likely have a 2°C increase in its average annual temperatures by 2050 and variable rainfall with likely decrease of between 10-37 percent by 2099, although the intensity of rainfall will probably increase (Abdulla, 2020; USAID, 2017). By mid-century, most global climate models project more frequent heatwaves and fewer frost days (Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5 ensemble) (RCCC-ICRC, 2021a), more frequent and protracted droughts and intense water scarcity due to climate change (Hoerling et al., 2012).

Sudan (Northeast Africa) has a vast plain, and widely separated mountain chains and desert in the North, with desert to semi-desert climatic zones in the north, arid savannah in the east, west and south, seasonal rains in the center. Sudan too is not a major emitter of GHGs and ranks 87¹³ on the fore-mentioned World Population Review's Global Ranking of Green House Gas Emissions for the same period (World Population Review, 2023). Mean annual temperatures from 26- 32°C country-wide, often exceed 43°C in the north, and are likely to rise by 0.5-3°C by 2050 (USAID, 2016a). Sudan ranks 174 out of 181 countries in the Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative (ND-GAIN) Index, showing high vulnerability to climate risks and other concerns, and low readiness to improve resilience. (RCCC-ICRC, 2021b). Between 1990-2014, floods that constituted 73 percent of all disasters, and droughts that ranked second and comprised 15 percent of all disasters in the same period, increased in frequency (World Bank, 2021b), and the frequent occurrence of both continues.

¹¹ This is defined as having annual Standardized Precipitation Index values below (-1)

¹² At rank 80, Jordan emits 22.80 MT of CO2 (2019) and 2.3 tons of CO2 per capita (2019)

¹³ At rank 87, Sudan emits 18.50 MT of CO2 (2019) and 0.4 tons of CO2 per capita (2019), in comparison to China the highest emitter at 9,876.50 MT and 7.1 tons per capita for the same period

SECTION II. THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL DRIVERS OF CLIMATE HAZARDS IN THE SELECTED SITES

II. THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL DRIVERS OF CLIMATE HAZARDS IN THE SELECTED SITES

Development processes in these sites converge with fore-mentioned topographic, and climate profiles, including climate variations to increase vulnerability to climate risks, hazards and impacts. Key socioeconomic vulnerabilities include high population growth and density (that strain scarce existing resources), multi-dimensional inequality and poverty, a lack of sustainable rural and urban development, and reliance on climate-sensitive agriculture, especially among the poor.

According to World Bank data in 2021, Jordan had a population of 10,269,022 people (World Bank, 2021e), with an annual population growth rate of 0.6 percent (World Bank, 2021g). Its current population density at 127/km2 places it 92nd globally. Jordan's population is expected to peak at 14.15 million people in 2080, after which it will gradually decline (World Population Review, 2022b). Per 2021 World Bank data, Sudan had a population of 44,909,351 in 2021 (World Bank, 2021e), with an annual population growth rate of 2.4% (World Bank, 2021g). At this rate, Sudan's population will likely reach 100 million by 2064, adding over 1 million people to the population annually (World Population Review, 2022c).

Per Table 1, both Jordan and Sudan had low levels of economic inequality with Gini indexes at 33.7 and 34.2 percent respectively per 2010 and 2014 data respectively.

Most Recent Year	Most Recent Value
2010	33.7
2014	34.2
	2010

TABLE 1: THE GINI INDEX

SOURCE: ADAPTED FROM © WORLD BANK, 2022A.

Per Table 2, Jordan ranks high at 102 out of 186 countries rated on the 2021 Human Development Index (HDI). Sudan ranks 171 on the same index, with a low HDI rating (UNDP, 2022). Low HD levels caused by a lack of sustainable development and governance deficits create greater vulnerability to climate risks and impacts which further accentuate vulnerabilities.

TABLE 2: THE HUMAN DEVELOPMENT INDEX (HDI) BY COUNTRY, 2021

Country	HDI 2021	HDI tier
Jordan	0.720	High
Sudan	0.508	Low

SOURCE: ADAPTED FROM © UNDP, 2022.

Jordan is now reclassified as a lower middle-income country (World Bank, 2017a). About 14.4 percent of the population live in poverty, and the bulk of the bottom 40 percent is exposed to the risk of transient and seasonal poverty (World Bank, 2016a). Inequality in multidimensional poverty between the highest and lowest wealth quintiles in Jordan is acute, suggesting a huge gap in access to resources and capabilities between rich and poor households. Households in the bottom quintile are 24 times more likely to be poor than those in the top quintile (ESCWA, 2018).

According to the National Baseline Household Budget Survey 2014-2015 in Sudan,¹⁴ global poverty prevalence in Sudan was 36.1 percent. Further, 25 percent of Sudan's population is below the extreme poverty line. The poorest states are Southern kordofan, Western Darfur and Central Darfur, where two in three people are poor (Letsara & Jmal, 2018).

A sample of 11,953 households was surveyed during the three rounds of data collection across Sudan's 18 states. A household was designated as poor if its consumption fell below the poverty line set at 5,110 Sudanese Pounds (SDG) per capita per year in urban areas, and 4,044 SDG in rural areas.

RURAL POVERTY AND UNSUSTAINABLE RURAL PRODUCTION, CONSUMPTION AND DISTRIBUTION

In both countries, most of the poor live in the climate-sensitive agricultural sector where poverty rates are higher than in urban areas. Primary agriculture contributes about 4 percent to Jordan's GDP, although agricultural contribution rises to 25-30 percent of the GDP when indirect contributions (food sector) are accounted for (World Bank, 2018d). About 20-25 percent of Jordan's active population depend on the agricultural sector, which employs many women and refugees (MoEnv, 2020). There are about 102,000 farming households in Jordan, of which 85 percent have less than 20 dunams (2ha), inhibiting industrialization and integration in the agri-food industry. 25 percent of farmers are herders. Less than 20 percent of farming households are involved in formal financial markets (DOS, 2018). 40 percent of households in Jordan's agriculture sector are considered poor (MoEnv, 2020). 17 percent of rural Jordanians live below the poverty line, compared to a national average of 14.4 percent (World Bank, 2018b). Most of the rural poor live in areas with low investment in industrial and services activities and are reliant on agricultural activities for an income (MoEnv, 2020).

Agriculture is a source of livelihood for about 65 percent of the Sudanese population, but 80 percent of Sudan's poor live in rural areas where poverty is twice more than in urban sites. This is estimated to be 58 percent of households in rural areas compared to 27 percent of households in urban areas. The crop and livestock sector account for approximately 30-35 percent of Sudan's GDP and 80 percent of non-oil exports (World Bank, 2016 b).

Agricultural policy, legal frameworks and strategies, land tenure systems, redistribution of assets/benefits, land use, taxation systems and trade enablers, productivity growth, natural resource management and resilience to climate risk are inadequate in both sites. Investments to improve research, infrastructure, production technologies, inputs, marketing systems, natural resource management, human capacities and access to resources including finance demand greater attention. Poverty, knowledge and governance gaps tend to lead to maladaptive practices that erode ecosystems, natural resource and economic security, thus increasing climate risk and vulnerability (Bataineh & Zecca, 2017; Charles et al., 2019, Maghoub, 2014; MoEnv, 2020; World Bank, 2016a, World Bank, 2018b; Ramirez et al., 2022;).

In Jordan, for instance, unclear land tenure policies and land fragmentation complicate land use governance and agricultural development planning. It restricts economies of scale and profitability, and accentuates environmental degradation and soil erosion, creating a vicious cycle of deprivation, vulnerability to climate risks and impacts, and further deprivation (MoEnv, 2020). Despite its relatively smaller contribution to GDP, agriculture demands the largest share of water (52 percent), mainly overexploited groundwater, which is contaminated by the overuse of fertilizers and pesticides (MoEnv, 2020). Moreover, extracted groundwater needs huge amounts of energy for pumping because of falling water table levels. Only 30 percent of the agricultural land is irrigated, but represents 90 percent of the agricultural production. (Ramirez et al, 2022). Water-scarcity increases food insecurity and 87 percent of food is imported. Jordan relies on fossil fuel imports (mainly oil and natural gas) that covered about 93 percent of the domestic demand in 2018 (Ramirez et al., 2022), although the country is becoming a leader on renewable energy in the MENA region (Carey, 2019). According to a 2004 World Bank study, the cost of overall environmental degradation was about 3 percent of GDP annually (205 million JD), of which the cost of land degradation and high soil salinity was about 0.6 percent of GDP. The government's National Strategy and Action Plan to Combat Desertification identified 'land mismanagement (human factors) and climate change as the primary drivers of desertification in Jordan.' Decades of prolonged overgrazing have substantially reduced the value of rangelands, as their carrying capacity has decreased by up to

70 percent since the 1970s. Only about 1 percent of Jordan is classified as forested, with natural forest constituting 0.44 percent of the total land area (MoEnv, 2020).

Agriculture which is central to Sudan's economy suffers serious and chronic environmental challenges, including land degradation, riverbank erosion, invasive species, pesticide mismanagement in large irrigation schemes, and water pollution. Inadequately managed mechanized rainfed agriculture, which covers about 6.5 million hectares has led to large-scale forest clearance, loss of wildlife and severe land degradation. A huge growth in livestock numbers – from 28.6 million in 1961 to 134.6 million in 2004 – has caused widespread degradation of the rangelands. Between 1990 and 2005, Sudan lost about 8,835,000 hectares or 11.6 percent of its forest cover – largely because of energy needs and agricultural clearance. Finally, inadequate rural land tenure, is an underlying cause of many environmental problems and a hurdle to sustainable land use, as farmers have little incentive to invest in and protect natural resources (UNEP, 2007). Agricultural output levels of Sudanese farmers and large state-owned schemes are less than optimal due to recurrent drought, land degradation, inadequate irrigation infrastructure, inconsistent agricultural policies and climate fluctuations (Mahgoub, 2014). Agriculture uses about 97 percent of the country's water that is often diverted to mechanized farms and intensive cultivation by rural farmers, contributing to aridity (Barton & Writer, 2012).

Irrigated agriculture is largely concentrated in the centre of the country and there is a disparity in development indicators between the best and worst performing regions. Most Sudanese are food insecure, especially internally displaced persons (IDPs) and those in conflict-affected regions such as Darfur, Kordofan and others (Mahgoub, 2014). In drought-prone, arid/semi-arid parts of Sudan, pastoralists settle near water points because range resources are shrinking. This results in the over-exploitation of water points. It changes nomadic grazing patterns and contributes to conflict between farmers and pastoralists (UNDP, 2018). While environmental factors are intrinsically connected to other socio-economic, political issues, contestations over rangeland and rain-fed agricultural land in more arid parts of Sudan are an example of the link between natural resource scarcity and its contribution to conflict. Likewise, conflict-related resource exploitation, lack of good governance and underinvestment in sustainable development further deplete the environment contributing to climate risk (UNEP, 2007).

70 percent of Sudanese people are considered forest-dependent, although official accounts of the contribution of forestry to Sudan's GDP are underestimated (UN-REDD, 2014). Studies note that despite Sudan's Forest Management Policies of 1986 to develop and conserve forest resources through public participation in afforestation and sustainable forest management, there is continuous deforestation and degradation of forests. Key drivers in the Tozi and Wad Al-Bashir forests, for instance, are livestock grazing and conversion of forestland to farmlands, respectively. This is underlined by poor Implementation of forest policy and poor land tenure systems (Gadallah, 2018).

Quite evidently topography, geopolitical location, climate conditions combine with unsustainable rural production, consumption and distribution to exacerbate environmental degradation, decrease agricultural yields that decrease farmers' incomes and food insecurity. This increases costs of food, basic services and production (Carry, 2019, Maghoub, 2014) and reinforces the vicious cycle of poverty and exacerbates climate risk and vulnerability to climate crises.

SECTION III.

THE CLIMATE-MIGRATION-DEVELOPMENT LINK: EVIDENCE AND ANALYSIS FROM THE TWO SITES

III. THE CLIMATE-MIGRATION-DEVELOPMENT LINK: EVIDENCE AND ANALYSIS FROM THE TWO SITES

URBAN POPULATION GROWTH IN JORDAN AND SUDAN: STRUCTURALLY-INDUCED RURAL-URBAN MIGRATION, AND REFUGEE/MIGRANT INFLUX

The annual average urban population growth rate as a proportion of the total population (2021) in Jordan and Sudan is 0.9 percent and 3.3 percent respectively (World Bank, 2021). Jordan's cities host 91.6 percent of its overall population (Urbanet, 2021). Jordan's population is highly concentrated in the northern governorates of Amman, Irbid, Zarqa, and Marfaq (UN Habitat, 2022). In 2021, 35.59 percent of Sudan's total population lived in urban areas and cities (Statista, 2022). Metropolitan Khartoum is one of the most populated cities on the African continent reported to host about 19 percent of the total population of Sudan (Ille & Steel, 2021).

Both Jordan and Sudan have natural population growth. But Jordan's urban population growth is largely caused by rural-urban migration, and a steady influx of refugees from conflict affected neighboring countries in the region (David & Nilsson, 2021). As noted earlier, rural planning, development and governance deficits in Jordan create a vicious cycle of deprivation and environmental degradation leading to climate vulnerability and its impacts and further deprivation (MoEnv, 2020). In Jordan, it is projected that "the occurrence of frequent droughts and adverse impacts of climate variations will increase rural-urban migration, with about 15 percent of the country's farmers leaving their lands or shifting their use from agriculture to other uses" (Hagood, 2020). While water is usually available less than once every two weeks in rural areas, with reduced frequency during the summer, it is available once a week in urban areas (UNICEF, n.d.).

Confirming the above, women (and men) farmers note:

"Weather and climate changes are a big reason for migration. My husband and his brother used to plant more than 10 agricultural donum. I now plant 1 donum. We cannot grow some crops anymore because they need more water and clean water. Our crop levels have reduced or we lost them because of less water, frost, salt in water and soil, less minerals in soil, heavy wind which carries insects and they destroy our crops and cultivated land. Also, the prices of products we use on our land is very high. Workers' per day wages have increased to 2 dinars for a man and one and a half or one and quarter for a woman. So, we have big financial losses"(Interview with Fatima Muhammad Lotfi Al-Hayagna, 2021).

"Agricultural migration started at a small rate, and later it spread. From our farmers' point of view, migration is better than losses and debts that we cannot pay, so they started selling agricultural lands and moved to live in other areas. The agricultural decline is clear from many things like poor seeds or rotten seeds that are not good for cultivation, in addition to the scarcity of water after sending water from the King Abdullah Canal to the King Talal Dam. The water was previously 24 hours, now only 4 hours, and this forced farmers to reduce percentage of cultivated areas. Farmers could cultivate 20 agricultural dunums of zucchini crop, and now because of the winds and frosts, the crop is permanently destroyed" (Interview with Samira Mahmoud Karim Al-Diyat, 2021). "Many farmers have left the Jordan Valley and migrated to other governorates looking for jobs and a better life for their families. Agriculture is no longer what it used to be. Now we see a lot of weather fluctuations and crop failure. We don't get the price for our crops and farmers get no compensation. Farm work now exposes farmers now have alot of legal cases against them because of piling up debts. Many farmers are now wanted by the courts because of checks signed without balance. So, leaving the agricultural profession now is a great blessing for them, to protect the same farmers from new debts, which they will not be able to pay. I have left farming but stay in the valley, but all are looking for employment" (Interview with Ahmed Hussein Al-Gharaghir, 2021).

Between 2004-2015, refugee and migrant influx from neighboring countries into Jordan was responsible for an average rate of population growth of 5.3 percent (Fanack, 2020). About 85 per cent of registered refugees in Jordan live outside camps (Townson, 2016), primarily in urban areas such as Amman, Mafraq and Irbid (Wilson & Caswell, 2018). UNHCR's 2017 year-end data estimates that there are about 691,000 Syrians in Jordan. Others place this closer to 1.3 million (International Rescue Committee, 2018). Syria's protracted drought (2006-2010) also led men to migrate as agricultural and construction workers to Jordan and Lebanon (UN-OCHA, 2009). Jordan also hosts nearly 80,000 refugees from Iraq, Sudan, Somalia, and Yemen, and about 2.2 million Palestinian refugees who are registered with UNRWA (Wilson & Caswell, 2018). While large numbers of Somalis, Sudanese and Yemenis are registered with UNHCR in Jordan, there many more outside the international protection system. It is pertinent to note mixed migration flows of Somali, Sudanese and Yemeni populations to Jordan, underlined by complex interacting 'drive and draw' forces, a mix of motives and multiple migratory routes. Conflict, poverty and/or natural disasters have driven some of these populations from countries of origin, followed by displacement from a third country for the same or similar reasons. Others have migrated for medical reasons, employment or travel and have found themselves displaced, because conflict has cut off routes of return or the viability and safety of heading home (MMP, 2017).

Sudan's urban population growth has largely been because of rural-urban migration. In Sudan climate events from 2008-2021 drove about 1.9 million people (IDMC, 2021), many to cities like Khartoum and its outskirts. In Darfur and its vicinity, for instance, drought has driven nomadic pastoralists attached to land and livestock to migrate in search of water and fodder or to move finally to cities for jobs (McLeman & Smit, 2006), with aggravated vulnerability if they had inadequate education and skills (Osman-Elasha, 2008). Flooding can and has also driven migration in Sudan, but such movement tends to be temporary, as communities are often willing to rebuild after flooding events (Quinn et al., 2019). But climate is not the sole driver of migration in Sudan. While at certain points it is a palpable driver, it interacts with other related development factors, and conflict to drive Sudanese migration to cities or overseas.

Structural changes in economic sectors such as the growing significance of Jordan's industrial sector whose indirect contribution to GDP is about 40 percent (Jordan Investment Commission, 2019); centralized urban investments and services; large-scale real estate and development projects along the Nile especially in the case of Khartoum during the oil-boom between 2000-10 (Ille & Steel, 2021) lead to better employment and education opportunities in urban cities in these countries. The search for jobs and better living standards in the Jordanian cities of Amman, Zaqar, Irbid or Khartoum in Sudan, away from degraded rural ecosystems, poor rural development, climate hazards, conflict (in Sudan), and rural poverty have contributed to rural-urban migration, rapid urban population growth and urbanization in these countries (Al-Jedaiah, 2021; IDMC, 2021, Osman-Elasha, 2008; UN Habitat, n.d.a, n.d.b). Many Jordanians and Sudanese also migrate abroad for better work that is locally scarce and further eroded by ecosystem depletion, climate hazards or conflict (Sudan). As noted earlier there have been mixed migration flows of Sudanese and other nationalities into Jordan. Jordan's relative economic prosperity, political stability and overall receptivity has been a draw factor (MMP, 2017).

SCARCE RESOURCES AND RESULTING IMPACTS IN URBAN HOST-SITES

Rural-urban migration, refuge influx and migration from neighboring countries into Jordan, urban population growth and density and poor urban planning and development in these sites alter lifestyles and resource use. Existing food production-demand-consumption gaps are further widened, as agriculture loses land and people. This situation further stresses existing urban socio-economic infrastructure and services, and is marked by growing urban poverty, poor access to decent work and basic services, land reclamation, encroachment on agricultural land and natural habitats, squatting, evictions and the growth of slums.

Jordan's urban spatial expansion is about 1 percent per year or 15 km2 posing a risk to agricultural land and the provision of infrastructure and finance (UN Habitat, n.d.b). 23 percent of its urban poor lived in slums in 2018 (World Bank, 2022g). In Amman where population growth and the influx of refugees has contributed to a 1.7 percent increase in rental costs (UN Habitat, 2022), only 10 percent of households can buy houses above 100 m2 without spending more than 30 percent of their monthly income (UN Habitat, 2022).Low-income neighborhoods will be hardest hit by acute water scarcity with 91 percent of the households receiving less than 40 liters daily for eleven consecutive months by 2100 (Garthwaite, 2021). It is important to note though that some of the municipal water loss is also through leakage and water theft. Depending on the region, the network loses between 50 percent of the water supply, largely caused by inadequate administrative procedures, infrastructure, and maintenance (Al-Ansari et al., 2014).

Increasing industrialization, population growth, and a stressed waste management infrastructure generate about 2 million tons of municipal waste in Jordan each year, with most of it diverted to unsanitary landfills and dumpsites. Half of this is in Amman. Improper solid waste disposal is leading to public health risks, adverse environmental impacts and socio-economic problems (Yamin, 2022). Air pollution is acute in Jordan's cities. About 90 per cent is caused by road traffic. Finally, the strain on natural resources and services has generated tension between Jordanians and the refugee and migrant population from neighboring countries. This could grow acute (Carry, 2019). Reportedly refugee inflows increase the probability of Jordanian internal migration. "Residing in governorates with refugee camps increases the probability of Jordanians moving out, while the probability of them moving in decreases. This may be driven by potential negative impacts on the labor market pushing out natives, or an increase in the price of services and housing, or congestion and competition in access to services." (EI-Mallakha & Wahba, 2021).

In Sudan internal migrants and others are known to pervasively squat on unplanned land or land owned by public/private entities. Half the urban poor living in planned or unplanned camps have moved or have been forcibly moved at least once post-arrival in Khartoum - some up to thrice (Pantuliano et al., 2011). Many live on riverbanks in flood-prone areas, in informal settlements resulting from subdivision of agricultural lands or illegal occupation of seemingly vacant lands. The lack of inclusive national urban development strategies, coordinated state urban development plans and an overall vision for land and natural resource use underscores this (UN Habitat, n.d.b).

As noted earlier, Sudanese movement into Jordan is marked by mixed flows driven by poverty and/or disasters and conflict (MMP, 2017). While many Sudanese are registered with UNHCR in Jordan, many more have no protection. In the floods of 2015 in Jordan, more than 3000 Sudanese in Jordan suffered from the cold and rain that flooded their tents, and an outbreak of disease, especially among children. They reportedly receive little financial assistance as refugees and have no legal right to work. Nevertheless, they engage in casual day labor such as car washing, cleaning or work in markets to eke out a living - mostly only for a few days a month. They are also targets of racist behavior (Dabanga, 2015).

THE DISCOURSE ON CLIMATE RISK, RELATED HAZARDS AND MIGRATION

The fore-going data returns us to conversations around three key issues on the relationship between climate change, related hazards and migration: (a) whether migration is primarily climate-induced or driven by broader development factors, (b) whether climate-induced migration is an adaptation or a survival strategy, and (c) whether fair, voluntary and safe return to climate-affected sites of origin is a durable solution. These are questions demanding rigorous empirical research in Jordan and Sudan. This is because the nature and type of hazard, the socio-economic and political contexts, the environmental and climate risk profiles of each of these sites determines migration patterns and trajectories, including returns.

THIS PUBLICATION NOTES THAT:

(a) There exists a robust link in Jordan and Sudan between the lack of sustainable rural and urban planning and development and related socio-economic and environmental impacts including climate risks, consequent further deprivation, and often migration. But migration is underscored by a complex web and mix of motives, 'drive and draw' forces and mixed flows. Not all migrants are equally likely to migrate as a result of climate or other related factors. "Usually the poorest, or those dependent on rainfed agriculture are the most vulnerable. They lack safety nets, resources, and lack resilience to climate impacts. Often, they are the first to migrate. However, in some instances, the poorest are unable to migrate and suffer the impact of exposure to extreme climate events" (USAID, 2016b). In Sudan, for instance, engaging in smallscale agriculture where possible, selling some of the herd (Osman-Elasha, 2008), changing migration patterns often with great difficulty in finding grazing land as in the case of pastoralists who migrate seasonally (Quinn et al., 2019), are coping mechanisms for those who stay behind.

The moot point is not whether climate risk is the primary or secondary driver of migration, even if it contributes palpably. Rather, there are a range of long-term inter-related systemic drivers of migration for survival the parenthesis and its impacts underlined by a lack of sustainable development. Climate risks and hazards, are in part, the product of a lack of sustainable development and contribute together with other development deficits to migration for survival. (as detailed in the recommendations).

(b) There are various types of migration, including that which is driven by social, economic, environmental, or political circumstances marked by degrees of force on a continuum, and progressively increasing desperation. This may include efforts to survive multi-dimensional poverty and sudden onset or protracted hazards that aggravate pre-existing impoverishment. In such situations 'migration for survival' is perhaps a more accurate description in these contexts than 'migration as adaptation.' This holds even more weight if life in destination sites (internal or cross-country) is also marked by poverty and insecurity, including vulnerability to water crises, floods and other climate hazards affecting destination sites – as demonstrated by fore-mentioned data for Jordan, but especially for Sudan. This reflects more survival coping, rather than adaptation which is a more positive process, marked by greater agency, ability to recover and greater resilience. However, this adverse situation could improve should timely and robust investments be made in more inclusive sustainable rural and urban development with de facto access of affected groups to the ensuing benefits.

(C) Return to economically and environmentally impoverished, acutely climate-affected homes sites is not always sustainable, even if people wish to return. This demands an assessment on a case-by-case basis – whether in Jordan, Sudan or elsewhere. Often sites of origin are hit by multiple, cascading climate hazards (and most recently, COVID-19 – a biological hazard), with increasing frequency and intensity, and with recurring damage and loss to pastoral and agricultural assets, soil and water quality, household assets and businesses. This coupled with rising prices overall could leave little time for people to adapt or recover, and renders living and working in many sites untenable. Where the level and scale of investment in climate-resilience building and readiness to improve it is low, it would be difficult to see how sustainable people's return to acutely climate-affected home sites would be as a long-term durable solutionunless action to build resilience could be taken with positive results and did happen.

SECTION IV.

GENDERED STRUCTURAL DRIVERS OF VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE RISKS AND IMPACTS, INCLUDING MIGRATION

IV. GENDERED STRUCTURAL DRIVERS OF VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE RISKS AND IMPACTS, INCLUDING MIGRATION

Per Table 3, women are almost 50 percent of the population in Jordan and Sudan. Addressing the gendered differences in climate and migration priorities of different groups of women is crucial to achieving inclusive development

Country	Total Population	Female	Male
Jordan	10,269,022	49.3%	51%
Sudan	44,909,351	50 %	50%

TABLE 3: PROPORTION OF FEMALES AND MALES IN TOTAL POPULATION IN 2021

SOURCE: ADAPTED FROM © WORLD BANK 2021E, 2021F, 2021H.

Jordan and Sudan rank poorly on global indexes that measure gender equality. Jordan ranks 122 out of 146 countries in the Global Gender Gap Index 2022 (GGGI) with a score of 0.639. GGGI data on Sudan is unavailable (World Economic Forum, 2021), but the 2021 Gender Inequality Index (GII) ranks both countries. Jordan ranks 102 and Sudan 172 out of 191 countries, with GII values of 0.471 and 0.553 respectively (UNDP, 2022). Gender also interacts with other socio-economic-political inequalities resulting in inequalities not just between men and women, boys and girls, but also among different groups of women and girls and their male counterparts. Poor rural and urban women, especially female-household heads, pregnant and nursing women, older women, women with disabilities, low-skilled migrant women, indigenous women, women in hard-to-reach sites are among the most excluded and worst hit by climate crises, as will be demonstrated subsequently.

GENDERED STRUCTURAL DRIVERS OF MORTALITY AND CASUALTIES FOR WOMEN AND CHILDREN IN DISASTERS

A summarized table of seven types of natural disasters in Jordan from 1990-2009, (EM-DAT, 2014) that included droughts, earthquakes, epidemics, extreme temperatures, floods, insect infections and storms, shows the numbers of casualties and deaths, but the data was not sex disaggregated.¹⁵ Likewise, available data from 1990-2022 in Sudan on mortality and casualties from climate-related hazards is not sex-disaggregated (EM-DAT, 2022). This raises the urgent need for sex-disaggregated data and gender analysis on the issue. However, where such data is available elsewhere, albeit taking account of context-specificity, it shows that more women and children died in major disasters. For example, Bangladesh's cyclone Bhola claimed 300,000 lives with women outnumbering men 14:1 (Bhuiyan, 2013). In the 1991 cyclone in Bangladesh, 90 percent of those who died were women and children. (Ahmad, 2011). In the 2010-2012 famine in Somalia that killed nearly 260,000 people, half were children (UN, 2013).

The factors that inhibited women's and children's survival in the fore-mentioned disasters were contextspecific, and Bangladesh's Cyclone Preparedness Programme (CPP) has contributed to a reduction in deaths (Bhuiyan, 2013). The lessons drawn from an analysis of vulnerabilities and the impacts of the CPP hold good for other contexts. Inhibitors include poor knowledge and access to early warning information, women-unfriendly evacuation plans, gendered cultural factors that restrict mobility and interaction with non-familial men. This pre-empted evacuation with the community in the absence of male relatives. Gendered restrictions on certain types of survival-enhancing physical activity, and unsafe housing and

¹⁵ The two drought events during this period (1990-2009) affected 330,000 people totally. There were no deaths. In the same period, there were four flood events that killed 44 and affected 529 people, while 2 flash floods killed 267 and affected 23792 people (EM-DAT, 2014).

living sites were other factors causing deaths. Many women died as they had to fend for their little children, older people and themselves, especially if male relatives were away. Some remained to protect meagre assets, including animals. Women remained indoors because they feared the dark, the turbulent weather, theft, sexual abuse or because shelters were far off, not women-friendly, or non-existent. They consequently drowned with children and others in the 'refuge' of homes. Women's dress code, the sari became a death trap causing entanglement and preventing quick movement. It was hard to swim in the surge, negotiate high wind speed and slush with children (Bhuiyan, 2013; D'Cunha, 1997).

More generally, early warning systems also tend to exclude the needs of older women and men, women and men with chronic ailments and disabilities. This is of relevance and note to countries of the Arab region, as well. Warnings are often relayed as audio-video or televised messages without sign language, or captions or audio descriptions. These warning formats are unsuited for women and men with hearing, visual or other disabilities. Evacuation planning too, rarely identifies these groups. It seldom arranges support to carry their aids, service animals, medicines, or provides suitable transport with assistance. Shelters often lack the infrastructure for older persons and persons with disabilities (Center for Disaster Philanthropy, n.d; Help Age International, 2000, 2019)

GENDERED STRUCTURAL VULNERABILITIES (AND CAPACITIES) RELATED TO CLIMATE RISKS AND IMPACTS IN THE AGRICULTURAL SECTOR: WOMEN'S ROLE AND POSITION IN NORMAL AND CRISIS TIMES

THE BROAD GENDER-BASED DIVISION OF LABOR IN BOTH SITES AND IMPACTS ON WOMEN'S ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL PARTICIPATION

Jordan and Sudan have a gender-based division of labor that varies across both sites but that broadly accords men public sphere roles in the state, market and community and relegates women to the privacy of domesticity (JICA, 2012; Shahzadeh, 2021). A 2018 World Bank survey in the urban areas of Amman, Marfaq and Zarqa in Jordan found that 96 percent of 2000 male and female respondents between 20-55 years found it was acceptable for women to work, subject to certain conditions. These included not leaving the children with relatives, not working alongside men in mixed workspaces and not returning from work after 5.00 pm (World Bank, 2018a) Further, despite the primacy of women's domestic roles, household headship and decision-making tend to rest with men (JICA, 2012).

While not specific to Jordan and Sudan per se, gender roles could be more flexible than they seem, especially in female headed households or when migrant women workers return home more empowered when women exercise more agency in crisis situations. But changing gender roles could also mean increased workloads with adverse implications for women, or the risk of community and domestic violence as men feel threatened. Sustaining transformative changes in gender relations begs sustained social norm and behavior change, a reduction in women's workloads including unpaid care work, and a range of socio-economic support services and infrastructure, among other things, to realize real gender equality (D'Cunha, 2019).

Overall, the traditional gender-based division of labor and related discriminatory social norms and practices largely underscore gender gaps in the totality of women's paid and unpaid work in the state sector, markets, communities and households in Jordan and Sudan. It underpins their labor force participation and unemployment rates, work conditions, access to economic assets, resources and benefits, economic and social decision-making (JICA, 2012), and social behavior and practice.
OVERALL GENDER-BASED LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION RATES, EMPLOYMENT AND UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

Per Table 4, estimates of labor force participation rates are very low for women in Jordan (13 percent) which is 4.7 times less than men's at 62 percent. The country is in fact reported to have the lowest rate of women's economic participation of any country not at war (Robbin, 2022). Sudan's labor force participation rates for women are just below 30 percent but 2.34 times less than men's at 68 percent. Employment for women in both countries is very low – about 5.1 times less for women than men in Jordan and 2.9 times less for women than men in Sudan. National unemployment rates for women are also much higher for women than for men, at a little less than double for women in Jordan and over twice higher for women in Sudan

TABLE 4: LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION, EMPLOYMENT AND UNEMPLOYMENT RATES FOR FEMALES AND MALES IN JORDAN AND SUDAN (% OF FEMALE AND MALE POPULATIONS RESPECTIVELY, AGES 15+, MODELED ILO ESTIMATE, INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION) ILOSTAT DATABASE.

	Labor Force Participation Rate % (Most Recent Year: 2021)		Employment (Most Recent Year: 2021)		Unemployment (Most Recent Year: 2021)	
	F	Μ	F	Μ	F	Μ
Jordan	13%	62%	10%	51%	27%	17.6%
Sudan	29%	68%	20%	58%	31.8%	14.6%

SOURCE: ADAPTED FROM © WORLD BANK 2022C, 2022D, 2022E, 2022F, 2022I, 2022J

WOMEN'S CONTRIBUTION TO AND CONSTRAINTS IN AGRICULTURE: STRUCTURAL DRIVERS OF ECONOMIC VULNERABILITY TO CLIMATE RISKS AND CRISES

The particular manifestations of the gendered division of labor in agriculture in both countries (and within them) are contingent on the particular production systems and the diverse ecology that conditions this, social and cultural norms (partly tribal) that underscore family and kinship systems and internal conflict in the case of Sudan, among other factors. Most rural women in both sites tend to engage in small-scale, subsistence farming rather than cash-crop production that men dominate. While women dominate traditional rather than mechanized agriculture, they are hired as paid agricultural laborers on commercial farms owned by men. Women are small livestock raisers, and small traders of local produce in local markets. Men dominate larger scale marketing of food and agricultural crops in-country and abroad, as they control markets and related processes of storage, transport, grading, pricing and the sale of agricultural products. Women are also managers and sustainers of natural resources and bear the sole responsibility of unpaid care-work. Women thus ensure food, water and health security for families and communities and maintain adequate productivity levels among the rural work force (FAO 2005; FAO et al., 2010; FAO, 2021; Government of Sudan, 2021; IFAD & FAO 2007; UN Women & REACH, 2018).

Consequent to the broader gender-based division of labor in both Jordan and Sudan, women are not considered farmers in the same manner as men. Their agricultural work is deemed an extension of their unpaid care work in homes and both forms of work are invisibilized and unaccounted for in household and national incomes (FAO, 2005; UN Women & REACH, 2018). The consequent gender-based occupational segregation and gender gaps in ownership and access to agricultural assets, resources, services and

benefits that weigh against women disempowers them. It adversely impacts agricultural productivity and their ability to cope and recover in climate crises compared to men.

The proportion of the Jordanian population that is engaged in agriculture has declined over the years. Per table 5, a smaller proportion i.e. 1 percent of Jordan's total female population is employed in agriculture in comparison to Jordanian men at 3 percent, although this difference is small. However, the labor force participation rates of Sudanese women in agriculture are significantly higher than that of Jordanian women in agriculture, and also much higher than the labor force participation rates of Sudanese men in agriculture - at least 18 percent higher.

However, in Sudan these rates vary noticeably between states. In states such as Darfur, agricultural work is almost entirely performed by women, while women are banned from agricultural work in all its forms in states such as Gedaref, Red Sea and Kassala (Ministry of Human Resources, Development and Labour, 2013).

TABLE 5: EMPLOYMENT IN AGRICULTURE FOR FEMALES (% OF FEMALE EMPLOYMENT) AND MALES (% OF MALE EMPLOYMENT) IN JORDAN AND SUDAN (MODELED ILO ESTIMATE)

Country	Female (Most Recent Year) (2019)	Male (Most Recent Year) (2019)
Jordan	1%	3%
Sudan	52%	34%

SOURCE: ADAPTED FROM © WORLD BANK 2021C, 2021D

Although the proportion of Jordanian women in agriculture is low, nearly half of rural Jordanian women work in the sector, and nearly a quarter of Jordanians below the poverty line, including many women, rely on agriculture (Netherlands Enterprise Agency, 2016; World Bank, 2018d). The significantly low proportion especially of women is perhaps because only formal employment is officially accounted for. The agricultural sector is considered one of the largest in the country for informal employment (WANA, 2021) and women's informal work in agriculture in Jordan is high at 16 percent, compared to men's at 5 percent (UNDP, 2013). A majority of rural Jordanian women are unpaid agricultural laborers in small to medium-sized family farms and make up a sizeable section of the female population active in agriculture (Augustin et al., 2012). Women are also actively involved in home-based agricultural activities, often managing small homestead gardens, compatible with their domestic roles and are typically responsible for the family plot (UN Women & REACH, 2018). Poorer women are employed informally as paid agricultural laborers on land owned by others often without contracts. Against this background, women's accurate numerical strength and work in the sector tends to be invisible.

A 2018 UN Women and REACH study of women in agriculture in four governorates in Jordan ¹⁶ confirms the above. It shows that rural Jordanian women work across different segments of agriculture - in homebased micro-farming, crop and livestock production. 73 percent of women are engaged in home-based agricultural production - cultivating fruits, vegetables and raising livestock - on family-owned or rented land geared to family consumption and trade of surplus in local markets. They are involved at all stages of the production process including land preparation, harvesting, post-harvest processing and generating value added by-products for sale such as olive oil, dairy and other animal products. Men play supportive roles in home-based agriculture and undertake physically heavier labor such as ploughing the land and grazing livestock. Only 5 percent of women respondents owned the land being used. 26 percent of women respondents, especially from poorer economic backgrounds also worked as paid agricultural workers, employed informally and seasonally on land owned by others. These included commercial farms undertaking medium to large scale production of olives, fruit and livestock. Paid agricultural The four governorates in Jordan are Irbid, Mafraq, Balqa and Karak women workers on commercial farms engage in most activities at all phases of agricultural production including cultivation, crop maintenance, harvesting, while men engage in physically heavier labor, such as ploughing of land, packaging of produce, carrying and loading crates of produce onto transport (UN Women & REACH, 2018).

Despite their significant contribution to agriculture, and provisions in Jordan's legal framework that guarantee women's rights to land ownership and inheritance (UN Women & REACH, 2018), Jordanian women own 10.3 percent of all land by area (World Bank, 2017b), and significantly less land than men – 17 percent versus men's 48 percent (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). The small proportion of women-owned agricultural land mostly does not exceed two hectares (Institute for Women's Studies in the Middle East, 2022). Female headed households tend to be among the poorest and have fewer economic assets than male headed households (IFAD, 2013). Limited land rights constrain women's scope of production and access to agricultural inputs, resources and services, including microcredit to start agribusinesses as land and other material assets are usually required to collateralise loans. Inadequate land rights also constrain decision-making on production and marketing issues. Rural women's sizeable engagement in home-based agriculture and as unpaid workers on family farms reinforces the perception of this work as an unaccounted extension of unpaid domestic roles.

Despite their significant contribution to livestock production, Jordanian women farmers were found to be under-served by extension services; less than one fifth of women are found to have access to state extension services and 3 percent to private extension (Al-Rimawi, 2002). When they are paid, women's wages are typically only 50 percent that of their male counterparts (around 150 JD/month) for unskilled and manual seasonal tasks - mainly during spring and summer - such as weeding, pruning, harvesting, packaging, and sorting (Fragaszy et al., 2022). According to another study of 83 women in the Jordan Valley, conducted between June to July 2020, women earned about 5-6 JD a day, and spent all their earnings on food, basic needs, and their children's education (Sadaqa, 2020). All respondents reported exclusion from social protection and health insurance, no provision of sick leave or annual leave, and no breaks during the day. Nationally, only 27 percent of women hold an account with a financial institution, and this can be expected to be much lower in rural areas (GIZ & Central Bank of Jordan, 2017). Only 21 percent of women heads of households receive loans for agricultural development and 9 per cent for income-generating activities, compared to 43 percent and 14 percent of male household heads (IFAD, 2013) Despite these challenges, Jordanian women work in the agricultural sector out of dire economic need (Sadaqa, 2020).

The agricultural sector in Jordan also employs a large number of Syrian women refugees and migrants, who rely on agricultural work – home-gardening and landless wage work - as a primary source of income, especially given their limited access to alternative opportunities. They live in high levels of economic, social and legal insecurity and vulnerability. They dominate informal and vulnerable employment with poor wages, long work hours and no social protection. Syrian women see little difference between their agricultural activities and men's, possibly because of the kinds of farms in which Syrians are employed and/ or due to specific working conditions for Syrians. Many do not have work permits because of perceptions that women are not eligible, or because they find costs high or because they are reportedly unaware of application procedures. They are more likely than Jordanian women to move around between seasons to engage in paid agricultural work which is a challenge. Large numbers of Syrians live in informal tented settlements in or around large agricultural farms. They depend on private landlords who often compel them to relocate to formal or informal camps, and this may explain their greater tendency movement around for agricultural work (UN Women & REACH, 2018).

In Sudan, women are engaged in varied capacities across all agricultural subsectors – crop farming, livestock raising, fisheries and forestry. At the national level, Sudanese women are about 49 percent of farmers in the irrigated sector and 57 percent in the traditional rainfed sector, but over 85 percent in Darfur and Kordofan (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 2014; World Bank, 2020). While women in the rainfed sector are primarily subsistence farmers, they are also employed as seasonal wage laborers in the rainfed mechanized sector and as hired or unpaid family laborers in the irrigated sector. Women's engagement in agriculture has been increasing and often depends on them, as men are involved in armed conflict and migrate in search of agricultural or non-agricultural supplementary sources of livelihood (FAO, 2021). In crop farming Sudanese women are engaged with men in land clearance and preparation, harvesting, transporting and marketing crops, but do most of the planting, weeding and food processing (Government of Sudan, 2021). In traditional agro-pastoral farming systems and nomadic and semi/ nomadic contexts, men primarily own and raise large livestock, while women raise smaller animals such as goats and poultry, care for sick animals, participate in milking, processing milk products, and selling animal products on a small scale in local markets (FAO, 2021). Women thus contribute substantially to households and agriculture by way of labor and incomes. In North Kordofan, for instance, women contribute 74 percent of the monthly agricultural income, 65 percent of total income, 62 percent of the labor, and 65 percent of unpaid care work, among other things. Moreover, women have successfully and increasingly diversified their livelihoods in rural farm and non-farm work, including through producing and selling handicrafts and establishing and owning micro businesses - mostly in retail trade and in selling tea and prepared food (FAO, 2021).

Fishery-based livelihoods in Sudan are dominated by men who almost exclusively engage in fishing and marketing. Women perform important supportive, but unpaid invisible tasks mostly within the household such as fish cleaning, processing and repairing nets. Their participation in the sector is partly constrained by mobility restrictions (Anton & Curtis, 2017). In some coastal areas, women also produce handicrafts made from marine products.

Sudanese women participate in various aspects of forestry governed by complex and varied forest/tree tenure and management systems. Restricted mobility within village environs largely limits women to wage labor and collecting forest tree and wild food products with their children for personal consumption or sale, timber cutting and charcoal production for personal use and sale, seedling preparation and weeding. As paid workers in gum Arabic production, men almost exclusively engage in tapping, while women do other essential tasks such as collecting, grading, cleaning, packaging and selling gum Arabic. But wages for this type of work are lower. Women are poorly represented in forest-sector decision-making (FAO, 2021).

Despite their substantial contribution to agriculture, Sudanese women have limited land rights, and are more likely to be landless than men, even though Sudan's national land laws do not discriminate against women (JICA, 2012). While data on land ownership is not available, most agricultural land is communal, and managed by men. Where women have land ownership rights, social norms inhibit their authority, control and management over the land. In the event of divorce or spousal death, it is difficult for women to gain access to family land or maintain their land rights, and they tend to lose their rights to family property, including land. The widow is "inherited" by her husband's family or clan, who decide whether she will have access to the land. Should she choose to leave the clan, she is denied this access to land. Personal law entitles a woman to inherit half the inheritance of her brothers, but this seldom happens. Women's high rates of illiteracy and limited participation in decision-making mechanisms further contribute to gender disparities in access to and control over land (Gender Centre for Research & Studies, 2009). Absence of land ownership and land titles in women's names inhibit women's access to agricultural loans, agricultural inputs (e.g., improved seeds, fertilizers, pesticides), information, training

and extension services. Women's formal and customary rights to forest land are limited and depend on the discretion of male decision-makers. Further, women are typically unpaid for their work in traditional agriculture. This was borne out by a case study that found that nearly half the Sudanese women had not been paid for work in traditional agriculture outside the home within the previous month (OECD, 2015). About 86 percent of rural female employment and over 75 percent of agricultural employment is considered vulnerable. The agricultural sector also has the highest incidence of unpaid family work, estimated at 26.3 percent in 2011 (ILO, 2014). Finally changes in technologies and land-use patterns towards medium and large-scale modern technology-based production tend to benefit male farmers with greater access to resources and services, thus enhancing their incomes and profits, while further relegating women farmers to weaker and less profitable production systems (FAO, 2021).

Other serious hindrances to Sudanese women's economic participation and benefits in agriculture, underlined by locale-and tribe-based norms include: limiting women's access to certain sources of livelihood by preventing them from growing perennial crops or planting fruit trees; limiting access in pastoral areas to local markets thus preventing women from selling dairy and other products; or not permitting women to work in agriculture or to work at all in parts of Kassala, Red Sea and Gedaref states (FAO, 2021).

GENDERED ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF CLIMATE RISKS/CRISES ON WOMEN IN AGRICULTURE IN JORDAN AND SUDAN

In 2011, the main sources of greenhouse gas emissions in Jordan, for example, were the energy, transportation and construction sectors (73 percent), waste and agriculture (15 percent) and the industrial sector (9 percent) (UN Women, 2018). Most of these are traditionally male-oriented sectors, but despite women's active participation in the agricultural sector in Jordan and Sudan, they likely contribute less to GHG emissions than men given their small scale, subsistence farm and non-farm work, and their consumption of less emissions intensive goods and services compared to men. But their location at the lower ends of agricultural and non-farm value chains in subsistence roles, their lower asset ownership, lower access to and control over material and non-material resources and benefits relative to men, adversely impact their farm investments, productivity, earnings and climate resilience. When climate change and crises deplete women's fewer and smaller-scale assets, their already informal and vulnerable jobs and incomes, then the impacts of multi-dimensional poverty, workload increases, coping and recovery are heavier for women. Moreover, different categories of women (and men) are differently and unequally impacted, given their socio-economic and political location.

In Jordan, the impacts of drought on agriculture are strongest in rainfed systems in which large numbers of Jordanian women work, including cereals-based systems and staple crops for nationwide food security (chickpea, lentils, and olives), crop-livestock integrators, and rangelands pastoralism (Fragaszy et al., 2022). Cereals are also highly exposed to drought risk because they are largely cultivated in areas with high hazard risk (northern highlands bordering the Jordan Valley). Cultivation is on small landholdings with minimal inputs, mechanization, and access to credit, "with major implications for Jordan's overall food importation characteristics" (Fraj, 2018). For example, Jordan's most acute drought of 1999-2000 recorded a rainfall decrease over 75 percent, a fall in reservoirs to their lowest historical levels (Fragaszy et al., 2022), a drop in domestic cereals output from 10 percent of total demand to just 1 percent (FAO, 2004), and the lowest fruit earnings in a decade. 180,000 women and men were badly affected by a loss in assets, livelihoods, incomes, food and indebtedness, particularly women and men small farmers and herders. Women and men pastoralists with small flocks were acutely affected as they are heavily reliant on rangelands whose carrying capacity is badly affected by drought. They were unable even with

government feed subsidies to purchase enough feed for livestock, let alone the highly priced fodder imports to maintain herd sizes, compared to large commercial operators. The purchase of water for livestock too was unaffordable (Fragaszy et al., 2022). The worst impacted among small farmers and herders in terms of a loss of income, food availability and affordability were landless households, especially female headed households, and those with many family members, including ill and elderly members (IFAD, 2013).

A similar situation prevailed in the severe drought of 2007-2008 in Jordan when 85 percent of hay production and between 30-50 percent of irrigated crops were badly affected (DOS, 2018). Small women (and men) herders and small women (and men) farmers were disproportionately impacted by the lack of timely access to veterinary services during the drought but also during dry months when livestock are more likely to fall sick from thirst and hunger, and by crop losses often also caused by a lack of storage and processing facilities. (Fragaszy et al., 2022). This tends to have heavier impacts on small women herders and farmers who have a lower asset base and access to services than males, and potentially more delayed recovery.

Jordanian women and school-going children in transhumant herding households are very vulnerable to drought impacts as they are expected to graze and milk livestock. Grazing is harder when moving long distances, in search of pastures with suitable carrying capacity and clean and adequate water sources. Moving to remote areas reduces children's school attendance (Fragaszy et al., 2022).

Changing patterns in rainfall and changing seasons have caused a drop in the growth and availability of rainfed plants that have altered women's food preservation and production timelines. This has eroded their diversified livelihood systems and additional income earning opportunities. For instance, women gather medical and edible herbs such as thyme, chamomile, sage for household consumption and sale, but indicate, that Persian thyme which is very good for health, is now difficult to find. Further, while these plants can be irrigated, their medical benefit is higher when they are natural and rainfed (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

Women preserve food such as cheese and dairy products in some seasons to ensure their availability in others. But reduced rainfall and grazing land have reduced the volumes produced and have also delayed the seasons. This has adversely impacted women's livelihoods as many women depended on the sale of these products in local markets as a reliable source of income. In addition, women face competition from big businesses who flood the markets with dairy products (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

Further, climate variations and changing seasons have resulted in convergence between different types of seasonal work such as olive and vegetable growth, picking and processing – whose income would enable women manage larger expenditures for education and other items. Women indicate that with an overlap between 'the olive and vegetable season' they are now torn between olive picking and food processing and risk losing incomes, unless they can manage their priorities and time better, or draw in other family members, especially girls to assist (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). This places girls' education at risk.

Drought increases pre-existing levels of high casual employment and lowers women's wages further. While men have the option to migrate in search of work, women's access to employment is limited by mobility restrictions governed by social norms, traveling conditions, safety, responsibility for children and other unpaid care work. "Women have low bargaining power and few representative organizations to improve their socio-economic conditions. The availability of cheaper labor from neighboring refugee communities also limits local women's ability to organize, communicate and negotiate around employment issues, including those stemming from drought impacts" (Fragaszy et al., 2022).

Jordanian women's greater vulnerability than men to drought impacts is exacerbated by their lack of access to credit and financial relief, including drought insurance or other products for financial risk management, given their lack of land ownership. Payouts in the 2000 drought in Jordan went to irrigated agriculture and not to the highly drought exposed and sensitive rainfed systems in which large numbers of women worked. This led to inequity in distribution. With lower rates of asset and land ownership (for collateral), lower earnings, and lower rates of account holding, women are less well-positioned to access credit or formal assistance to coping with drought impacts (Fragaszy et al., 2022).

In Sudan's devastating floods of 2020, for example, that badly affected about 900,000 people (October 2020) in all 18 states, women especially those in extreme poverty and those suffering from other forms of exclusion were disproportionately impacted. About 51 percent of women compared to 49 percent of men were acutely affected. Early assessments showed that besides severe infrastructure damage, almost 600,000 farming and pastoral households (2.9 million people) were badly affected, of whom 252,000 (42 percent) were female-headed. Women lost crops and livestock as about 2.2 million hectares of cultivated land in 15 assessed states and 108,000 livestock heads owned by over 20,000 households were lost. They also lost horticultural products, seeds, agricultural inputs, tools, machinery and other equipment, water infrastructure, slaughter slabs, and livestock service facilities. Women lost fishing nets, baskets, and aquaculture farms. Incomes and savings of daily wage earners (607.3 thousand households), a critical income generator for very poor women (and men) were lost as daily wage work declined. Likewise, people earning from micro- small- or medium enterprises (374.6 thousand households), especially light manufacturing, small agri-food processing and trading in which many women are engaged, were badly affected (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Job opportunities such as casual agricultural labor – considered one of the most important incomegenerating activities for the rural population diminished and were projected to decrease even further during the upcoming harvest season. The lack of job opportunities as farm labor and in agri-food processing and marketing had significant impacts on the livelihoods of many vulnerable women. With high food prices and acute income and food insecurity, women (and men) farmers borrowed and sold productive assets to access food and ensure that they had seeds for the upcoming agricultural seasons (Government of Sudan, 2021).

However, recovery planning and response in general do not always adequately recognize the survival strategies, especially of women in impoverished rural and urban households and the huge role women play in generating household incomes and holding up the household and larger economy. This is particularly true for female-headed households, and is often a missed opportunity for gender inclusive building back better.

THE GENDERED DIMENSIONS OF WOMEN'S UNPAID CARE WORK IN NORMAL TIMES AND CRISIS

In line with the gendered assumption that care work is women's work, women in both sites bear almost the entire responsibility for 'unpaid, unrecognized care work,' that ensures family well-being and labor productivity and serves as a social safety net in the absence of public service provision. This is in addition to their paid and unpaid work in agriculture. Women consequently work longer hours than men, due to their multiple roles within and beyond the household.

In Jordan women spend on average 19 hours on unpaid care work per week, regardless of their employment status, whereas men spend only one hour per week on unpaid care work (ARDD, 2021).

A study of Jordanian women agricultural workers shows that women have long work hours and bear heavy workloads as they combine unpaid care work with agricultural work outside the home, in the absence of child-care facilities provided by the state and landowners/employers. 45 percent of the 83 respondents in the study had children below the age of 5 years. Employers did not provide child care facilities. Bringing children to the worksite was hazardous given the prevalence of ponds and other waterbodies in its vicinity, the distance from home and unsafe transportation. Many women left their children in the care of female relatives till they returned home (Sadaqa, 2020).

In the words of women agricultural workers (Sadaqa, 2020),

"It is our responsibility to take care of our children from early morning - preparing their breakfast, getting them ready for the day, and taking care of them - and the same goes when we get back home, it is our responsibility to prepare the food, do the laundry, and help them with school. We work on the farms, and then come back and work at home - the work at home is a burden for us." "If I do not work, they won't be able to eat."

There are gaps in availability of time use data for Sudan (UN Women. n.d.). But a study of rural areas in Western Sudan (Ibnouf, 2009) showed that women spend an average of 80 hours per week on unpaid activities, the equivalent of two full-time jobs. This broadly reflects the situation in most rural areas in the Sudan (FAO, 2021). Women's unpaid household activities typically include family care, food processing and preparation, cleaning, fetching water and collecting wood. A workday of approximately 18 hours that starts around 05.00 hours is not exceptional for rural women (FAO, 2021).

Longer hours of women's unpaid care work combined with paid/unpaid agricultural work (within or outside the home) increases their workloads, affects their health/well-being, reduces leisure time, adversely impacts women's labor force participation, wages and job quality.

INTENSIFICATION AND OTHER IMPACTS OF UNPAID CARE WORK FOR WOMEN IN CLIMATE CRISES

Unpaid care workloads combined with paid workloads further increase as a result of climate risks and impacts, as newer forms of work emerge in more difficult circumstances. Also, women's search for even scarcer new income-generating opportunities intensifies in order to survive and to reconstruct daily life, replace household goods, rebuild businesses, or meet children's new needs. This often tends compromise a range of development outcomes for women and girls.

In acutely water-scarce Jordan, managing water in households is very stressful especially for women who are responsible for household water management. In rural areas, where water distribution could extend to two-week intervals, women's unpaid care and lives rotate around the 24- hour water delivery time-frame. Although Jordanian women unlike African women are not responsible for collecting and fetching water as this is done by males or through public distribution systems, women and their families are on high alert and on standby on the anticipated water delivery day. All plans are put on hold. Says a rural woman (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022),

"Do not come to visit anyone on the day they supply water. We do not know the exact time of delivery, so we are always on the alert that day. If you have plans – you cancel them."

Moreover, it's a hard-pressed day for women especially female headed households as water tanks must be cleaned and filled, although all family members are drawn in to assist (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

Further, women's workloads and stress increase as they have to re-prioritize work, coordinate more family labor and manage time better to avoid losing incomes. This is because climate-induced changes in seasons for different crops have resulted in overlaps, for example between between olive and vegetable growth, picking and processing. This also increases workloads for young girls in the family, compromising their education (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

In Sudan there has been a huge increase in female headed households, with accompanying workload increases for women because droughts and protracted internal conflict have led to mass male migration to urban areas in search of food and off-farm employment, or to join conflicts. (FAO, 2021). Loss of forests, water scarcity, desertification and drought in Sudan has made it more burdensome for women to provide food, water and firewood for families. This compels women and girls to walk longer distances, for example up to 4 kms in West Kordofan State in Sudan risking accidents and sexual violence (UNDP, 2018). Moreover, an Oxfam study in South Sudan, for instance, shows that when women are away or indisposed, girls are automatically expected to assume their unpaid care work - cooking, fetching water and firewood, milking cows and caring for family members, far more than boys. They risk punishment by parents and male relatives for non-compliance. This heavy workload results in poor school attendance and performance and dropouts of girl children (Rutandaro et al., 2022), perpetuating the vicious cycle of multi-dimensional poverty for females.

Women's responsibility to routinely meet the emotional and physical needs of male partners, children, aged relatives, the ill, those with disabilities, and other dependents increases dramatically in the context of increased hardship in climate crises. For example, women construct make-shift shelters to keep family especially children above flood water levels and protect them from drowning accidents, insect and snake bites. Women must nurse family members who have contracted drought and flood related diseases back to health and attend to pregnant women who go into labor. This needs to be done in the face of harsh conditions - inundation, disrupted transport, power supply, communication systems, and medical services, and depleted stores and money. But there are new needs as well, from new housing and clothing, to help in relocating, and perhaps long-term medical or psychological care. Households expand in size, increasing women's daily workload as displaced kin or strangers are accommodated.

THE GENDER-BASED DRIVERS AND IMPACTS OF WATER, ENERGY AND FOOD INSECURITY ON WOMEN AND GIRLS

There is a critical link between food, water and energy security, whose integrated management is central to sustainable growth and development. Population growth, rapid urbanization, changing diets geared towards meat and dairy products and economic growth exert pressure on this link. Food production and energy are currently highly water intensive. Water is used to produce most forms of energy such as its use in coal-fired power plants and in nuclear reactors, and in bio-fuel crop production. Agriculture is the largest consumer of water resources, and water and energy are used in food production and supply (UN-Water, n.d.). Water, energy and food insecurity are major markers of climate crises, especially in rural areas.

WATER INSECURITY AND ITS ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL IMPACTS ON WOMEN, INCLUDING HEALTH

Water governance at different administrative levels in the public sphere in Jordan and Sudan is the responsibility of government, private sector, public-private sector partnerships and communities, and is mediated by economic and political status, gender, race/ethnicity, geographical location and other variables. While the gendered division of labor vests control, use and management of water resources in the public sphere largely with men, its collection, use and management in households primarily rests with women. Women also farm irrigated and rainfed crops. They consequently have considerable knowledge about water resources, including quality and reliability, restrictions and acceptable storage methods. Women are thus critical to the success of developing water resources and related policies and programs. In water-scarce Jordan, where irrigated agriculture covers only 30 percent of agricultural land, but represents 90 percent of the agricultural production, it is primarily male owners of medium and large commercial farms who control and access irrigation, thus enjoying increases in productivity and profits. Women farmers who own means of production (land, livestock, and partial produce transformation) account for only about 30 percent of 102,000 farming households and are mainly smallholders (DOS, 2018). They have limited access to irrigated agriculture, adversely impacting their productivity. Women's dependence on rainfed systems of agriculture that are highly vulnerable to declining precipitation and drought has resulted in their loss of food, economic assets, incomes and livelihoods (Fragaszy et al., 2022).

Rainwater harvesting and wastewater reuse is gaining ground among Jordan's rural communities, including greywater re-use for agriculture and home gardening, especially among women. But women indicate that these new techniques should be carefully implemented 'as greywater reuse could contribute to increased disease among livestock if not properly managed' (UN Women, 2018). However, women farmers in Jordan are still not at the beating heart of wastewater recycling, food import substitution and water efficiency policies, drip irrigation, water efficient crop production techniques such as aquaponics or hydroponics and other soilless agriculture technologies.

In Jordan, where water distribution often by trucks to rural households could extend to two-week intervals and sometimes more, these limited options to access limited water are also mediated by economic status, social influence/networks, a gendered division of labor and cultural norms. While water collection is done by Jordanian men, women are responsible for rationing water, prioritizing domestic work depending on its availability and finding ways to cope in-house with its scarcity. This increases pressure on women as caregivers and augments their stress. As noted earlier, water distribution affects women and the whole household dynamic in ways that place the whole family on extreme alert in anticipation of distribution. All plans and social obligations are put on hold so as not to miss water delivery that day. "For women, this becomes a huge issue because they have a policing role" (UNFPA, 2022).

Female headed households in Jordan tend to be especially vulnerable as they are often likely to be poor with high unemployment rates and are more socially isolated. Purchase of private well water that is distributed by tanker trucks is expensive (Mercy Corps, 2014), and so are storage tanks priced at 50 to 80 JD, if the demand is high (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). According to local rural women, male truck drivers tend to prioritize deliveries to their friends, almost all of whom for cultural reasons tend to be men. Even when a driver agrees to deliver more neutrally, a single woman cannot accept the delivery and a widow may well be excluded. Moreover, women describe pumping water as a tough two-person job. While the driver manages the controls in the cab, someone must operate the hose at the rear of the truck: holding it in the cistern while water is pumped out. High pressure makes the hose snake and jerk and could 'toss' the operator. Many women and certainly children lack the strength for this. But even if a woman can hold down the hose securely, undertaking that kind of labor is socially unacceptable for women (Mercy Corps, 2014).

A particular impact of water scarcity on women is the inability to maintain good personal hygiene, especially menstrual hygiene for women and girls in the reproductive age group. Poor access to water and sanitation combined with inability to afford sanitary products and medication among poorer women increase the existing stigma attached to menstruating women, and their experience of indignity. Some women use newspapers instead of sanitary products during their courses. Less water for hygiene puts women's and girl's sexual and reproductive health and other health at risk. Moreover, a study in Mafraq found that one third of the respondents had no regular access to water and that the vast majority suffered from sanitation-related psychological stress because of poor water and sanitation infrastructure. The inability to safely manage their menstrual cycle in schools could augment school dropout rates for girls, if water shortages continue to increase.

A baseline study conducted in 2015 showed that out of all surveyed schools, 57 percent reported that available stored and supplied water was insufficient to provide the minimum quantity of water per student. 77 percent received water less than four times per month, 8 percent received water once or twice a month and 3 percent never received water (UNFPA, 2016). The body-water composition for older women and men is naturally much less compared to the young and they need more water intake. Poor water intake in the context of scarcity places them at greater risk of dehydration which leads to number of ailments, including muscle pain, fatigue, and heat exhaustion. Persistent dehydration that causes difficulty in walking, confusion, rapid heart rate or other more severe symptoms could require hospitalization (Cleveland Clinic, 2018). Finally, water that is polluted by fertilizers and pesticides, as is the case in Jordan (Ramirez et al, 2022), is a health risk for women and other family members depleting women's own health and increasing their unpaid care work, as they nurse ill family members back to health.

Sudan's floods in 2020 directly impacted 594,676 people across its 18 states, including large numbers of women and girls, due to damages and losses related to water infrastructure - both WASH and Water Resources Management (WRM). Women who at national level constitute 49 percent and 57 percent of farmers in the irrigated (hired or unpaid family laborers) and traditional rainfed sector, (small farmers, hired laborers) respectively (World Bank Group, 2020; Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 2014), lost or suffered damage to agriculture and irrigation-related infrastructure. Damage to irrigation systems, placed women and men farmers at risk of missing the start of the upcoming agriculture seasons and related work/income loss (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Challenges in accessing drinking water was widespread (UN-OCHA, 2020). Immediate or long-term loss of water supply services due to damaged infrastructure placed additional strain and economic burden on households, especially on women and poor women-headed households who had to rely on purchase of water from water trucks or bottled water. Increased salinity in the water made available bore-hole water unpotable, forcing them in some instances to purchase drinking water at 150 SDG a barrel (Norwegian Refugee Council, 2020). Many faced challenges in temporary access to water owing to loss of jerry cans, washing basins, and buckets placing additional economic burdens on them to replace these (Government of Sudan, 2021).

The loss or destruction of sanitation facilities such as septic tanks, latrines, handwashing and ablution facilities disproportionaly affected women. It resulted, for instance, shared sanitation facilities, open defecation by about 4.3 million women, or rationing toilet times at either too early in the morning or late at night. This disproportionately affected women in terms of reduced levels of privacy and personal hygiene including managing menstrual hygiene, high levels of sexual assault and gynecological problems. Many women and girls contracted urinary tract infections caused by delayed urination or reduced water intake to cope with a lack of access to sanitation facilities (Government of Sudan, 2021). Further, in having

to guard against snake and scorpion bites – creatures that are inevitably driven out of their holes by flood waters - women were faced with safety concerns for themselves and for family members, especially children, thus increasing their stress levels (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Poor solid waste management, inundation of pit latrines and open defecation resulted in the presence of garbage and sewage in water. Stagnant water, poor vector control, increase in mosquitoes and foul odors, blocked drains, water contamination due to cross contamination and penetration of pollutants into ground water were widespread. This hugely increased vector-borne disease like malaria, and water borne diseases like cholera, digestive ailments, skin eruptions, etc. This not only compromised women's health and that of other family members, but increased women's unpaid care work and stress - given too that blocked and damaged facilities prevented access to health and other services during and after the floods (Government of Sudan, 2021). Preliminary assessments said that this included about 150.3 thousand people with special health conditions such as newborn babies and children between the ages 1-3 years (who also missed out on vaccinations with risk of exposure to otherwise preventable diseases in the long-term), elderly women and men, women and men with disabilities, or HIV and pregnant women who miscarried or delivered babies under unsanitary and unsafe conditions (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Damage and loss of hydrological monitoring stations negatively impacted dissemination of further flood warning that provided updated information on flood impacts and safety measures. Breach of water harvesting and flood management structures such as large and small dams, embankments and dykes destroyed livelihoods, personal assets, agricultural land, livestock, and increased the vulnerability of women and men farmers, pastoralists and others to water scarcity during the upcoming dry months. Damage to the Boot Dam in Blue Nile State with a reservoir capacity of 5 million m3 negatively impacted water provision to its 100,000 recipients, to tens of thousands of heads of livestock and to small-scale irrigation. Its breach killed six people, injured many others, and displaced nearly 80,000 people, causing stress systems and trauma. Stranded and the worst affected populations largely consisted of children, women, elderly women and men, and women and men with disabilities (Government of Sudan, 2021).

WATER WISE WOMEN

The German Agency for International Co-operation (GIZ), the Ministry of Water and Irrigation in Jordan, and the Jordan Hashemite Fund for Human Development (JOHUD) worked in partnership to promote the employability and economic empowerment of women in the water sector (Prieto, 2018). Although girls and boys have equal rights to education in Jordan and women are highly educated, social norms inhibit this from translating into jobs for women, especially in non-traditional sectors of work that restrict women. The Water Wise Women initiative publicly recognized women's key role in household and community water management; trained about 200 women of all ages and backgrounds on efficient water management and water saving techniques, and on health and hygiene. It supported them to spread the same awareness and training in their communities and trained interested women volunteers to take a plumbing course and receive a repair kit with the required tools. The initiative thus empowered women as change agents and contributed to transforming limiting social norms which allowed, for example, only men to be plumbers and rendered invisible the significant role women play in household and community water management (GCF, 2021, Prietro, 2018).

The results are impressive. The initiative reached about 2000 households in seven communities. Women in the target areas have learned and used water saving and management techniques such as grey water re-use for home-gardening and drip irrigation, and basic hygiene, leading also to about 40 percent saving in household consumption of water. Women plumbers were supported to acquire additional licenses from the Jordanian Centre of Accreditation and Quality Assurance (CAQA) to work as plumbers and have established Wise Women Plumber Cooperatives (WWPC). WWPC has had a transformational impact on women as most of them had never engaged in paid public work before or earned any money. The support generated from government institutions and public NGOs is reflected in the National Women Plumbing Campaign under the umbrella of the Ministry of Water and Irrigation or via various NGOs and local actors willing to adapt the same concept in their communities.

The project generated the following key lessons: (a) behavioral change is a process that requires time, constant reinforcement of the key message, and provision of needed information and tools (b) community change agents must be trusted by the community and "practice what they preach" (c) change agents who themselves are affected are more effective than outsiders (d) interventions for behavior change need to match a person's willingness to change. (e) the proposed solutions must be affordable, practical and demonstrate visible results over a short time-span.

ENERGY INSECURITY AND ITS ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL IMPACTS ON WOMEN, INCLUDING HEALTH

Jordan has limited domestic resources to meet its rising energy demands. In 2018, it imported 94 percent of its energy needs (10 percent of its GDP), causing vulnerability to fuel price variations. 87 percent of these imports were oil and natural gas. Jordan targets 10 percent of its energy needs to be met from renewable energy resources. It does this mainly by increasing renewable electricity generation (Abu-Rumman, 2002), whose share grew from 0.7 percent in 2014 to over 13 percent in 2019, making Jordan a regional front-runner in renewable energy (IRENA, 2021).

Its national electrification rate is close to 100 percent, but there are inequalities in access. Households (mainly the urban elite) account for 21 percent of total final energy consumption and 46 percent of electricity consumption (MEMR, 2019), largely for lighting and powering high order domestic and entertainment appliances (USAID, 2015). Over 60 percent of household energy consumption is for space heating and cooling. In high-income areas, central heating with diesel oil and air conditioners using electricity are common, while in low income sites, small stoves using kerosene or liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) are used (Al-Sallami & Al-Hinti, 2017). Many households and public infrastructure in remote areas – women and men in rural communities in villages, border points, desert camps, women and men refugees and migrants living in non-permanent settlements, schools, clinics, telecommunications systems – are unconnected to or under-served by the grid. Off grid renewable energy is being deployed to provide electricity to these groups (Irena, 2021).

Prior to its 2020 floods, Sudan had one of the largest power systems in sub-Saharan Africa with 3,500 MW of hydro and thermal based electricity generation capacity. But only about 32 percent of the mainly urban population and certain states have benefitted from Sudan's grid services. Remote, hard-to-reach sites unconnected to a grid rely on biomass as an energy source and some benefit from scattered small-scale diesel power plants for electricity. Most rural homes have no electricity connection and rely on solid fuels for cooking, impacting women's health negatively. About 5 percent use decentralized systems (solar, battery etc.). Sudan plans to achieve universal electricity access by 2031, that reaches 75-80 percent and 20- 25 percent of the population by grid and off-grid respectively (Government of Sudan, 2021). There is growing use of renewable energy, e.g., solar energy to augment local development and women's empowerment, employment and enterprise. But women's access to consistent financing for relevant energy equipment is poor, given their limited access to assets and participation in household decision-making (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Women and men have different and unequal positions in the energy system in Jordan and Sudan as elsewhere. Energy generation, distribution, consumption and maintenance of energy infrastructure at macro level in the public sphere is a socially-determined, largely male terrain. By contrast, women are responsible for the provision and management of almost all household energy services.

In poor rural areas in Jordan and Sudan, women provide, use, prioritize and ration the use of biomass fuel for cooking, lighting, home-based agricultural processing, home-based production of value-added food and by-products, and/or handicrafts from (cereal and horticultural crops, livestock, poultry and marine products), charcoal production, for self-consumption and sale. They may also use pumped water for household purposes or kitchen gardening. However, women's use of biomass and fossil fuels in Sudan, in parts of the Badia region and in camp settlements in Jordan and their cooking over open stoves adversely impacts their health, including respiratory health. It increases the time spent on unpaid care tasks such as hand-washing clothes, walking distances in search of scarce fuel that increases fatigue, impairs health and often compromises safety and security. It reduces job opportunities, diminishes work efficiency and limits market access that telecommunications and information technology would have enhanced. Finally, the use of these fuels depletes trees for cooking and perpetuates deforestation, which contributes to climate risks (Government of Sudan, 2021; Homebiogas, n.d; UNDP et al., 2016).

With increasing average and peak temperatures, hot air mass and heatwaves in Jordan (Arabiaweather, 2022), lack of access to adequate water and electricity for cooling and drinking can cause women, children, the elderly and other family members to suffer heat stress. This aslo increases women's unpaid care work, stress and women's health concerns.

The floods in Sudan temporarily affected 436.9 thousand households who lost access to cooking fuels, both in terms of stored fuel and ability to access more, challenging women's ability to provide cooked food for the family. Foraging for scarce fuel post disaster posed further risks to time poverty, health, safety and security. Large numbers of people who had no power from the outset or lost electric power, were exposed to the increased risks of darkness in crisis conditions. This compromised hygiene, safety and security for younger women and girls, pregnant women, elderly women, those who were chronically ill or had disabilities, and children. Loss of power disrupted several small and medium enterprises and women's home-based work resulting in a loss of income. Likewise, its loss in institutions providing basic services such as schools, primary health care centers and clinics, law enforcement agencies and women's centers caused disruptions in schooling for girls and boys, increased health risks for pregnant women, children and others who were ill, and interrupted services for women and girls exposed to sexual and other forms of violence. Delay in re-establishing services, including in hard-to-reach areas meant an increase in the use of fuel wood contributing to further environmental degradation (Government of Sudan, 2021)

INNOVATIVE CLEAN, RENEWABLE, AND SUSTAINABLE ENERGY SOLUTIONS IN SUDAN

The Darfur region in Sudan has suffered protracted conflict, environmental degradation, drought, crop and livestock losses, migration and displacement, causing high levels of poverty, and overall insecurity. Despite the benefits of high levels of solar radiation, like the rest of Sudan wherein only one-third of the national population has regular access to electricity, Darfur too has high levels of energy insecurity. Here are two good examples of sustainable energy solutions

The Low Smoke Stoves Project by Practical Action and Carbon Clear is delivering health, and economic dividends to women and other household members, and environmental benefits to communities in

North Darfur where climate change, drought, and desertification are pervasive. The project replaces traditional wood and charcoal stoves with energy efficient LPG stoves. It is the first carbon credit program to be registered in Sudan; cuts over 300,000 tons of carbon dioxide emissions over ten years; reduces energy consumption in comparison to dirtier fuels; saves 50 percent of energy costs that are diverted to other expenditures like food and education; reduces the exposure of women and young children to indoor smoke from cooking with solid fuels whose pollution is100 times higher than acceptable levels, and prevents deaths from smoke inhalation. The project also prevents deforestation. Reportedly popular with low-income households, there are plans to expand the initiative to other parts of Sudan to bring the benefits of clean energy to many more women and families (UNFCCC, n.d.).

Expanding decentralized sustainable solar energy solutions can help overall recovery, resiliencebuilding, including energy security for household requirements and revitalize livelihoods, as people displaced by drought and conflict return. To this end, UNDP with support of Qatar and in partnership with UNIDO, WHO, UN-Habitat and national partners implemented a Darfur Solar Electrification program that has deployed solar solutions across 70 villages in Darfur, enhancing the operations of health clinics including delivery rooms, schools, police stations and women's centers and improving street lighting and water pumping. The initiative directly benefits 7,000 returnee households, with additional dividends for neighboring 35,000 households in target areas. UNDP and the Government of Sudan are working to implement durable sustainable energy solutions in other parts of Sudan as a means of building resilience, increasing access to services and livelihoods for vulnerable communities, including excluded women, thus reducing the energy bills of service institutions, including health facilities. UNDP is also providing advisory support to the Government to scale-up results into broader policy frameworks and partnership platforms to expand the role of sustainable energy in achieving the SDGs (Khoday & Gitonga, 2018).

FOOD INSECURITY AND ITS ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL IMPACTS ON WOMEN, INCLUDING HEALTH

In both sites, climate variations, droughts floods and unsustainable development have caused reductions in or complete loss of food staples, horticultural output, animal feed and livestock and their by-products. The consequent lack of availability causes a rise in food and other prices; lost livelihoods and incomes decrease food affordability; and the loss of nutritious food staples and poor food quality intake result in poorer nutrition. Conflict in-country or in the region exacerbates this.

In Jordan, for example, the primary staple crops wheat and barley are very vulnerable to climate change. In Jordan's most acute drought of 1999-2000 domestic cereals output dropped by 13,000 tons, representing an alarming reduction in production from 10 percent of total demand to just 1 percent (FAO, 2004). Food security for about a quarter of the total population (of ~4.75 million) was threatened, out of which some 180,000 women and men were badly affected, particularly women and men from small farming and herding households. The worst impacted in terms of a loss of income, food availability and affordability were landless households, especially female headed households, and those with many family members, including ill and elderly members (IFAD, 2013). Barley output in the Yarmouk Basin in Jordan is likely to drop 5-50 percent by 2050 due to poor rainfall and higher temperatures (Government of Netherlands, 2019). This is worrisome as Jordan relies on international markets for 80 percent of its food supply which is challenged with the disruption of traditional trade routes due to the conflict in Syria. Reliance on international markets for food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes the average Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant increases in food exposes heaverage Jordanian household to huge food price increases, significant in

most on food rather than on medical services or education. Diets are also less varied and less protein-rich, contributing to nutritional deficiency whose population-wide incidence rose to 13.5 percent in 2015-2017 from 6.6 percent in 2004-2006 (Fragaszy et al., 2022).

Although women are producers, providers and managers of food, female-headed households across Jordan are 62 percent more likely to be food insecure or vulnerable to food insecurity, relative to maleheaded households. The likelihood of this is higher in particular communities. About 1/3 of Syrian refugee households are female-headed (World Bank, 2018b). Female-headed households are more likely than male-headed households to experience poor food consumption and lower dietary diversity, and thus experience the impacts of drought more palpably (Fragaszy et al., 2022). The consequent health risks are especially evident in certain population segments. Anaemia affects many Jordanian women. About 43 percent of tested women were anaemic. The prevalence of anaemia worsens during droughts where women, especially poor women, women from migrant and refugee households, female headed households across these groups are required to make financial decisions about food groups, work longer hours and find alternatives to or alternative means to access meat, dairy products and legumes (Fragaszy et al., 2022). Pregnant women, older women and those chronically ill are also at risk. Nationally, 32 percent of children in Jordan suffer from anaemia, but the figure is 38 percent in the north of the country. Children of Syrian mothers have slightly higher levels of anaemia relative to those of other nationalities (UNICEF, 2020). 7.7 percent of children below the age of 5 years suffer from malnutrition (FAO et al., 2018). For Syrian children living in camps and in host communities, dietary diversity is badly restricted (Fragaszy et al., 2022).

Sudan's diversified crop portfolio of cereals, oilseeds, industrial crops, fodder crops and horticultural crops suffered badly in its 2020 floods. Estimated losses of its major nutritious staples that women were substantively involved in growing included 330,885 tons of sorghum, 178,893 tons of millet, 102,897 tons of sesame and 432,268 tons of groundnut. Likewise stored crops and food were also damaged or lost. The loss of small livestock largely raised by women included: 264,840,000 goats, and 116,000 poultry kept mainly as a source of animal protein in the form of milk, eggs, and poultry meat, and 1,262,778,000 sheep kept mainly as a source of income. This contributed to a further depletion in food availability. Moreover, 111 tons of different seed varieties many of which women are primarily engaged in collecting, sorting, preserving, storing were washed away. This together with waterlogging caused delays in replanting, thus reducing the future availability of food in some affected areas (FAO & Government of Sudan 2020; Government of Sudan, 2021). This placed those in extreme poverty - women (and men) in small farming, small herder and poor landless labor households at risk of acute food insecurity.

About 2.2 million households were food insecure in the flood affected areas owing to fore-mentioned economic loss and vulnerability, increasing inflation, upcoming lean season and trade restrictions. Nearly 1.5 million of them are estimated to have borrowed money to get food for their families, exacerbating their debt and poverty. Female-headed households showed a much higher prevalence of food insecurity at 44 percent, relative to 33 percent of the male-headed households (WFP, 2020a). Female-headed households in North Darfur had the highest rate of food insecurity at 70 percent, while the male-headed households in White Nile had the lowest rate at 21percent (WFP, 2020b).

Certain food items, and special food and nutritional needs of certain population groups were unavailable. This included milk for children and crucial nutrients and vitamin supplements for pregnant, and use nursing mothers instead of lactating women to ensure adequate milk production. Breastfed children were also affected as the mothers either did not have time, or sufficient food themselves to be able to feed (Government of Sudan, 2021). Elderly women (and men) and women (and men) with disability found it difficult to access markets and food relief. Many women coped by skipping meals (Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2022), rationing food portions, or changing their dietary composition by increasing carbohydrates or reducing proteins or vegetables, all of which is likely to affect the mid- to long-term malnutrition outcomes. Women and female-headed households were significantly more likely to skip, reduce, or change their dietary intake (93 percent) compared to male-headed households (59 percent) after the floods (Government of Sudan, 2021). This could have disproportionate long-term implications for female-headed households.

The 2020 floods exacerbated and intensified food insecurity and malnutrition of already vulnerable populations (as highlighted above) and further put them at risk of falling into more severe phases of food insecurity – (FAO & Government of Sudan, 2020).

GENDER-BASED GAPS IN EDUCATION IN NORMAL TIMES AND CLIMATE CRISES

Access to education for both boys and girls in Jordan is estimated at more than 95 percent for both (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022), although this does not translate into jobs for women. The dropout for girls and boys between 12-17 years paves the way for child marriage for girls and work for boys (Klein, 2018).

In Sudan, according to 2016-2017 data, the gross enrollment rate (GER) for boys and girls in compulsory basic education was 73 percent (75 percent for boys, and 71 percent for girls). Although there is considerable difference in GER between the states, the gender gap remains small in the majority of states (slightly higher levels of boys than girls). Gender, location, and wealth are key determinants of access to quality education in Sudan. Non-participation of girls is due to negative community cultural attitudes towards girl's education, early marriage, movement in nomadic families, unpaid care work, and distance from home to school, especially in conflict-affected areas.

Poor school facilities and learning environments, and a lack of female teachers also deter girls' participation: 265.1 thousand and 183.9 thousand households with male children and female children respectively dropped out of school in the Sudan floods because of damage to schools and school shutdowns, increased debts due to borrowing for school fees, loss of education assets such as books and equipment (Government of Sudan, 2021).

VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS IN NORMAL TIMES AND CLIMATE CRISES, INCLUDING COMMUNITY CLASHES

Women and girls in Jordan and Sudan, as elsewhere, face various forms of violence. This is an assertion of male power and authority coupled with other interacting forms of socio-economic and political power exercised by males. The cultural manifestations of the forms of violence against women and girls are however context specific.

According to UNFPA, 79 percent of women in Jordan between 18-64 years have experienced domestic violence in their lives, with 14 percent of ever-partnered women aged 15-49 years having experienced sexual violence and/or rape by their partner within the 12 months of the survey, and 24 percent in their lifetime (GCF, 2021). Jordan's Demographic Health Survey data for 2017-2018 shows increases in child marriage for under 15-year-olds and under 18-year-olds (Fry et al., 2019) Crimes of Honor are also prevalent in Jordan (Araji et al., 2001; UNDP, 2018). Sudan does not have national prevalence data on lifetime physical and/or sexual IPV or lifetime non-partner sexual violence (UN Women, 2016). However, these forms of violence against women are widely prevalent (UNFPA & CVAW, 2021). Forced marriage and female genital mutilation (FGM) are also widespread in Sudan. On average 38 percent of Sudanese girls are married

before the age of 18 (Thiam, 2016), and 87 percent typically between 5 years and 14 years have undergone FGM which involves the partial or total removal of the female external genitalia for non-medical reasons (Akinwotu, 2020).

Normal time violence against women and girls increases in climate and other crises, triggered by various factors that include the disintegration of traditional support systems, rule of law and even more pervasive impunity for perpetrators. In addition, women-insensitive infrastructure in IDP camps and settlements, including cramped shelters and living arrangements, and unsecured and distant wash facilities spur violence (UNFPA, 2022). Diminishing basic needs and resources and economic insecurity generate and/or increase family tensions, and often result in violence against women and girls.

In Jordan, water scarcity often sets off increased family tensions and IPV against women. Says Jaleela Smadi, head of a community -based organization (CBO) on women's issues,

"As women are responsible for household water management, if they run out of water, the husband has to buy more, and then he blames his wife" (Mercy Corps, 2014).

Women living in governorates indicated that they are scheduled to receive water every 14 days but that it frequently extends to 17 days or so, and once for 21 days generating major tensions in the community. Only when men raised this with the municipality was the 14 day time frame restored (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

Violence against women and girls was notable in Sudan's unprecedented rains and flash floods in 2020 across eighteen states, but its exact extent is undetermined given under reporting and difficulties in collecting comprehensive data in crisis conditions. It is expected that over 1 million women were at risk of gender-based violence, an increase of over 70 percent from before. About 206,000 women of reproductive age were living in temporary flood shelters with increased risk of gender-based violence. Women and girls reported rape, especially when they went to collect fuel, water, food. Despite high protection needs, support services to survivors of violence were minimal, and absent in more than 90 per cent of the country (Government of Sudan, 2021). Crises like these see an increase in the incidence of child marriage, especially of girl children, as a means of economic survival and ensuring the safety of girl children (Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2021). In the 2020-2022 drought – the worst in forty years - in the Horn of Africa, girls were being forced into FGM and child marriage at "alarming rates," as impoverishment pushed families to the brink. Some girl children as young as twelve are being married to men more than five times their age. Both practices are seen to secure dowries to help support the family, to have one less mouth to feed, to help the bride enter a richer household (UNICEF, 2022), and to provide sexual 'protection' and ensure chastity. But this compromises girls' education, increases their vulnerability to domestic violence and enduring poverty (UNICEF, 2022).

GENDERED DRIVERS AND IMPACTS OF WOMEN'S MIGRATION IN 'NORMAL' TIMES AND IN CLIMATE CRISES

Jordanian and Sudanese women nationals migrate within and out of the country. Jordan and Sudan also receive mixed flows of women (and men) of other nationalities into the country. Sex-disaggregated macro data on international migration is available for both countries, although a rigorous disaggregation of profiles of out-migrating Jordanian and Sudanese women is not readily available.

Comprehensive sex-disaggregated macro data on internal migration is not as easily accessible, as that on international migration.

Per Table 6 (adapted from original source), out-migrating Jordanian women constitute 36.6 percent of all out-migrating Jordanian migrants. While out-migrating Sudanese women are 45 percent of all out-migrating Sudanese migrants, the combined proportion of out-migrating Jordanian and Sudanese women is 42 percent in relation to the combined proportion of their out-migrating male counterparts (57.2 percent). The combined proportion of out-migrating Jordanian and Sudanese women is about 14 percent less than the combined proportion of their out-migrating male counterparts.

Country	Total emigrants	No. and % of male emigrants	No. and % of female emigrants
Jordan	814,909	516,954 (63.4%)	297,955 (36.6%)
Sudan	2,104,887	1,155,684 (54.9%)	949,203 (45%)
Total	2,924,796	1,672,638 (57.2%)	1,247,158 (42.8%)

TABLE 6: NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF FEMALE AND MALE EMIGRANTS OUT OF TOTAL EMIGRANTS, MID-YEAR 2020

SOURCE: ADAPTED FROM © UNITED NATIONS DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL AFFAIRS

Gendered development impoverishes different categories of women differently and drives their migration, which is marked by different degrees of freedom or force on a continuum. High and low skilled Jordanian and Sudanese women nationals migrate internally and overseas mainly for better jobs and incomes (Al-Nawafleh, 2015; Baldwin-Edwards, 2005; Interview with Salma Nims, 2022; Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2021; Jaspars & Buchanan-Smith, 2018), to survive the impacts of climate crises (Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2022; Hagood, 2020; Osman, 2020; Jaspars & Buchanan-Smith, 2018; UNHCR, 2022).

Available data on climate and related development drivers of migration in Jordan and Sudan suggest that women move temporarily/permanently, internally/abroad with family men, the entire family, singly, or as female household heads with children. Many remain behind with children and other family members, while male relatives migrate (Al-Nawafleh, 2015; Jaspars & Buchanan-Smith, 2018; Metz, 1989). Decisions on women's migration are usually family decisions, except where female household-heads can make them (Interview with Al-Banawah, 2021; Shaza Ahmed, 2022). Migration decisions that are triggered by slow onset hazards that gradually degrade ecosystems, slowly destroy livelihoods and make life untenable, may be made over time (Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2021). Acute sudden onset hazards drive quick, unplanned movement. Movement may be phased or straight to destination sites (Government of Sudan, 2021). Women's migration patterns or staying behind in Jordan and Sudan, as occurs in many other locales, depend on a number of factors. Among these are the type of hazard, its magnitude, severity and frequency; levels of damage and loss; economic and social resources ability to survive and recover; (D'Cunha, 2023, Government of Sudan, 2021). Other factors are as follows:

Women often do not have the resources to move or have fewer resources to move than men:

"Sudanese women going out or even Eritrean, Ethiopian women coming to Sudan mostly do not get information or do not know recruiting agencies or have no money to migrate (FGD with women migrants in Sudan, facilitated by NGO NADA AI-Azhar, 2021). Concerns in moving with many children, risks en route and in host sites; care responsibilities; the felt need to stay and protect surviving assets; age, ill-health, disability constrain women's migration and prompt them to stay behind (Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2022; D'Cunha, 2023). Cultural ties with land and livestock, kinship and village bonds are factors that tend to make Sudanese women stay in home sites (Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2022).

Women's socially prescribed private sphere roles, and restrictions on women's independent mobility and relationships in Jordan and Sudan inhibit women's autonomous migration and cause them to stay behind. While in Jordan it is restrictive social norms, in Sudan both social norms and legal restrictions come into play.

> "Local rural communities in Jordan generally perceive that women's migration, whether domestic or otherwise, is temporary. While a woman may, in compliance with local norms migrate for study and education purposes, she may not do so for work purposes. Since women are not traditional breadwinners, they are expected to stay behind and take on family and household responsibilities, or if possible, migrate with the patriarchal figure in their households. Migration in Jordan is often seasonal and undertaken by men with the majority of women and families left behind" (Interview with Mohammad Talafha, 2021).

> Further, male internal migration in Jordan allows periodic return to the family back home in the village, which allows women to stay behind without disrupting the whole family. "Since the 1970s, increasing numbers of villagers had migrated to Amman. Rural male migrants, however, maintained close ties with their natal villages. On Fridays (the official day off in Jordan) and during holidays, the villages were witness to family reunions of men who worked in the cities during the week and returned home at the week's end" (Metz, 1989).

> "Or in the case of seasonal migration, men migrate for work during the week depending on seasonal demands. During the harvest season, men from the Jordan valley, for instance, may take temporary work in the highlands during weekdays and return home over the weekends" (Interview with Dina Safarini, 2021).

Sudan's Ministry of Interior repealed the 1995 Passport and Immigration Rules and Regulations in 2005. These mandated women to have written permission from husbands or male guardians to travel within or out of Sudan for employment, medical or other purposes. Women are via this reform free to travel, as long as they are able to satisfy the same requirements as men to obtain an exit visa. However the 1991 Muslim Personal Matters Act continues to restrict women's freedom of movement out of Sudan. In addition to the requirement for permission from husbands or male guardians, women are not allowed to travel alone unless it is for medical treatment, academic conferences or business, and they must provide documentation to validate their claims for an exception." Also, Sudanese immigration laws restrict women's long-term emigration. Women cannot leave the country with their children without the permission of their husbands or male guardians as parental responsibility is always with the father unless otherwise determined by a competent court of law (Babikar, 2011).

Whether migration is internal or international, planned or unplanned, its impacts on low-income migrant women and families left behind are contingent on a web of factors: the gender-responsiveness of governance systems, including enforcement of accountability measures across sites of origin, transit and destination; levels of labor-market discrimination in work-sites; gender-based cultural norms in sites of origin and destination; state, NGO, community and family support systems for migrant women and accompanying family and for left-behind family; and the agency of migrant women themselves.

WOMEN'S PLANNED MIGRATION INTERNALLY OR ACROSS NATIONAL BOUNDARIES

Women constitute 4.64 million of Jordan's 9.4 million urban population which is largely composed of original Jordanian inhabitants, Jordanian rural-urban migrants, an influx of refugees (David & Nilsson, 2021) and mixed migration flows from neighboring countries (MMP, 2017).

Climate variations also interact with other factors to influence migration, including that of young Jordanian women

"While Jordanian women rural-urban migrants move to cities with husbands or families, there is a growing trend particularly among younger more educated women to migrate independently to cities. They lack interest in engaging in hard rural labor, especially in the context of climate variations, water shortages, drought and desertification and poor agricultural productivity. They aspire to what they perceive are better paying, prestigious public sector jobs. There are instances of successful candidates who work during the week in urban centers and reunite with families on week-ends or festive and religious occasions. Some of these women may even own small plots of their own land or belong to families owning land in villages" (Interview with Salma Nims, 2022).

"On the other hand, there are economically disadvantaged rural male or women-headed households who have sold or lost their small plots of land, or shifted it to other uses, in the context of climate variations and a lack of agricultural productivity, and moved to cities. Women from these households either move with families or independently with children and work in the unprotected informal sector as domestic workers, small vendors of cooked food, fruits and vegetables, and other products" (Interview with Salma Nims, 2022).

"The third and more dominant scenario is internal (or overseas) male migration, while women remain behind to take care of children and families and existing rural assets. Some of these women are part of agricultural projects, including water management and conservation projects to enhance rural livelihoods" (Interview with Salma Nims, 2022).

Despite restrictive legal and social norms in Sudan, a growing number of Sudanese women are migrating with families and independently to work internally in Sudan and abroad (Jaspars & Buchanan-Smith, 2018). Drought, conflict and acute poverty have pushed nomadic pastoralists to settle and diversify their economic activities to animal husbandry, crop-farming, petty trade and wage labor, with women tending to dominate the latter. For over a decade, women of different ages and marital statuses from nomadic pastoralist tribes e.g., the Woya-Fuleb and Rufa'a al Hoi, who traditionally moved with family and tribe to find new grazing lands for cattle, are increasingly engaging in independent seasonal unprotected informal wage work in urban areas, such as Sinia. Most take wage work on demand with tea and food vendors in the dry season from November-August. They perform tasks such as dish washing, fetching water, arranging chairs and tables, serving clients, grinding spices, dried vegetables and coffee; or work at laundries as clothes washers (Osman, 2020).

Rural to urban migration in Sudan has triggered rapid growth of the informal economy, in cities such as Khartoum, which is attracting greater participation of typically poor, unskilled and uneducated women who work in or run subsistence or unofficial enterprises (ILO, 2014). Subsistence work includes femaledominated sectors such as petty trading, home-based activities and women-specific crafts, and traditional food and beverage making for sale. Although less publicly visible than in other African countries, women tend to occupy designated areas within the open marketplace. Restricted mobility, lack of experience and access to credit, and networks keeps women's trading ventures and businesses typically micro or small. Unofficial enterprises may be owned by both poor or wealthy entrepreneurs, and include bakeries, garment and pottery-making. Women seldom participate in apprenticeships (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Sudanese women and girls also migrate to Egypt, other North African countries, and/or onward to Europe with families or singly, especially if they are targets in conflict situations, or impacted by drought and floods. Many move irregularly with third-party assistance, travelling by bus or tediously through the desert between Sudan and Egypt avoiding checkpoints, suffering sexual violence enroute and on-site (Interview with Shaimaa Hassanein, 2021; Shaza Ahmed, 2021).

"The bulk of Sudanese women work in irregular situations in the unprotected low-wage informal economy as domestic workers, babysitters, cleaners in Egypt and other North African countries, or as workers in textile/clothing or plastic factories in Egypt or as small homebased own-account micro-entrepreneurs who produce and sell traditional food, tea, alcohol, traditional clothing, henna and handicrafts. They are also small own-account providers of home-based beauty services: haircutting, styling, dyeing and henna and nail art. Sudanese women without jobs are supported by NGOs, religious charities, or they engage in begging or transactional sex (Interview with Shamaa Hassanein, 2021). Most Sudanese women enter Europe legally with children as part of family reunification, when husbands acquire refugee status, but increasing numbers are migrating into the UK singly for work – often irregularly (Jaspars & Buch-Smith, 2018).

WOMEN'S LARGE SCALE UNPLANNED MOVEMENT TO SAFER RURAL SITES, PERI-URBAN AREAS, LARGE CITIES AND THEIR OUTSKIRTS

Preliminary assessments of Sudan's 2020 floods showed that nearly 1.1 million households with women members and female headed households turned homeless or were displaced. The worst affected among these households were IDPs, refugees, asylum seekers, and women and female headed households belonging to these groups, who were also in a state of severe poverty. According to one estimate, 372.9 thousand of these households affected by severe income poverty were female-headed. Of the households who were forced to move, 790 thousand households were temporarily relocated, and over 123.9 thousand had already relocated or were shortly planning to relocate permanently (Government of Sudan, 2021). Women who were forced to move were reported to have more limited settlement options, and financial difficulties due to job loss (UN News, 2020).

Female-headed households were more likely (8 percent) to migrate than male-headed households (2 percent) in search of alternate livelihoods, although of those already forced to move at the time of the survey, both male- and female-headed households constituted similar proportions (Government of Sudan, 2021).

According to UNFPA, homelessness and displacement reduced privacy, safety and security for women and girls, especially those of reproductive age living in temporary shelters (UN News, 2020). This was particularly when they were menstruating and needed privacy for personal hygiene, or to wash and dry their menstrual cloth padding and underwear. Privacy levels also decreased for women who were nursing babies, or when they were giving birth, or when women had to bathe and defecate Contributing to this lack of privacy, safety and security were the spacing and design of shelters marked by congestion, lack of privacy from outsiders, unsecured doors and inadequate lighting, culturally inappropriate cooking, washing, bathing, sanitation facilities that were either too distant from the site of residence, or too close to male bathing spaces and toilets, or when these facilities were shared with men (Government of Sudan, 2021; UN, 2020). According to UNFPA, pregnant women giving birth would likely experience birth-related complications and need life-saving sexual and reproductive health services (UN News, 2020). Displaced women and girls faced heightened risks of rape, unwanted and high-risk pregnancies and higher exposure to contagious diseases including HIV/AIDS. They had limited access to services threatened by damaged facilities and networks (Government of Sudan, 2021; UN News, 2020).

Flood assessments note that, "condoms, reproductive health kits and midwifery kits, along with reproductive health information are key post-disaster needs for women. Relief packages need to contain supplies for menstrual blood absorption that are in line with what women would normally use (sanitary pads and clean strips of cloth) and should include underwear for women and girls". Given existing social norms, it is preferable that women are involved in relief distribution to women (Government of Sudan, 2021).

Available literature, assessments and related action on climate and disaster risk, impact and resilience building in Sudan in particular did to some extent highlight the priorities of vulnerable people such as older women (and men), women (and men), with chronic ailments and disabilities. But information from Somalia's 2011-2016 drought provides graphic insight - contextual differences notwithstanding.

"Persons with disabilities were often left behind when others fled as they could not move on their own and families often lacked the strength or means to assist them. Even when humanitarian assistance arrived in south central Somalia, surviving persons with disabilities were not reached in time. Local leaders sometimes withheld information about their food allocation entitlements. Where food and humanitarian assistance reached them, as in Beledweyne and Kismayo, they were stolen." The situation was worse for persons with disabilities in IDP camps or those who belonged to minority groups or were separated from families. Women and widows with physically disabilities were more likely to be excluded from distributions compared to men with disabilities. Women and children with disability were more vulnerable to violence due to reduced ability to defend themselves" (Development Initiatives, 2019).

STAY-BEHIND WOMEN FROM MIGRANT HOUSEHOLDS

The on-site situation of stay-behind wives or female relatives of migrant males is mediated by several factors: socio-economic and political status, geographical location (e.g., rural/urban), social norms on gender equality, steady inflow of adequate remittance systems, paid public work, and other socio-economic and legal services, including targeted support services for women and families left behind.

In Jordan, data on stay-behind women from migrant households is rather scarce, but the few studies that exist provide interesting insights. Some key findings of a study of 518 primarily urban Jordanian households with skilled to high skilled husbands migrating to GCC countries and 532 households with resident husbands – both located in the same area included the following: (a) a larger proportion of wives from migrant households shouldered greater workloads after the husband's departure, especially when combining the responsibility for unpaid care work with participation in the labor force; (b) about 52 percent of wives from migrant households decreased the number of social visits to family and friends, as a result of increased workloads; (c) 40 percent of wives from migrant households reported improvement

in spousal relations and 41percent reported no change; (d) schooling outcomes for children were better in migrant households and migrant wives found the husband's migration to be beneficial overall (Khaled, 1995).

Another study of rural households in Jordan with males who migrated to the Gulf States, leaving their wives and families behind, and households with resident males, showed that women's productivity increased with male migration. "Women with largest families are more productive, particularly when they have increased access to basic resources through the higher income provided by male emigration. In a culture with a strong sex-based division of labor, domestic productivity is less affected by loss of male headship than might otherwise be expected" (Basson, 1982).

The following observations emerge in rural Sudan:

"Poor stay-behind rural Sudanese women whose husbands or other male relatives have migrated, hold up household and rural economies. They engage in long hours of unpaid care work, including care of children, and in farm and non-farm work. Their workloads and hardship rises to new heights as they cope with protracted and quick onset climate crises such as flash floods in the absence of husbands, and other male relatives or at times when remittances from male relatives dwindle or stop" (Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2023)

Moreover, cross border movements of Sudanese men (and women) occur in much more precarious circumstances with far more tenuous prospects today than in earlier decades. "The criminalization of cross-border migration into Europe has created new regional and trans-regional routes. These link Sudan to neighboring countries and the Middle East, making Sudan a core transit point for transregional clandestine cross-border migration, but also a destination for migrants and refugees from Ethiopia, Eritrea and Central Africa" (Reumert, 2022). Many Sudanese migrants rely on trafficking and smuggling networks and must use hazardous land (desert) and sea routes voyaging in overcrowded, unsafe vessels, without protective gear to reach destination sites.

Problems for stay-behind Sudanese women are compounded when traffickers demand ransoms coupled with threats to the safety and security of families to force payment, or when male (and female relatives) go missing, die en route or are physically and sexually abused. Women are forced to further diversify sources of income, borrow and fall into debt, or succumb to transactional sex to cope. They also deploy other negative coping strategies such as the sale of alcohol or drugs that endanger their and other lives. In some instances, stay-behind Sudanese women are abandoned by the husband's family and alienated from their rights to family property, including land when their migrant husbands have lost contact with them, divorced them, or have gone missing or died enroute" (Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2023).

GENDERED DIMENSIONS OF GOVERNANCE AND LEADERSHIP IN NORMAL TIMES AND CLIMATE CRISIS

Discriminatory gender stereotypes and skewed gender relations exclude women from leadership and decision-making to varying degrees, at various administrative levels, and in communities and households in Jordan and Sudan. Women rarely hold formal senior decision-making positions on portfolios related to external relations, the economy, planning and finance, agriculture, environment, and migration as these are typically perceived to be the province of male engagement. They tend to hold administrative portfolios at lower levels in government departments under these ministries. Recent developments in Sudan show changes to this.

WOMEN'S REPRESENTATION AT NATIONAL-LEVEL ON CLIMATE AND RELATED PORTFOLIOS

In Jordan (as of October 2022), only three of the thirty (10 percent) listed ministers (including the prime minister), were women. Two held women-stereotyped portfolios (social development and culture),while one was state minister for legal affairs (Government of Jordan, 2022). In Sudan (as of January 2023), four of the fifteen (26.6 percent) cabinet ministers were women. heading the Ministries of Industry, Trade and Supply, Investment and International Co-operation, Labor and Administrative Reform (Alarabiya, 2022). Men held all Jordan's¹⁷ and Sudan's¹⁸ ministerial portfolios that directly dealt with climate change, agriculture and migration and displacement, and related areas.

Per 2021 data, Jordanian women held 12 percent of the seats in the country's national Parliament (World Bank, 2022 h), while in 2018 Sudanese women held 30.5 percent of seats of the national Parliamentary seats (World Bank, n.d.)

THE GENDER-RESPONSIVENESS OF CLIMATE POLICIES, CRISIS RECOVERY PLANNING AND WOMEN'S REPRESENTATION ON THESE POLICY AND PLANNING MECHANISMS

Jordan has been a fore-runner in the Arab region on combating climate change, including from a gender perspective. The country was a signatory to the UNFCCC since 1992, and subsequently acceded to the Kyoto Protocol, Paris Agreement and adopted general and sector-specific climate change policies and strategies in line with its commitment to address climate change. It submitted a statement of commitment to decision 23 at the 18th UNFCC Climate Conference in which it highlighted the challenges in achieving gender parity, challenging gender roles, and identifying barriers to women's participation in different sectors and in decision-making. In 2010, the Ministry of Environment (MoEnv) and the Jordanian National Commission on Women (JNCW), the women's national machinery, developed a gender action plan, entitled "Mainstreaming gender in climate change efforts," "that was sidelined before it was referenced in the climate change policy and endorsed by the Government of Jordan" (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). The plan that aimed to "ensure that climate change efforts in Jordan mainstream gender considerations so that women and men can participate in, contribute and hence optimally benefit from climate change initiatives, programs, policies and funds," (IUCN, 2010) was nevertheless presented

¹⁷ These include Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Expatriates; Defence, Interior; Planning and International Cooperation; Finance; Investment Commission; Agriculture; Industry and Trade and Supply; Labor; Digital Economy and Entrepreneurship; Economic Affairs and State Minister for Public Sector Modernization, Energy and Mineral Resources; Environment; Transport; Water and Irrigation are all headed by males (Government of Jordan, 2022)

¹⁸ These include Ministries of Cabinet Affairs; Foreign Affairs; Urban Development, Roads and Bridges; Agriculture and Forests; Energy and Oil; Irrigation and Water Resources; Communications and Digital Transformation; Health; Religious Affairs and Awqaf; Culture and Information; Youth and Sports (Alarabiya, 2022).

as Jordan's official position on gender and climate change (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). Jordan's Third National Communication in 2014 emphasized that its socio-economic analysis established women's key role in addressing climate change. Investing in and capacitating women to engage in adaptation and mitigation initiatives and strategy development would expedite the realization of results and reduce the inequitable impact on the most vulnerable (Government of Jordan, 2014).

Jordan has also ratified CEDAW, adopted Security Council Resolution 1325 and has endorsed the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action.

Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Jordan's National Climate Change Policy 2013-2020 (JNCCP).

Jordan's National Climate Change Policy 2013-2020 (JNCCP) has been the overarching framework that informs the development of adaptation and mitigation strategies for priority sectors such as water, energy, agriculture, biodiversity, etc. It also voluntarily committed to reducing GHG emission levels to 31 percent by 2030. The policy addresses the disproportionate impact of climate change on vulnerable groups. It also highlights via its objectives the significance of national and sector-based mainstreaming of a gender equality perspective as follows: (a) integrating gender considerations into sectoral and national policies, strategies and action plans; (b) ensuring that financing mechanisms for adaptation and mitigation address the needs of poor women and men equally; (c) enhancing capacity at all levels to ensure effective gender mainstreaming and implementation of gender responsive solutions; (d) information and knowledge sharing to mainstream gender into policies; (e) increasing studies and information to better comprehend gender inequalities and the differential gender impacts, roles and access to resources (f) endorsing sector specific actions to promote gender equality (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

The Government of Jordan has adopted the National Adaptation Plan (2021); the Green Growth Plan, the National Biodiversity Strategy and Plan, and the Aligned National Action Plan to combat Desertification. These complement the JNCCP and support Jordan implement its commitments to the UNFCCC and Paris Agreement, and achieve the NDCs and SDGs.¹⁹ Moreover, the JNCW launched the Jordanian National Strategy for Women (2021-2025) that focusses on gender equality and women's rights across thematic areas. The strategy makes no explicit reference to climate change, but addresses this through actions related to outcome 2 of the strategy viz women developing their full potential and living a life free of discrimination. The relevant actions listed include increasing women's accessibility to "appropriate infrastructure that meets the needs of women, particularly those in rural areas, to access basic public services: electricity, energy, namely renewable energy – sustainable and clean water, sanitation and other basic services related to information technology." (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

¹⁹ These include SDGs on Climate Action (G 13), Clean Water and Sanitation (G 16), Life on Land (G 15), Affordable and Clean Energy (G 7), Zero Hunger (G 2), Good Health and Well-being (G 3) and Gender Equality (G 5)

These are huge steps forward. However, a cursory review shows that the next phase provides huge opportunity to ensure (a) that gender equality and women's rights are comprehensively integrated into priority sectors in terms of concrete actions addressing root causes of vulnerability to climate risks, and concrete actions (adaptation and mitigation) to address immediate gender impacts and imbalances, based on an intersectional approach to gender equality and women's rights; (b) that different groups of women working on different sectoral priorities are fully represented and involved in the development and implementation of the policy and related action plans; and (c) that plans have robust targets, indicators, are costed and have strong budget allocations on climate action for women.

A rapid review of Sudan's National Action Plan on Climate Change 2016 shows for this publication, that it refers to women most specifically in relation to certain states (Kordofan and Eastern States). In both states, it constructs women as part of those groups who are vulnerable to climate change, and whose resilience it seeks to build through adaptation measures. Its specific objective in relation to women viz. enhancing the participation of women and youth in development and environmental conservation (Kordofan) constructs women as subjects and contributors to development. The specific adaptation measures, though strategic, are generically framed for all vulnerable groups. The objective in the Eastern States is to reduce maternal and infant mortality, with clearly identified actions on health improvement. These too are generically constructed (e.g., establishing dispensaries and health care centers; provision of water quality testing). The Eastern States have a program on 'capacity building and women's empowerment components,' that include nine actions. All but one of these were generically presented (e.g., 'capacity building for all stakeholders; establishing early warning stations for meteorological action'). The only action that was specifically targeted at women was 'encouraging the establishment of women cooperative societies'.

These generically framed actions are certainly important entry points to address women's priorities in climate action. However, there is need for more solid analysis of the different realities and priorities of women and men within the general realities for more tailored and effective response to women. The plan referred to an inclusive process of development which it might well have been. However, there was no palpable indication of women's participation from the list of technical committees and stakeholder groups presented, and presents opportunity for inclusion in future.

Post disaster recovery planning is informed by Post-Disaster Needs Assessments, which Sudan has laudably undertaken, including from a gender equality perspective.

SUDAN RAPID POST DISASTER NEEDS AND RECOVERY ASSESSMENT, MARCH 2021

The Government of Sudan with the support of international partners undertook a Rapid Post Disaster Needs and Recovery Assessment (PDNRA) of the 2020 floods - the worst that the country had suffered in 30 years – that hit all 18 states. The PDNRA, a good example of mainstreaming gender equality and women's rights, identified the pre-disaster structural vulnerabilities (socio-economic and political) of women to climate risks and the post hazard impacts across a range of sectors – the economy in general, agriculture, industry, food, water and energy, sanitation, transport, education, health and decision-making. Moreover, the PDNRA also highlighted the impacts and recovery needs of different categories of vulnerable women – small farmers, small herders, landless women, female headed households, pregnant women, older women, women with disabilities, girls and young women. These assessments are important tools that inform recovery and reconstruction plans and programs that are costed and are used to generate international development assistance. Active consultation with different groups of affected women and women's influential representation on recovery/reconstruction planning, programming, finance and budgetary mechanisms at national/local levels, in camps/urban sites to which they have moved, contributes to ensuring that their priorities are addressed. (Government of Sudan, 2021)

WOMEN IN DECISION-MAKING ON ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES IN LOCAL COMMUNITIES

Although Jordanian and Sudanese women hold local knowledge about the environment, men are the primary makers and takers of decisions in community mechanisms on agriculture, energy, water and waste management. If women are represented in these structures, they are not always heard or considered (Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2021; Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). Women from CBOs in Jordan express that they are brought in for donor and other meetings, but their insights and priorities have no effect bearing on outcomes of these meetings. It requires facilitation from projects that women are part of, women's palpable delivery of project results or a solid network behind them to ensure they get heard (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022).

WOMEN AND DECISION-MAKING IN HOUSEHOLDS

National data on household decision-making is difficult to access. Factors mediating such decisionmaking include family/kinship systems, gender-based headship patterns, economic/education levels, geographical location, cultural norms, the significance of issues on which decisions are made. Per 2018 data, 77.8 percent of Jordanian women (15-49 years) participated in decision-making on three issues: own health, major household purchases and visiting family (World Bank, 2022k). Evidence also suggests that in male-centered sex-segregated contexts with functioning male household heads, men dominate major decision-making in households in Jordan and Sudan, especially in rural areas. In Jordan, decisions about women's paid public work or migration including in climate crises are often made by male family members (Shahzadeh, 2021; JICA, 2012). There are also indications that Jordanian men are still the household decision-makers on actions entailing expenditure. This includes, purchasing water tanks and ensuring water availability - even though women make decisions on household water management (Ministry of Environment of Jordan & UNDP, 2022). Despite the critical roles Sudanese women play in agriculture, the control over cash and purchase decisions, whether for production-related goods, consumer goods or other family requirements, is primarily in the hands of men - even when women and girls earn wages in mechanized or large-scale agriculture. In their primary responsibility for unpaid care work, women do make routine decisions relevant to household management. In some cases, this may extend to important decisions related, for instance to health and education (FAO, 2021).



SECTION V. STRUCTURALLY-DETERMINED GENDER-BASED CAPACITIES

V. STRUCTURALLY-DETERMINED GENDER-BASED CAPACITIES

WOMEN'S COPING AND LONGER-TERM ADAPTATION STRATEGIES

Women (and men) across both countries adopt a range of positive and negative coping and longerterm adaptation strategies at household and community levels, in response to acute water scarcity and droughts in Jordan, and to the droughts and floods in Sudan.

During the floods in Sudan, households in a family pooled resources to cover expenses or communities shared available food, water, clothing, shelter with others in greater need. In Jordan's droughts and Sudan's floods women (and men) in many cases depended on remittances from relatives living and working overseas (Fragaszy et al., 2022; Government of Sudan, 2021). Others relied on assistance and relief aid from NGOs, charities, religious institutions, government and the UN. In many cases women temporarily or permanently relocated. Those who were displaced from their homes and were staying with relatives, neighbours or at nearby schools were able to access some drinking water during those days. Some fetched water from less affected areas, conserved water, and boiled water before drinking. Others who could afford it bought water bottles or water distributed by tankers. Women and men often rebuilt homes from new or salvaged material (Government of Sudan, 2021).

In Jordan, women describe a variety of longer-term adaptation practices that they engaged in, including roof planting, overgrazing prevention techniques, greywater re-use for agriculture and home gardening, green poultry-rearing techniques and other innovations related to conservation practices and management of natural resources (UN Women, 2018). In Sudan many women and men built stronger houses than before at elevated levels and with new material as a flood protection measure (Government of Sudan, 2021; Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2021).

However, women (men and families) also adopted more negative coping strategies. In both sites running down savings, borrowing money or taking food on credit and falling into deep debt was widespread (FAO, 2021; Fragaszy et al., 2022; Government of Sudan, 2021). Women sold personal items like jewelry and house effects (Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2021). Women in particular skipped meals (Interview with Siddig Ahmed, 2022). They changed their dietary composition to increase carbohydrates, and rationed food among household members. Some had no alternative but to drink unsafe water, share neighbors' toilet facilities, use toilets too early or too late at night, or shift to open defecation (Government of Sudan, 2021). Distress sales of productive assets like land and livestock were common. Crises like these tend to cause an increase in the incidence of precarious child labor, and child marriage, especially of girls, as a means of economic survival and of ensuring their 'protection'. Women with no wherewithal are often forced into begging, sale of alcohol and drugs, and transactional sex to earn a living (Interview with Shaza Ahmed, 2021).

SECTION VI. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ACTION



VI. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ACTION

Against this background, governments and other relevant stakeholders need to ensure that the climate, migration and development priorities of affected women are integrated synergistically into policies, strategies and programs on climate mitigation and adaptation, labor migration, development and humanitarian response. This demands a whole of government and society approach that widens the stakeholder base across these thematic fields to ensure coherence and amplified impact. This includes practitioners on gender and development, climate adaptation and mitigation, DRR, agricultural and urban development, and humanitarian response. Women from these stakeholder groups and affected groups of women must be effectively represented at all stages of policy, strategy, program design and implementation, so that their practical and strategic climate and migration priorities are well addressed with engendered targets, indicators, budgets, monitoring/evaluation, and accountability mechanisms. It is critical to invest in:

- 1. Gender-responsive impact reviews of climate crises, post-disaster needs assessments, response/ recovery packages, plans, programs, and migration and development policies/programs. This helps guide investment priorities of affected women at scale, taking account of their intersecting inequalities.
- 2. Gender-responsive budgeting for women affected by climate risk, to ensure that fiscal policies advance gender equality in immediate response and long-term recovery via law, fiscal policy design, budgetary and financial management processes. Moreover, all climate financing mechanisms, including private sector mechanisms must have gender benchmarks on climate financing.
- 3. Building women's resilience to climate-sensitive agriculture & to migration for survival via climate and agricultural policies, strategies and programs. In line with relevant international human rights frameworks (CEDAW, SDGS, UNFCCC, the Paris Agreement, SFDRR and the GCM), and national priorities and initiatives, governments should mainstream the priorities of the target groups of women into National Development Plans, and sectoral frameworks: climate and related agricultural development policies, strategies and programs as follows:
- Analyze the structural drivers/impacts of climate risks in agriculture including migration for survival on non-migrant women, migrant women including returnees, stay behind women from migrant households, especially the most vulnerable women in these groups;
- Enhance these women's productivity, wages, climate-resilience in agriculture via improved access to:
 - asset ownership (independent/joint ownership of land/livestock) underpinned by social norm change and good legal and programmatic reform;
 - climate-sensitive information: climate variations, hazard warnings, household/ community preparedness ensuring reach to older women and those with disabilities etc.;
 - climate-resilient infrastructure, production technologies, inputs (drought/flood resistant seeds, changes in crops/cropping patterns/livestock, renewable energy-driven agriculture, robust embankments, stilt-housing, mangrove plantations etc.), sustainable soil, water, energy management practices and extension services;
 - innovative finance for poor women and access to marketing;
- Enhance these women's businesses in the green economy (e.g., non-traditional water resources and renewal clean energy), based on feasibility studies, and through improved education and business skills tailored to identified sectors, and through access to capital, technology, inputs and laws responsive to women's businesses;

- Support these women to invest savings/remittances in climate-resilient agriculture and green entrepreneurship;
- Reduce these women's care work in normal times and in climate crises via access to time, labor-saving, renewable energy-driven domestic and agricultural technologies and child-care infrastructure;
- Ensure inclusive risk assessment, evacuation planning/assistance, construction of flood/cyclone shelters responsive to these women, children, and particularly pregnant women, older women, women with chronic ailments and disabilities;
- Ensure these women's participation in household, community (water and land committees), local government decision-making in 'normal' times and in climate-crisis response and recovery;
- Enhance these women's and girls' access to education, healthcare, and services to prevent and protect them from violence, including through access to effective formal and informal justice mechanisms;
- 4. Empowering women in planned international migration via labor migration policies
- Generate labor market data and analysis for national and migrant women (men) by sector, occupation, education, skill and wage level, disaggregated by sex, age, nationality at minimum;
- Provide pre-departure, post-arrival, on-return information to migrant women workers on the following: labor market demand and employability; policies, mechanisms, services on recruitment, entry, work, residence, return and their use on entitlements, protection, available remedies and access to them; and on protection measures in climate crises in host sites, and on return. Tailor content to women's work sectors in migration corridors in accessible communication formats, at suitable sites and times;
- Create decent green jobs governed by labor laws in line with ILO/CEDAW standards, including for domestic workers, with strong wage, social security, enforcement and accountability provisions;
- Ensure job skills matching and mobility via co-ordination between sites of origin and destination, and ethical, accountable recruitment for all, especially low- skilled migrant women workers;
- > Promote legal migration for poor migrant women by liberalizing emigration/immigration policies;
- Enhance social protection (pensions, health insurance etc) for poor migrant/local women in the informal economy and out of the labor market and child-care and other support services to those left behind, including in climate crises;
- > Include all migrant women in anti-violence laws, access to services including healthcare and justice;
- Change gendered, racist social norms and behavior and provide long-term alternatives to detention viz. regularization, safe, non-custodial community housing and safe, paid, dignified return in case of deportation;
- Ensure woman-friendly socio-economic, legal, psychological reintegration for returnees in normal times and on return from climate-crisis affected host countries;

PROTECTING MIGRANT WOMEN IN CLIMATE CRISIS IN HOST COUNTRIES VIA MIGRATION POLICIES

- Generate and share data on impacts of climate crises on migrant women in host sites;
- Identify and include them and their priorities in preparedness and response plans, in host sites based on non-discriminatory protection and humanitarian assistance. This should include timely information and warnings on crisis risks, evacuation, entitlement to food, healthcare, shelter, links to consular services, extended time to renew expired documents or apply for duplicates if lost, status regularization and redress mechanisms;
- Facilitate job protection and mobility in host sites; safe, paid voluntary return home; support to claim outstanding wages and assets left in destination sites; re-employment and safe remigration options to destination countries;

5. Empowering women in planned/unplanned internal movement to urban sites via urban policies

Protracted large unplanned movement to new sites is fraught with risk, as is much planned urban migration where women (men) migrants live in poverty and insecurity in slums. However, many often prefer to remain in these sites. Governments and partners must provide durable solutions:

- Consult with women (and men) who have moved in unplanned/planned ways into urban slums, spontaneous settlements on urban outskirts so as to understand their future plans; and ensure that women in new sites and in host communities participate in planning and implementing durable solutions;
- Support local integration through national/local policies, strategies and laws backed by strong enforcement mechanisms. This must include formal/informal settlements in green urban development plans, and provide security of land and housing to women and men residents in slums, shanties and urban outskirts. This should be aligned with UN Guidelines on Internal Displacement and Forced Evictions, in ways that benefit host and migrant communities;
- Provide decent green jobs and develop women's businesses via public-private partnerships; improve access to education, essential public good/services, care services for women earning low incomes;
- Enact/amend anti-violence as needed laws with strong enforcement and comprehensive services for all women and girls including access to justice in new sites;
- 6. Engendering humanitarian response to women's large scale unplanned movement & to 'stayers' in affected home sites in line with Sphere and Core Humanitarian Standards on Quality and Accountability.

National, local governments and humanitarian actors must provide safer conditions for aid distribution in the following ways:

- Inform women of rules governing spontaneous settlements/camps, aid distribution modalities, help in safe aid access and facilitate equitable intra-household resource-sharing;
- Increase the numbers of women enumerators, analysts, aid distributors, service providers, decisionmakers in government and humanitarian organizations working in partnership with women's organizations;
- > Ensure that aid items suit women's and girls' needs, and provide cash and decent work for women;
- > Improve site security: proximal, well-lit, secure, sex-segregated toilets/baths, waterpoints, shelter;

- Strengthen services for women/children: general health, sexual/reproductive and maternal health and responses to violence against women/children through service mapping, awareness-raising, safe referrals, better medical services, trauma counselling, and legal services;
- Engage men and boys in community dialogue to respond to their challenges, and engage them in preventing gender-based violence, including through informal justice mechanisms;
- Ensure women's representation in management and decision-making in new settlements and affected homesites. Support women leaders to identify the most vulnerable women's and girls' priorities, to link them to relevant services and to catalyze community mitigation measures.

REFERENCES

- → Abdulla, F. (2020). 21st century climate change projections of precipitation and temperature in Jordan. Procedia Manufacturing, 44, 197-204. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>S235197892030809X</u>
- → Abu-Rumman, G., Khdair, A. I., & Khdair, S. I. (2020). Current status and future investment potential in renewable energy in Jordan: An overview. *Heliyon*, 6(2), e03346. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/</u> <u>articles/PMC7033324/</u>
- → Adams, B., & Luchsinger, G. (2009). *Climate justice for a changing planet: A primer for policy makers and NGOs*. UN, Non-Governmental Liaison Office. <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/672521?ln=en</u>
- → Ahmad, N. (2011, January 18). *Gender and climate change: Myth vs. reality.* World Bank Blogs. <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/endpovertyinsouthasia/gender-and-climate-change-myth-vs-reality</u>
- → Ahmed, A. E., Imam, N. A., & Siddig, K. H. (2012). Women as a key to agriculture and food security in Sudan: The case study of Northern Kordofan State. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*. B, 2(5B), 614. <u>http://khartoumspace.uofk.edu/items/7324adc3-9d6b-48a3-b617-23558a4d2353</u>
- → Akinwotu, E. (2020, November 27). Sudan says it will stamp out child marriage and enforce ban on FGM. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2020/nov/27/sudan-says-it-will-stamp-out-child-marriage-and-enforce-ban-on-fgm</u>
- → Alarabiya. (2022, January 21). Sudan...Al-Borham names 15 ministers in new government. https://www.alarabiya.net/arab-and-world/sudan/2022/01/20/%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B3%D9%88
 %D8%AF%D8%A7%D9%86-%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%A8%D8%B1%D9%87%D8%A7%D9%86 %D9%8A%D8%B3%D9%85%D9%8A-15-%D9%88%D8%B2%D9%8A%D8%B1%D8%A7 %D9%81%D9%8A-%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%AD%D9%83%D9%88%D9%85%D8%A9-%D8%A7%D9%88
 4%D8%AC%D8%AF%D9%8A%D8%AF%D8%A9
- → Al-Khayyat, D. (2021, March 21). Jordan receives a \$25 million grant to enhance climate change adaptation. https://jordan.un.org/ar/node/122751
- → Al-Ansari, N., Alibrahiem, N., Alsaman, M., & Knutsson, S. (2014). Water supply network losses in Jordan. *Journal of Water Resource and Protection*, 6(2), 83-96. <u>https://www.scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=42881</u>
- → Al-Hinti, I., & Al-Sallami, H. (2017). Potentials and Barriers of Energy Saving in Jordan's Residential Sector through Thermal Insulation. *Jordan Journal of Mechanical & Industrial Engineering*, 11(3).
- → Al-Jedaiah, M. N. (2021). The role of forced migration in changing the workforce diversity structure and performance standards: The case of Jordan. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 14(12), 176-176.
- ➡ Al Nawafleh, A. H. (2015). Managing Jordanian nurse migration to the Gulf Cooperation Council states. EMHJ-Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal, 21(3), 220-225. <u>https://www.emro.who.int/emhj-volume-21-2015/volume-21-issue-3/managing-jordanian-nurse-migration-to-the-gulf-cooperationcouncil-states.html</u>
- → Al-Rimawi, A. S. (2002). The role of Jordanian women farmers in livestock production with implications to agricultural extension education. *Journal of International Agricultural and Extension Education*, 9(1), 11-19.
- → Anton, P., & Curtis, L. (2017). Livelihoods of small-scale fishers along the Nile River in Sudan. Cairo, FAO Regional Office for Near East and North Africa [cited 12 August 2020]. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-i7413e.</u> pdf
- → ArabiaWeather. (2022, August 3). Jordan | The heat wave peaked Thursday and Friday, coinciding with a limited state of air instability in the south and east of the Kingdom. <u>https://www.arabiaweather.com/en/content/jordan-the-heat-wave-peaked-thursday-and-friday-coinciding-with-a-limited-state-of-air-instability-in-the-south-and-east-of-the-kingdom</u>
- → Arab Renaissance for Democracy and Development (ARDD). (2021). *Redistributing care work in Jordan: Enacting policy reforms*. Women Advocacy Issues – Volume 4. UN Women. <u>https://jordan.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2022-01/Redistributing%20Care%20Work%20in%20Jordan%20-%20</u> <u>Enacting%20Policy%20Reforms_ENG.pdf</u>
- → Arabtech Jardaneh. (2020). Mid-Term Evaluation Report for Jordan's Adaptation Fund Program "Increasing the Resilience of Poor and Vulnerable Communities to Climate Change Impacts in Jordan through Implementing Innovation Projects in Water and Agriculture in Support of Adaptation to Climate Change". <u>https://mop.gov.jo/ebv4.o/root_storage/en/eb_list_page/mid-term_evaluation_report for climate change adaptation_program.pdf</u>
- → Araji, S. K., & Carlson, J. (2001). Family Violence Including Crimes of Honor in Jordan: Correlates and Perceptions of Seriousness. *Violence Against Women*, 7(5), 586–621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10778010122182613</u>
- → Augustin, E., Assad, R., & Jaziri, D. (2012). Women empowerment for improved research in agricultural development, innovation and knowledge transfer in the West Asia/ North Africa Region. AARINENA, EC and GAP. <u>https://www.empowerwomen.org/en/resources/documents/2013/9/women-empowerment-for-improved-research-in-agricultural-development-innovation-and-knowledge-transfer-in-the-west-asia-north-africa-region</u>
- → Babar, Z. R. (2014). Mobility and Migration from the Southern Mediterranean States to the GCC. IEMed Mediterranean Yearbook 2014, 316-318. <u>https://www.iemed.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/</u> Mobility-and-Migration-from-the-Southern-Mediterranean-States-to-the-GCC.pdf
- ➡ Babiker, M. A. (2010). Legal Framework of Migration in Sudan. Migration Policy Centre, CARIM-South, CARIM Analytic and Synthetic Notes, 2010/78, Mediterranean and Sub-Saharan Migration: Recent Developments Series - <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1814/15582</u>. Cadmus, EUI Research Repository.
- ➡ Babiker, M. A. (2011). Gender and Migration in Sudan. CARIM Analytic and Synthetic Notes, 2011/27, Gender and Migration Series. Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, San Domenico di Fiesole (FI): European University Institute. <u>https://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/16200</u>
- → Baldwin-Edwards, M. (2005). Migration in the middle east and mediterranean: a paper prepared for the policy analysis and research programme of the global commission on international migration. University Research Institute for Urban Environment and Human Resources, Mediterranean Migration Observatory. <u>https://www.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl486/files/jahia/webdav/site/myjahiasite/ shared/shared/mainsite/policy_and_research/gcim/rs/RS5.pdf</u>
- → Barton, A. and G. Writer (2012). *Water in crisis spotlight on Sudan*. The Water Project. <u>http://</u><u>thewaterproject.org/water-in-crisissudan.asp</u>
- → Basson, P. (1982). Domestic productivity in male and female headed households of rural Jordan. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, 12(2), 75-78.

- → Bataineh, A., & Zecca, F. (2017). Challenges and potential of future agricultural development in Jordan: Role of education and entrepreneurship. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 5(3 S1), 11.
- ➡ Bigas, H. (2013). Water security and the global water agenda: A UN Water analytical brief. United Nations University. <u>https://www.unwater.org/sites/default/files/app/uploads/2017/05/analytical_brief_oct2013_web.pdf</u>
- ➡ Bhuiyan, M. H. (2013). Improving women's odds in disasters. World Bank. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2013/12/12/improving-women-disasters#:~:text=In%201970%2C%20before%20</u> early%20warning,estimated%20300%2C000%20victims%20in%20Bangladesh.
- → Cadri Partnership. (2017). *Capacity assessment of the disaster risk management system in Jordan*. <u>https://www.cadri.net/system/files/2021-06/Jordan-DRR-Capacity-Assessment-Report-2017.pdf</u>
- → Carry, I. (2019). Climate change, water security, and national security for Jordan, Palestine, and Israel.
 EcoPeace Middle East, Amman, Ramallah, Tel Aviv. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/occupied-palestinian-territory/climate-change-water-security-and-national-security-jordan</u>
- → CenterforDisasterPhilanthropy.(n.d).*Insightissue:PeoplewithDisabilities*.<u>https://disasterphilanthropy.org/issue-insight/people-with-disabilities/</u>
- → Charles, A., Kalikoski, D. & Macnaughton, A. (2019). Addressing the climate change and poverty nexus: a coordinated approach in the context of the 2030 agenda and the Paris agreement. Rome. FAO
- ➡ Cleveland Clinic. (2018, November 29). Drink up: Dehydration is an often overlooked health risk for seniors. <u>https://health.clevelandclinic.org/drink-up-dehydration-is-an-often-overlooked-health-risk-for-seniors/</u>
- → Cohen, S., Demeritt, D., Robinson, J., & Rothman, D. (1998). Climate change and sustainable development: towards dialogue. *Global environmental change*, 8(4), 341-371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-3780(98)00017-X</u>
- → Combaz, E. (2019). Jordan's environmental policies and engagement on climate change. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5d30a131ed915d2ff003b781/619__Jordan_Environment_Policies_and_Engagemt.pdf</u>
- ➡ Commission on Climate Change and Development. (2009). Closing the gaps: Disaster risk reduction and adaptation to climate change in developing countries. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/closing-gaps-disaster-risk-reduction-and-adaptation-climate-change-developing-countries</u>
- → Dabanga. (2015, December 1). Sudanese refugees in Jordan living rough. <u>https://www.dabangasudan.</u> <u>org/en/all-news/article/sudanese-refugees-in-jordan-living-rough</u>
- → Dahiyat, I. (2022, October 19). Unlocking climate finance and investments in Jordan. <u>https://jordantimes.</u> <u>com/opinion/iyad-dahiyat/unlocking-climate-finance-and-investments-jordan</u>
- → David, A., & Marouani, M. A. (2013, December). The labor mobility-employment nexus: A general equilibrium analysis for Jordan. *In Workshop Paper N° 824, Economic Research Forum.*
- David, A., & Nilsson, B. (2021). Migration and rural development in NENA countries. Region et Developpement, Region et Developpement, LEAD, 53, 147-165. <u>https://regionetdeveloppement.univ-tln.</u> <u>fr/wp-content/uploads/7_David-Note-et-doc-formate.pdf</u>
- ➡ Department of Statistics (DOS). (2018). Statistical Yearbook 2018. No. 69. Government of Jordan. Amman, Jordan. <u>http://dosweb.dos.gov.jo/products/jordan-statistical-yearbook-2018-2/.</u>

- → Development Strategy and Policy Analysis Unit. (2015). Multidimensional Poverty Development Issues No. 3. 21 October 2015. <u>https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/wess/wess_dev_issues/ dsp_policy_03.pdf</u>
- ➡ D'Cunha, J. (1997, November). Engendering disaster preparedness and management. Asian Disaster Preparedness Center (ADPC). Asian Disaster Management News 3(3), <u>http://www.adpc.net/infores/newsletter/1997/theme-3.html</u>
- ➡ D'Cunha, J. (2019, 3-6 November). Gender, climate change and migration. [Conference Presentation] Representing UN Women ROAS on panel on climate change impacts on vulnerable communities organized by Arab Water Council and League of Arab States, at Arab Sustainable Development Week 2019, Cairo, Egypt.
- → D'Cunha. J. (2023). Gender and Climate-related Migration: Building Women's Economic and Social Resilience to Climate Risk and Migration for Survival in Bangladesh and Yemen (forthcoming) UN Women Regional Office for Arab States and Women's Development Organization (WDO), Organization of Islamic Co-operation Countries (OIC).
- → Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GIZ). (2015). *Climate change governance in Jordan: Towards policy and institutional coordination*. <u>https://www.greengrowthknowledge.org/national-documents/climate-change-governance-jordan-towards-policy-and-institutional-coordination</u>
- → Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH & Central Bank of Jordan. (2017). Financial inclusion diagnostic study in Jordan. <u>https://www.cbj.gov.jo/EchoBusv3.o/SystemAssets/</u> PDFs/2018/Financial%20Inclusion%20Diagnostic%20Study%20in%20Jordan%202017.pdf
- ➡ Development Initiatives. (2019). Towards an Improved Understanding of Vulnerability and Resilience in Somalia. <u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Report_Towards-an-improved-understanding-of-vulnerability-and-resilience-in-Somalia.pdf</u>
- ➡ El-Mallakha, N., & Wahba, J. (2021). Syrian refugees and the migration dynamics of Jordanians: Moving in or moving out? Economic Research Forum. <u>https://erf.org.eg/publications/syrian-refugees-and-the-migration-dynamics-of-jordanians-moving-in-or-moving-out/</u>
- → EM-DAT. (2014). Summarized Table of Natural Disasters in Jordan from 1900 to 2009. From "El-Omari, N., Alzaghal, M., Sameh, G.(2015). ICT and Emergency Volunteering in Jordan: Current and Future Trends. Computer Science and Information Technology, 3(4), 105 112. DOI: 10.13189/csit.2015.030402.
- → EM-DAT. (2022). Natural disasters: Sudan. (1990-2022). Retrieved December 6, 2022 from: EM-DAT, CRED / UCLouvain, Brussels, Belgium.
- → Fanack. (2020). *Population of Jordan*. <u>https://fanack.com/jordan/population-of-jordan/</u>
- ➡ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2004). Agriculture, Land and Water Use Commission for the Near East (ALUWAC), Third Session: Progress Achieved in Developing Strategies for Drought Mitigation and Preparedness Planning in the Near East Region. Doha, 9-11 March. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/as982e/as982e.pdf</u>
- → Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2005). *Breaking ground: Present and future perspectives for women in agriculture*. <u>https://edepot.wur.nl/25639</u>
- → Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), The International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), & International Labour Organization (ILO). (2010). *Gender dimensions*

of agricultural and rural employment: Differentiated pathways out of poverty. Status, trends and gaps. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/gender-dimensions-agricultural-and-rural-employment-differentiated-pathways-out-pover-o</u>

- ➡ Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), United Nations Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF), World Food Programme (WFP) and World Health Organization (WHO). (2018). The state of food security and nutrition in the world: Building climate resilience for food security and nutrition. FAO, Rome. <u>https://www.wfp.org/publications/2018state-food-security-and-nutrition-world-sofi-report.</u>
- → Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2020). *The Sudan 2020 flood response* overview. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/cb1386en/cb1386en.pdf</u>
- ➡ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) & Government of Sudan. (2020). The Sudan 2020 flood impact rapid assessment. Khartoum: FAO. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/cb1463en/cb1463en.pdf</u>
- → Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2021). (ensuring gender and assessment are lower-case): Country Gender Assessment of the agriculture and rural sector: The Republic of the Sudan. Rome. <u>https://doi.org/10.4060/cb7042en</u>
- → FGD with women migrants in Sudan, facilitated by NGO NADA Al-Azhar Organization, 30 August, 2021.
- Fragaszy, S., Fraj, M. B., McKee, M., Jobbins, G., Al-Karablieh, E., Bergaoui, K., Ghanim, A., Lawrenson, L., & McDonnell, R. (2022). *MENAdrought synthesis of drought vulnerability in Jordan: Final report*. Project report prepared by the International Water Management Institute (IWMI) for the Bureau for the Middle East of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). Washington, DC, USA: USAID; Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute (IWMI). 93p. <u>https://doi.org/10.5337/2021.231</u>
- → Fraj, B.M., Mahmoudi, H., Soppe, R., Al-Naber, S., Ababneh, J. (2018). Preliminary results of the farms baseline survey in Azraq and Mafarq. USAID/Jordan Water Innovation Technologies (WIT) (Ghaith). https://jordankmportal.com/resources/preliminary-results-of-the-farms-baseline-survey-in-azraqand-mafarq
- ➡ Fry, D., Mackay, K., Kurdi, Z., Casey, T. (2019). A qualitative study on the underlying social norms and economic causes that lead to child marriage in Jordan. UNICEF, University of Edinburgh & Analyseize for the Higher Population Council. <u>https://www.unicef.org/jordan/media/1796/file/Jordan-Reports.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- → Gadallah, N. A. (2018). Assessment of Sudan forest management policies and practices in relation to deforestation and forest degradation drivers in Tozi and Wad Al-Bashir forests. *Pan African University, Life and Earth Sciences Institute, Nigeria*.
- → Garthwaite, J. (2021, March 29). Stanford study reveals a deepening water crisis in Jordan and a way forward. https://news.stanford.edu/2021/03/29/jordans-worsening-water-crisis-warning-world/
- Gender Centre for Research & Studies. (2009). Gender and access to resources: the case of Nuba Mountains Area, South Kordofan. Khartoum
- Green Climate Fund (GCF). (2021). Gender assessment. FP155: Building resilience to cope with climate change in Jordan through improving water use efficiency in the agriculture sector (BRCCJ). <u>https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/fp155-gender-assessment.pdf</u>

- Government of Jordan. (2014). Submission of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan to the Decision 23/ CP.18. <u>https://unfccc.int/files/documentation/submissions_and_statements/application/pdf/cop_gender_jordan_02092013.pdf</u>
- → Government of the Netherlands. (2019). *Climate change profile: Jordan*. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/jordan/climate-change-profile-jordan</u>
- → Government of Sudan. (2021). Sudan rapid post-disaster needs and recovery assessment (rapid PDNRA). <u>https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/Sudan_RPDNRA-English_HighRes.pdf</u>
- Government of Sudan. (2022). Sudan's voluntary national report for the mid-term review of the implementation of the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 (MTR SF). <u>https://www.preventionweb.net/publication/sudan-voluntary-national-report-mtr-sf</u>
- → Hagood, A. (2020). Jordan's climate-related security risks: A challenge to achieving the 2030 agenda.
 UNDP. <u>https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/oslo_governance_centre/</u> a7ca1d10b5c97a5a7e8505469f299eb81d6a8df2472aa24d92aadb6a15e2cb4e.pdf
- → Hammouda, A. A. (1980). Jordanian Emigration: An Analysis of Migration Data. *International Migration Review*, 14(3), 357–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/019791838001400303</u>
- → Hayes, A. (Host) (2022, August 5). Gini Index. *The Investopedia Express Podcast*. <u>https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/gini-index.asp</u>
- → Help Age International. (2000). Older people in disasters and humanitarian crises: Guidelines for best practice. <u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/4124b9f44.html</u>
- → Help Age International. (2019). *Age inclusive disaster risk reduction: A toolkit*. <u>https://www.preventionweb.net/files/68082_ageinclusivedisasterriskreductionat.pdf</u>
- ➡ High Council for Environment and Natural Resources (HCNER) Republic of Sudan. (2021). Sudan's updated first NDC, Interim submission. <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/Sudan%20</u> Updated%20First%20NDC-Interim%20Submission.pdf
- → Hoerling, M., Eischeid, J., Perlwitz, J., Quan, X., Zhang, T., & Pegion, P. (2012). On the increased frequency of Mediterranean drought. *Journal of climate*, 25(6), 2146-2161. <u>https://journals.ametsoc.org/configurable/content/journals\$002fclim\$002f25\$002f6\$002fjcli-d-11-00296.1.xml?t%3Aac=journals%24002fclim%24002f5%24002f6%24002fjcli-d-11-00296.1.xml&tab_body=abstract-display
 </u>
- → Homebiogas. (n.d). Bringing homebiogas to vulnerable communities in Jordan. <u>https://www.homebiogas.com/blog/bringing-homebiogas-to-vulnerable-communities-in-jordan/</u>
- → Ibnouf, F.O. (2009). The role of women in providing and improving household food security in Sudan: implications for reducing hunger and malnutrition. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 10(4):144-167. <u>https://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol10/iss4/10</u>
- ➡ Ibnouf, F. O. (2011). Challenges and possibilities for achieving household food security in the Western Sudan region: the role of female farmers. *Food Security*, 3(2), 215-231. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12571-011-0118-3</u>
- → Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC). (2021). Sudan profile. <u>https://www.internal-displacement.org/countries/sudan</u>

- ➡ International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) & Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2007). *The status of rural poverty in the Near East and North Africa*. Rome: IFAD and FAO. <u>https://www.fao.org/publications/card/en/c/7855bf6b-2111-4coc-abba-b2fb81b093cd/</u>
- ➡ International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). (2013). Enabling the rural poor to overcome poverty in Jordan. <u>https://www.ifad.org/en/web/knowledge/-/publication/enabling-the-rural-poor-to-overcome-poverty-in-jord-1</u>
- → Ille, E., & Steel, G. (2021). *Khartoum: City scoping study*. African Cities Research Consortium. <u>https://</u> www.african-cities.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/ACRC_Khartoum_City-Scoping-Study.pdf
- → International Labour Organization (ILO). (2014). A roadmap toward a national employment policy for Sudan. <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/docs/WCMS_334878/lang--en/index.htm</u>
- → International Labour Organization (ILO). (2017). Work Permits and Employment of Syrian Refugees in Jordan: Towards Formalising the Work of Syrian Refugees. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/</u> public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/documents/publication/wcms_559151.pdf
- → International Labour Organization (ILO). (2020). An assessment of labour migration and mobility governance in the IGAD region: Country report for Sudan. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/</u>public/---africa/---ro-abidjan/---sro-addis_ababa/documents/publication/wcms_743322.pdf
- → Institute for Women>s Studies in the Middle East. (2022). *Jordan gender profile. Women>s Knowledge Digital Library.* <u>https://womensdigitallibrary.org/items/show/59</u>
- ➡ International Organization for Migration (IOM). (2008). *Migration and climate change*. IOM migration and climate change series. No 32. <u>https://www.iom.int/news/iom-migration-research-series-no-31-migration-and-climate-change</u>
- → International Organization for Migration (IOM). (2011). *Migration in Sudan: A country profile*. <u>https://publications.iom.int/books/migration-sudan-country-profile-2011</u>
- → International Organization for Migration (IOM). (2022). *Who is a Migrant?* <u>https://www.iom.int/who-is-a-migrant</u>.
- → International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. (2021). *Diagnostic report: Emergency* preparedness and response capacities in Sudan. <u>https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/Sudan</u> <u>EPR_Report.pdf</u>
- ➡ International Rescue Committee. (2018). Still in search of work Creating job for Syrian refugees: An update on the Jordan compact. <u>https://www.rescue.org/report/still-search-work-creating-jobs-syrian-refugees-update-jordan-compact</u>
- → International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA). (2021). *Renewable readiness assessment: The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan*. International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi. <u>https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2021/Feb/IRENA_RRA_Jordan_2021.pdf</u>
- → Interview with Dr. Abeer Al-Banawah, Expert Researcher Projects Director & Consultant for the D.G. for Environment and Water Issues. National Agricultural Research Center (NARC), 3 June 2021
- → Interview with Ahmed Hussein Al-Gharaghir, farming community member, 23 April, 2021
- → Interview with Dina Safarini, Advocacy Officer, Tamkeen Legal Aid, 2021.
- → Interview with Fatima Muhammad Lotfi Al-Hayagna, farming community member, 28 April, 2021

- → Interview with Mohamed Talafha, Water Engineer, Jordan, 17 June 2021.
- → Interview with Samira Mahmoud Karim Al-Diyat, farming community member, 1 May, 2021
- → Interview with Shaza Ahmed, Executive Director, Nada Al-Azhar Organization, Sudan, 26 January 2023.
- → Interview with Dr. Siddig Ahmed, Former UNESCO Chair of Water Resources, Sudan, 2 June 2021; 12 December, 2022.
- → International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). (2010). *Programme for mainstreaming gender in climate change efforts in Jordan*. IUCN, the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, the GGCA. <u>https://genderandenvironment.org/jordan-ccgap/</u>
- → Jaspers, S. & Buchanan-Smith, M. (2018). Dafuri Migration from Sudan to Europe: From Displacement to Disaster. A Joint Study by Research and Evidence Facility (REF)and Humanitarian Policy Group (Humanitarian Policy Group). <u>https://ec.europa.eu/trustfundforafrica/sites/default/files/darfur</u> web.pdf
- → Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA). (2012). *The Republic of Sudan: Country gender profile*. <u>https://www.jica.go.jp/activities/issues/gender/reports/ku57pq00002hdvy2-att/sud_2012_en.pdf</u>
- → Jordan Investment Commission. (2019). *Industry: Sector profile*. <u>https://www.moin.gov.jo/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Industry-Sector-Profile-24-4.pdf</u>
- → Kishan, K. & Gitonga, S. (2018). Energy for crisis recovery: Solar solutions for crisis-affected communities in the Arab region. United Nations Development Programme, Regional Hub for Arab States. <u>https://</u> www.researchgate.net/publication/346913148_Energy_for_Crisis_Recovery_Solar_Solutions_for_ Crisis-Affected_Communities_in_the_Arab_Region_Energy_for_Crisis_Recovery_Solar_Solutions_ for_Crisis-Affected_Communities_in_the_Arab_Region_Region_Regional_Pol
- ➡ Kelman, I., Gaillard, J.C., Lewis, H., & Mercer, J. (2016). Learning from the history of disaster vulnerability and resilience research and practice for climate change. *Natural Hazards*, Vol 82; pp129-143. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2294-0</u>
- → Khaled, L. (1995). Migration and women>s status: the Jordan case. *International migration (Geneva, Switzerland),* 33(2), 235-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.1995.tboo027.x</u>
- → Klein, G. (2018, December 9). *Top 10 facts about girls education in Jordan*. The Borgen Project. <u>https://</u> <u>borgenproject.org/top-10-facts-about-girls-education-in-jordan/</u>
- → Krampe, E. (2020). Syria, Palestine, and Jordan: Case studies in water scarcity, conflict, and migration. Maneto Undergraduate Research Journal, 3(1). <u>https://tuljournals.temple.edu/index.php/maneto/article/view/317</u>
- → Letsara, N., & Jmal, Y. (2018). Sudan poverty profile: Summary results of the 2014-2015 national baseline household budget survey. African Development Bank Group. <u>https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/</u> uploads/afdb/Documents/Publications/Brief-Sudan Poverty Profile 2014-2015 - Key Findings.pdf
- → Mahgoub, F. (2014). Current status of agriculture and future challenges in Sudan. Nordiska Afrikainstitutet, Current African Issues, 57.
- → Metz, H.C., ed. (1989). Jordan: A country study. Washington: GPO for the Library of Congress, 1989. <u>https://countrystudies.us/jordan/36.htm</u>

- → Mercy Corps. (2014). Tapped out: Water scarcity and refugee pressures in Jordan. <u>https://www.mercycorps.org/sites/default/files/2019-11/MercyCorps_TappedOut_JordanWaterReport_March204.pdf</u>
- → McLeman, R., & Smit, B. (2006). Migration as an adaptation to climate change. *Climatic change*, 76(1), 31-53.
- → Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (2014). Study on gender roles in food security in Sudan (in Arabic). Khartoum.
- → Ministry of Environment of Jordan. (2016). The national climate change policy of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan 2013-2020: Sector strategic guidance framework. Supported by Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). <u>https://globalnaps.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/08/climate-change-policy-of-jordan.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Human Resources, Development and Labour. (2013). Sudan labour force Survey 2011. Khartoum.
- → Mixed Migration Platform (MMP). (2017). Displaced minorities. Part I: Migration and displacement trends of Somali, Sudanese, and Yemeni refugees and other migrants in Jordan. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/jordan/displaced-minorities-part-i-migration-and-displacement-trends-somali-sudanese-and</u>
- → Ministry of Environment, Natural Resources, and Physical Department of Sudan. (2016). National Adaptation Plan. <u>https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/NAPC/Documents%20NAP/National%20Reports/</u> <u>Sudan%20NAP.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Environment (MoEnv), Jordan. (2021a). National climate change adaptation plan of Jordan. <u>http://www.moenv.gov.jo/ebv4.o/root_storage/ar/eb_list_page/final_draft_nap-2021.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Environment (MoEnv), Jordan. (2021b). Updated submission of Jordan's 1st nationally determined contribution (NDC). <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/UPDATED%20</u> <u>SUBMISSION%20OF%20JORDANS.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Environment (MoEnv), Jordan. (2020). Agriculture sector green growth national action plan 2021-2025. Amman, The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan. <u>https://gggi.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/20022_Jordan_Agriculture_v07_HL_Web.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Environment (MoEnv), Jordan & United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2022). Gender equality and climate change in Jordan: Exploratory gender analysis. <u>https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/jo/GenderEqualityonline.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (MEMR). (2019). *MEMR annual report 2019*. <u>https://www.memr.gov.jo/ebv4.o/root_storage/ar/eb_list_page/memr_annual_report_2019_-15.5.2020.pdf</u>
- → Ministry of Water and Irrigation (MWI). 2018. Unpublished data from the National Water Information System (NWIS). Government of Jordan, Amman. In Fragaszy, S., Fraj, M. B., McKee, M., Jobbins, G., Al-Karablieh, E., Bergaoui, K., Ghanim, A., Lawrenson, L., McDonnell, R. (2022). *MENAdrought synthesis* of drought vulnerability in Jordan: Final report. Project report prepared by the International Water Management Institute (IWMI) for the Bureau for the Middle East of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). Washington, DC, USA: USAID; Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute (IWMI). 93p. <u>https://doi.org/10.5337/2021.231</u>

- → Mcdonnel, T. (2019, January 24). Climate change creates a new migration crisis for Bangladesh. National Geographic Society. <u>https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/climate-change-drives-migration-crisis-in-bangladesh-from-dhaka-sundabans#:~:text=Overall%2C%20the%20 number%20of%20Bangladeshis,March%202018%20World%20Bank%20report
 </u>
- → Mohamed, E. S. E. (2022). Climate change, agricultural production and food security in Sudan. *Journal of Economics and Research*, 3(1), 1-19. <u>https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/article-file/2288115</u>
- → Mustafa, F. (2020, December 8). *Darfur solar electrification project*. <u>https://cleanenergy4africa.org/</u> <u>darfur-solar-electrification-project/</u>
- → National Center for Security and Crisis Management of Jordan & United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2019). Jordan national disaster risk reduction strategy: 2019-2022. <u>https://www.preventionweb.net/files/68511_nationalnatrualdisasterriskreduciot.pdf</u>
- → Netherlands Enterprise Agency. (2016). Export value chain analysis fruit and vegetables Jordan. <u>http://</u>www.bureauleeters.nl/data/103-wsXTPO1yf418/export-value-chain-fruit-vegetables-jordan-2016.pdf
- → Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC). (2020). Rapid assessment report Impact of floods and torrential rains on Um Dawwn Ban locality Eastern Nile Bank, Khartoum North. Khartoum: NRC.
- → Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2015). States of Fragility 2015: Meeting Post-2015 ambitions. OECD Publishing, Paris. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264227699-en.</u>
- → Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2021). Understanding the multidimensional nature of poverty. <u>https://www.oecd.org/development-cooperation-learning/practices/understanding-the-multidimensional-nature-of-poverty-059d28ba/</u>
- → Olwan, M.Y. (2007). *The legal framework of forced migration and refugee movements in Jordan*. <u>https://documents.aucegypt.edu/Docs/GAPP/MohamedOlwan.pdf</u>
- → Omer, A.M. (2011). Agriculture policy in Sudan. Agricultural Science Research Journal Vol 1(1) pp. 1 29.
- → Osman-Elasha, B. (2008). 'Interactions of climate change and ecological conflicts in Sudan' in J.
 Wakunga and E. Nyukuri (eds), *Climate change and conflict in East and the Horn of Africa*, Nairobi: African Centre for Technology Studies.
- → Osman, E. I. (2020). Pastoral women in town: The case of the migrant fulbe in Sinja, Sudan. Sudan Working Paper, number 3. Chr. Michelsen Institute: Bergen. <u>https://www.cmi.no/publications/file/7372-pastoral-women-in-town-the-case-of-the-migrant-fulbe-in-sinja-sudan.pdf</u>
- Pantuliano, S., Assal, M., Elnaiem, B. A., McElhinney, H., Schwab, M., Elzein, Y., & Motasim, H. (2011). *City limits: Urbanisation and vulnerability in Sudan-Khartoum case study.* <u>http://cdn-odi-production.</u> <u>s3-website-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/media/documents/6518.pdf</u>
- → Prieto, A.V.I. (2018, May 9). JOHUD's 'Water Wise Women' wins best water conservation project. The Jordan Times. <u>https://www.jordantimes.com/news/local/johud%E2%80%99s-water-wise-women%E2%80%99-wins-best-water-conservation-project</u>
- Ramirez, C., Almulla, Y., Joyce, B., Huber-Lee, A., & Nerini, F. F. (2022). An assessment of strategies for sustainability priority challenges in Jordan using a water-energy-food nexus approach. Discov Sustain 3, 23 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s43621-022-00091-w

- → Quinn, C., Fox, A., Baroang, K., Evans, D., Gomes, M., & Habib, J. (2019). South Sudan Climate Vulnerability Profile: Sector-and Location-specific Climate Risks and Resilience Recommendations. USAID. <u>https://www.climatelinks.org/sites/default/files/asset/document/USAID_The%2oCadmus%2oGroup_South%2oSudan%2oClimate%2oVulnerability%2oProfile%2oto%2oImprove%2oResilience.pdf</u>
- ➡ Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre & International Committee of the Red Cross (RCCC & ICRC). (2021a). Climate factsheet: Jordan. <u>https://www.climatecentre.org/publications/5548/climate-factsheet-jordan/</u>
- ➡ Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre & International Committee of the Red Cross (RCCC & ICRC). (2021b). Climate factsheet: Sudan. <u>https://www.climatecentre.org/wp-content/uploads/RCCC-ICRC-Country-profiles-Sudan.pdf</u>
- ➡ Republic of Sudan Ministry of Environment, Natural Resources & Physical Development Higher Council for Environment and Natural Resources. (2016). National Adaptation Plan. <u>https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/NAPC/Documents%20NAP/National%20Reports/Sudan%20NAP.pdf</u>
- → Reumert, S. A. (2022). Sudanese migrants' labor in times of economic crisis and revolution. Middle East Report 303 (Summer 2022). <u>https://merip.org/2022/08/sudanese-migrants-labor-in-times-of-economic-crisis-and-revolution/</u>
- ➡ Robbin, Z. H. (2022, February 1). Women's labor force participation and COVID-19 in Jordan. <u>https://www.mei.edu/publications/womens-labor-force-participation-and-covid-19-jordan</u>
- Rutandaro, S. L., Munalula, C.L., Otuta, R., & Mangundu, M. (2022). Lives at risk: A study of girls dropping out of school in Juba, Rumbek and Pibor Counties, South Sudan. Oxfam. <u>https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/621453/rr-south-sudan-girls-drop-out-291122-en.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- Saeed, A.M. & Badri, A.Y. (2010). Internal displacement and migration in Sudan: a policy analysis. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280234953_Internal_displacement_and_migration_in_</u> <u>Sudan_A_policy_analysis</u>
- → Sadaqa. (2020). Women working in agriculture: working conditions, experiences and challenges in using means of transportation to and from farms in the Jordan Valley. <u>http://www.sadaqajo.org/page/52454</u>
- Shahzadeh, Y. (2021, February 6). Women's employment in Jordan: Barriers for inclusion and participation. <u>https://www.paeradigms.org/post/women-s-employment-in-jordan-barriers-for-inclusion-and-participation</u>
- Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA). (2017). Dimensions of Poverty: Sida's Conceptual Framework. <u>https://publikationer.sida.se/contentassets/</u> <u>f3e3ob6727e8450887950edb891c05af/mdp_conceptual_framework.pdf</u>
- → Siddig, K., Stepanyan, D., Wiebelt, M., Grethe, H., & Zhu, T. (2020). Climate change and agriculture in the Sudan: Impact pathways beyond changes in mean rainfall and temperature. *Ecological Economics*, 169, 106566. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0921800918316458</u>
- → Soliman, I. & Mashour, A. (2012). *National agro-food policies in Jordan*. Munich Personal RePEc Archive. <u>https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/66782/1/MPRA_paper_66782.pdf</u>
- → Statista. (2022). *Sudan: Urbanization from 2011 to 2021*. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/455933/</u> <u>urbanization-in-sudan</u>

- Sweidan, M. G. (2018). Migration in Jordan, a Statistical Portrait from a Gender Perspective. <u>https://millenniumindicators.un.org/unsd/demographic-social/meetings/2018/tokyo-globalforum-genderstat/Paper/Jordan%20Paper%2021%20Nov%202018.pdf</u>
- → Tarawneh, R. A. (2021). The Role of Jordanian Agricultural Policies in Climate Change Responding Affecting Agricultural Production. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 13(6).
- ➡ Thapa, B. (2021, December 2). Addressing GBV must be a key part of social, economic COVID recovery. Jordan News. <u>https://www.jordannews.jo/Section-36/Opinion/Addressing-GBV-must-be-a-key-part-of-social-economic-COVID-recovery-10465</u>
- ➡ The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan. (n.d). The official site of the Jordanian e-government. <u>https://form.jordan.gov.jo/wps/portal/Home/GovernmentEntities/ThePrimeMinistry/</u> <u>Ministers?&nameEntity=The%20Prime%20Ministry&entityType=pm</u>
- ➡ The International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families. (1990). <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/</u> <u>international-convention-protection-rights-all-migrant-workers</u>
- ➡ The New Humanitarian (TNH). (2007, June 28). Sudan: Climate change only one cause among many for Darfur conflict. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/sudan/sudan-climate-change-only-one-cause-among-many-darfur-conflict</u>
- → Thiam, M. (2016). Female genital mutilation/cutting and child marriage in Sudan: Are there any changes taking place? In depth analysis using multiple indicators cluster surveys (MICS) and Sudan health surveys (SHHS). UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/sudan/reports/female-genital-mutilationcutting-and-child-marriage-sudan-are-there-any-changes-taking
- → Tiltnes, Å. A., Zhang, H., & Pedersen, J. (2019). *The living conditions of Syrian refugees in Jordan*. FAFO Report. Amman: Fafo Research Foundation. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/jordan/living-conditions-syrian-refugees-jordan-results-2017-2018-survey-syrian-refugees</u>
- → Townson, R. (2016, September 14). An identity crisis in Jordan. Pulitzer Center. <u>https://pulitzercenter.</u> <u>org/stories/identity-crisis-jordan</u>
- → Trading Economics. (2022). Sudan agriculture, value added (% of GDP). <u>https://tradingeconomics.</u> <u>com/sudan/agriculture-value-added-percent-of-gdp-wb-data.html</u>
- → Trent, S. (2022) *The new refugees*. Environmental Justice Foundation. <u>https://ejfoundation.org/news-media/the-new-refugees</u>
- ➡ United States Agency for International Development (USAID). (2015). National household load survey report 2015. United States Agency for International Development. <u>https://jordankmportal.com/</u> resources/national-household-load-survey-report
- → United States Agency for International Development (USAID). (2016a). Climate change risk profile: Sudan. <u>https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/paoomtz6.pdf</u>
- ➡ United States Agency for International Development (USAID). (2016b). Navigating complexity: Climate, migration, and conflict in a changing world. <u>https://www.wilsoncenter.org/publication/navigatingcomplexity-climate-migration-and-conflict-changing-world</u>
- ➡ United States Agency for International Development (USAID). (2017). Climate change risk profile: Jordan. <u>https://www.climatelinks.org/sites/default/files/asset/document/2017_USAID_Climate%20</u> <u>Change%20Risk%20Profile_Jordan.pdf</u>

- ➡ United Nations Economic and Social Commission for West Asia (ESCWA). (2018). Multidimensional poverty in Jordan. E/ESCWA/EDID/2018/WP.5. <u>https://www.unescwa.org/publications/multidimensional-poverty-profile-jordan</u>
- ➡ United Nations Economic and Social Commission for West Asia (ESCWA). (2023). Mainstreaming gender in climate action in the Arab region. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/jordan/mainstreaming-gender-climate-action-arab-region-enar</u>
- ➡ United Nations. (2013, May 2). Somalia famine killed nearly 260,000 people, half of them children reports UN. <u>https://news.un.org/en/story/2013/05/438682</u>
- → United Nations. (2015) The Paris Agreement. <u>https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement</u>. Articles 6 (8) 7(e); pp 8 and 11
- ➡ United Nations. (n.d). Gender equality: The unfinished business of our time. <u>https://www.un.org/en/global-issues/gender-equality</u>
- → United Nations General Assembly (UNGA). (2015). A/Res/70/1 *Transforming Our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development,* 21 October 2015. Seventieth United Nations General Assembly, New York, 25, 86-97.
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). (2007). Sudan post-conflict environmental assessment.
 <u>https://www.unep.org/resources/assessment/sudan-post-conflict-environmental-assessment-o</u>
- United Nations Climate Change (UNFCC). (n.d). Darfur low smoke stoves project Sudan. <u>https://unfccc.int/climate-action/momentum-for-change/financing-for-climate-friendly/darfur-low-smoke-stoves-project-sudan</u>
- → United Nations Development Programme. (UNDP). (2013). The informal sector in the Jordanian economy. https://www.undp.org/jordan/publications/informal-sector-jordanian-economy
- ➡ United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO), United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN Habitat), World Health Organization (WHO), Darfur Regional Authority (DRA), Ministry of Water Resources and Electricity (MWRE), & National Energy Research Centre (NERC). (2016). Joint programme/project document of the UN Fund for Recovery Reconstruction and Development in Darfur: Darfur solar electrification project. UNDP, UNIDO, UNHABITAT, WHO, DRA, MWRE, NERC. https://open.unido.org/api/ UNIDO%20v2.pdf
- ➡ United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2018). Climate change adaptation in the Arab States: Best practices and lessons learned. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/climate-change-adaptation-arab-states-best-practices-and-lessons-learned</u>
- → United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2022). Human development report 2021/22. Uncertain times, unsettled lives:Shaping our future in a transforming world. <u>https://hdr.undp.org/</u> system/files/documents/global-report-document/hdr2021-22pdf_1.pdf
- → United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (n.d). *Gender inequality index (GII)*. <u>https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/thematic-composite-indices/gender-inequality-index#/indicies/GII</u>
- ➡ United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat). (n.da.) Jordan : Urban issues. <u>https://unhabitat.org/jordan-urban-issues</u>

- → United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat). (n.db). Sudan : Urban issues. <u>https://unhabitat.org/sudan-urban-issues</u>
- → United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat). (2022). Urban planning and infrastructure in migration contexts: Amman spatial profile. <u>https://jordan.un.org/en/177705-amman-spatial-profile-jordan</u>
- ➡ United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). (2022, December 7). Thousands displaced by escalating conflict in South Sudan's Greater Upper Nile Region. <u>https://www.unhcr.org/news/</u> press/2022/12/63905eca4/thousands-displaced-escalating-conflict-south-sudans-greater-uppernile.html
- ➡ United Nations Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF).. (n.d.). Water, sanitation and hygiene: Access to safe water and sanitation for every child. <u>https://www.unicef.org/jordan/water-sanitation-and-hygiene</u>
- ➡ United Nations Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF). (2020). Geographic multidimensional vulnerability analysis – Jordan. Assessing the performance and supply capacity of different sectors. <u>https://www.unicef.org/jordan/Geographic-Multidimensional-Vulnerability-Analysis</u>
- ➡ United Nations Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF). (2022, June 28). Child marriage on the rise in Horn of Africa as drought crisis intensifies. <u>https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/child-marriage-rise-horn-africa-drought-crisis-intensifies</u>
- → United Nations Collaborative Programme on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries (UN-REDD). (2014). *Readiness preparation proposal (R-PP) for country: Sudan*. Khartoum.
- → United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2020). *International Migrant Stock 2020*.
- → United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR). (2002). Disaster reduction for sustainable mountain development: United nations world disaster reduction campaign. UNISDR, Geneva. <u>https://</u> www.unisdr.org/2002/campaign/pdf/Mountain_Booklet_2002_eng.pdf (unisdr.org)
- → United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR). (2019). *Khartoum disaster risk reduction action plan (2019-2023)*. <u>https://sudannextgen.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Khartoum-Action-Plan-for-DRR-27-April-2019.pdf</u>
- → United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UN-OCHA). (2009). *Syrian drought responseplan*. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/syrian-arab-republic/syria-drought-response-plan</u>
- ➡ United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UN-OCHA). (2020). Sudan humanitarian response plan 2020 (January 2020). <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/sudan/sudan-humanitarian-response-plan-2020-january-2020</u>
- → United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA).(2016). *Eighth country programme booklet (2013-2017)*. https://jordan.unfpa.org/en/publications/eighth-country-programme-booklet-2013-2017?page=7
- ➡ United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). (2022). Climate change and gender-based violence in Jordan. <u>https://jordan.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/unfpa_research_brief_on_gbv_and_cc_final_march_8_o.pdf</u>
- ➡ UN News. (2020, October 2). Sudan alert: Flooding and surging inflation threaten humanitarian assistance. <u>https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/10/1074512</u>

- → United Nations Water (UN-Water). (n.d). *Water, food, and energy*. <u>https://www.unwater.org/water-facts/water-food-and-energy</u>
- → UN Women. (n.d). Women count data hub: Sudan. <u>https://data.unwomen.org/country/sudan</u>
- ➡ UN Women & REACH. (2018). Women's participation in the agricultural sector, rural institutions and community life. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/jordan/womens-participation-agricultural-sector-rural-institutions-and-community-life</u>
- → UN Women. (2018). *Rural women and climate change in Jordan*. <u>https://jordan.unwomen.org/en/</u><u>digital-library/publications/2018/rural-women-and-climate-change-in-jordan</u>
- ➡ UN Women. (2021). The reality of agriculture in Jordan from a gender perspective. <u>https://jordan.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2021/wc-the-reality-of-agriculture-in-jordan-from-a-gender-perspective</u>
- → Urbanet. (2021, May 6). *Infographics: Urbanisation and urban development in Jordan*. <u>https://www.urbanet.info/infographics-urbanisation-urban-development-jordan/</u>
- → Verner, D., Lee, D., Ashwill, M., & Wilby, R. (2013). Increasing resilience to climate change in the agricultural sector of the Middle East: The cases of Jordan and Lebanon. World Bank Publications. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/13123</u>
- ➡ Wahba, J. (2014). Immigration, emigration, and the labor market in Jordan. Economic Research Forum (ERF). Working Paper Series, N° 671. <u>https://erf.org.eg/publications/immigration-emigration-labor-market-jordan/</u>
- ➡ WANA Institute. (2021). Women working in the agricultural sector within the Northern Jordan Valley District: Realities and challenges. WANA Institute - West Asia, North Africa Forum. <u>https://</u> wanainstitute.org/en/publication/women-agriculture-sector-northern-jordan-valley-district-irbidgovernorate-reality-and
- → Whitman E. (2019). A land without water: the scramble to stop Jordan from running dry. *Nature*, 573(7772), 20-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-02600-w</u>
- ➡ Wilson, M. & Caswell, J. (2018). Recognizing urban refugees in Jordan: Opportunities for mobileenabled identity solutions. GSMA. <u>https://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wp-content/</u> uploads/2018/12/Recognising_urban_refugees_in_Jordan.pdf
- → Wodon, Q., Liverani, A., Joseph, G., & Bougnoux, N. (Eds.). (2014). Climate change and migration: Evidence from the Middle East and North Africa. World Bank Publications. <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/</u> <u>curated/en/748271468278938347/pdf/Climate-change-and-migration-evidence-from-the-Middle-East-and-North-Africa.pdf</u>
- → World Bank. (n.d). *Gender data portal*. <u>https://genderdata.worldbank.org/indicators/sg-gen-parl-zs/</u>
- → World Bank. (2016a). Country Partnership Framework for Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan for the Period FY17-FY22. Report No. 102746-JO. <u>https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/24679</u>
- → World Bank. (2016b, May 16). The World Bank Group and Sudan's Ministry of Agriculture launch the 2016 enabling the business of agriculture report. Press Release. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/</u> press-release/2016/05/16/the-world-bank-group-and-sudans-ministry-of-agriculture-launch-the-2016-enabling-the-business-of-agriculture-report

- → World Bank. (2017, July 16a). Jordan country reclassification Questions and answers. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/jordan/brief/qa-jordan-country-reclassification</u>
- → World Bank. (2017b). Jordan Improving women economic opportunities: Select entry points for policy dialogue and operational interventions. Report No: AUS0000935. <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/429441581525262376/pdf/Jordan-Improving-Women-Economic-Opportunities-Select-Entry-Points-for-Policy-Dialogue-and-Operational-Interventions.pdf</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2018a). Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan: Understanding how gender norms in MNA impact female employment outcomes. <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/859411541448063088/</u> pdf/ACS25170-PUBLIC-FULL-REPORT-Jordan-Social-Norms-June-1-2018-with-titlepg.pdf
- ➡ World Bank. (2018b). How does poverty differ among refugees? Taking a gender lens to the data on Syrian refugees in Jordan. Research Working Paper 8616. <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/</u> en/374541539781178899/pdf/WPS8616.pdf.
- → World Bank. (2018c). Multidimensional poverty measure (4th edition, circa 2018). World Bank, Washington, DC. 2022. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/brief/multidimensional-poverty-measure</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2018d). The role of food and agriculture for job creation and poverty reduction in Jordan and Lebanon. Agricultural Sector Note (P166455). <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/</u> <u>ar/325551536597194695/pdf/Agricultural-Sector-Note-Jordan-and-Lebanon.pdf</u>
- → World Bank. (2020). Sudan agriculture value chain analysis. © World Bank, Washington, DC. <u>http://localhost:14773//entities/publication/b7d8ec7b-44b1-53c3-b331-1280a36df30a</u> License: CC BY 3.0 IGO
- ➡ World Bank. (2021a). Country profile: Jordan. Climate Change Knowledge Portal. For Development Practitioners and Policy-Makers. <u>https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/Jordan;</u> <u>https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/jordan/climate-data-historical</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2021b). Country profile: Sudan. Climate Change Knowledge Portal for Development Practitioners and Policy-Makers. <u>https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/sudan/vulnerability</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2021c). Employment in agriculture, female (% of female employment) (modeled ILO estimate) International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of January 2021. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.AGR.EMPL.FE.Z</u>S
- ➡ World Bank. (2021d). Employment in agriculture, male (% of male employment) (modeled ILO estimate) International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of January 2021. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.AGR.EMPL.MA.ZS</u>
- → World Bank. (2021e). *Population, total*. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL</u>
- → World Bank. (2021f). Population, female (% of total population). World Bank staff estimates based on age/sex distributions of United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects: 2019 Revision. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL.FE.ZS</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2021g). Population growth (annual %). <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.</u> <u>GROW</u>
- → World Bank. (2021h). Population, male (% of total population). World Bank staff estimates based on age/sex distributions of United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects: 2019 Revision. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL.MA.ZS</u>

- ➡ World Bank. (2021i). Urban population growth. (annual %). World Bank staff estimates based on the United Nations Population Division's World Urbanization Prospects: 2018 Revision. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.GROW</u>
- → World Bank. (2022a). *Gini index*. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.GINI</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2022b). Jordan: Climate-smart agriculture action plan Investment opportunities in the agriculture sector's transition to a climate resilient growth path. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/</u> jordan/jordan-climate-smart-agriculture-action-plan-investment-opportunities-agriculture-sectorstransition-climate-resilient-growth-path
- ➡ World Bank. (2022c). Employment to population ratio, 15+, female (%) (modeled ILO estimate). International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of June 2022. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.EMP.TOTL.SP.FE.ZS</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2022d). Employment to population ratio, 15+, male (%) (modeled ILO estimate). International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of June 2022. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/</u><u>SL.EMP.TOTL.SP.MA.ZS</u>
- → World Bank. (2022e). Labor force participation rate, female (% of female population ages 15+) (modeled ILO estimate). International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of June 2022. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.CACT.FE.ZS</u>
- → World Bank. (2022f). Labor force participation rate, male (% of female population ages 15+) (modeled ILO estimate). International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of June 2022. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.CACT.MA.ZS</u>
- → World Bank. (2022g). Population living in slums (% of urban population Jordan). <u>https://data.</u> worldbank.org/indicator/EN.POP.SLUM.UR.ZS?locations=JO
- → World Bank. (2022h). Proportion of seats held by women in national Parliaments (%) Jordan. <u>https://</u><u>data.worldbank.org/indicator/SG.GEN.PARL.ZS?locations=JO</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2022i). Unemployment, female (% of female labor force) (modeled ILO estimate). International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of June 2022. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL.FE.ZS</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2022j). Unemployment, male (% offemale laborforce) (modeled ILO estimate). International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database. Data as of June 2022. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/</u><u>SL.UEM.TOTL.MA.ZS</u>
- ➡ World Bank. (2022k). Women participating in the three decisions (own health care, major household purchases and visiting family (% of women age 15-49). <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SG.DMK.</u> <u>ALLD.FN.ZS?locations</u>
- → World Economic Forum. (2021). Global gender gap report. <u>https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF</u> GGGR_2021.pdf
- ➡ World Food Programme (WFP). (2020a). Comprehensive food security and vulnerability assessment guidelines: summary report Q1 2020. Khartoum: WFP. <u>https://fscluster.org/sites/default/files/</u> <u>documents/cfsva_summary_report_q1_2020_3.pdf</u>
- → World Food Programme (WFP). (2020b). Food Security Monitoring System (FSMS) Report Q1 2020. Khartoum: WFP. <u>https://fscluster.org/sites/default/files/documents/fsms_report_q1_2020.pdf</u>

- → World Population Review. (2022a). *Human Development Index (HDI) by country 2022*. <u>https://</u>worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/hdi-by-country
- → World Population Review. (2022b). *Jordan population (live)*. <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/</u> <u>countries/jordan-population</u>
- → World Population Review. (2022c). Sudan population (live). <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/</u> <u>countries/sudan-population</u>
- → World Population Review (2023). *Greenhouse gas emissions by Country 2023*. <u>https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/greenhouse-gas-emissions-by-country</u>
- → Yamin, M. Z. (2022, March 28). Solid waste management in Jordan. EcoMENA. <u>https://www.ecomena.</u> <u>org/swm-jordan/</u>
- Yassin, L. (2022, July 9). Climate change and political instability: Will Sudan ever find a way out? <u>https://timep.org/commentary/analysis/climate-change-and-political-instability-will-sudan-ever-find-a-way-out/#:~:text=Ever%20since%20then%2C%20Sudan%20has,million%20people%20across%2-010%20states
 </u>

ANNEX: LIST OF KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEWS

JORDAN INTERVIEWS

#	Name	Date	Туре	Organization	Title
1	Dina Safarini	29 March 2021	Civil society	Tamkeen Legal Aid	Advocacy Manager
2	Mohammad Talafha	17 June 2021	Civil society	BORDA	Water engineer
3	(Anonymous)	26 April 2021	Civil society	Consultant for government projects in ME and Africa	Consultant
4	Lara Nassar	1 June 2021	Civil society	Nuffic Global Development	Project Manager
5	(Anonymous)	28 May 2021	Civil society	Organization based in Jordan	Sustainable Development Researcher
6	Shada ElSharif	13 April 2021	Civil society	SustainMENA	Founder
7	Riyadh Alsawalha	18 April 2021	Farming community member		
8	Mustafa Abdallah	19 April 2021	Farming community member		
9	Ahmad Gharaghir	23 April 2021	Farming community member		
10	Amina Ahmad	26 April 2021	Farming community member		
11	Samira AlDayyat	1 May 2021	Farming community member		
12	Fatima Hayajneh	28 April 2021	Farming community member		
13	Radwan Alshaty	17 April 2021	Farming community member		

14	Dr. Maram Jameel Al- Abbady	26 May, 2021	Government	Department of Environment and Climate Change, National Agricultural Research Center (NARC), Jordan	Head of Drought Unit
15	Dr. Razan Al- Roud	26 May, 2021	Government	Ministry of Water and Irrigation, Jordan	Head of GIS Department
16	Dr. Abeer Al- Banawah	3 June, 2021	Government	National Agricultural Research Center (NARC), Jordan	Expert Researcher, Projects Director & Consultant for the Director General for Environment and Water Issues.
17	Eng. Wafa Shehadeh	10 June, 2021	Government	Ministry of Water and Irrigation, Jordan	Director of Environment and Climate Change
18	Eng. Emad Ali Al-Qudah	10 June, 2021	Government	Land and Irrigation Department, Ministry of Agriculture (Jordan)	Head of Land Use Management Division
19	Dr. Salma Nims	22 June, 2021	Government	Jordanian National Commission for Women (JNCW)	Former Secretary General

SUDAN INTERVIEWS

#	Name	Date	Туре	Organization	Title
1	Sawsan Abdallah Ali	27 April 2021	Civil society/ semi gov	National Forestry Commission/ MoA	Officer
2	Fatema Ahmed	22 April 2021	Civil society	Zenab for Women's Development	Director
3	Nisreen Ahmad	28 March 2021	Civil society	Climate negotiation, African Group for Negotiators	Climate Negotiator
4	Mohammad Ibrahim	1 June 2021	Civil society	Sudan Youth Organization for Climate Change	Co-founder

5	Dr. Saddig Ahmed	2 June 2021 12 Dec 2022	Civil Society	UNESCO	Former Director General, Chair for Water Resources
6	Amira Ahmed Musa Ali	9 April 2021	Community Activist		
7	Taher Basheer	11 April 2021	Farming community member		
8	Halima Mohamed Abdelrahman	14 June 2021	Farming community member		
9	Nadia Saeed	12 June 2021	Farming community member		
10	Shaimaa Hassanein	24 August, 2021	Civil Society		Former GBV Case Management Advisor
11	Shaza Ahmed	26 January, 2023	Civil Society	Nada Al-Azhar Organization	Executive Director



Gender and Climate-related Migration in Jordan and Sudan:

Building Women's Economic and Social Resilience to Climate Risk and Migration for Survival within Sustainable Development

The Arab Water Council (AWC) and the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women)